

# SPORTS CLUB POLICIES IN EUROPE

Bjarne Ibsen, Geoff Nichols and Karsten Elmose-Østerlund



# Sports club policies in Europe

A comparison of the public policy context and historical origins of sports clubs across ten European countries

Bjarne Ibsen, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark
Geoff Nichols, University of Sheffield, England
Karsten Elmose-Østerlund, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

Christoph Breuer, German Sport University, Germany
Elien Claes, KU Leuven, Belgium
Jannik Disch, German Sport University, Germany
Svenja Feiler, German Sport University, Germany
Ramon Llopis-Goig, University of Valencia, Spain
Jo Lucassen, Mulier Institute, the Netherlands
Siegfried Nagel, University of Bern, Switzerland
Szilvia Perényi, University of Debrecen, Hungary
Monika Piatkowska, Josef Pilsudski University of Physical Education in Warsaw, Poland
Jeroen Scheerder, KU Leuven, Belgium
Ørnulf Seippel, Norwegian School of Sports Sciences, Norway
Hanne Vandermeerschen, KU Leuven, Belgium
Harold van der Werff, Mulier Institute, the Netherlands
Jenny Adler Zwahlen, University of Bern, Switzerland

Sports club policies in Europe. A comparison of the public policy context and historical origins of sports clubs across ten European countries

Bjarne Ibsen, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark Geoff Nichols, University of Sheffield, England Karsten Elmose-Østerlund, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

#### Contributors:

Christoph Breuer, German Sport University, Germany. Elien Claes, KU Leuven, Belgium. Jannik Disch, German Sport University, Germany. Svenja Feiler, German Sport University, Germany. Ramon Llopis-Goig, University of Valencia, Spain. Jo Lucassen, Mulier Institute, the Netherlands. Siegfried Nagel, University of Bern, Switzerland. Szilvia Perényi, University of Debrecen, Hungary. Monika Piatkowska, Josef Pilsudski University of Physical Education in Warsaw, Poland. Jeroen Scheerder, KU Leuven, Belgium. Ørnulf Seippel, Norwegian School of Sports Sciences, Norway. Hanne Vandermeerschen, KU Leuven, Belgium. Harold van der Werff, Mulier Institute, the Netherlands. Jenny Adler Zwahlen, University of Bern, Switzerland.

University of Southern Denmark, 2016
Department of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics,
Centre for Sports, Health and Civil Society.



ISBN 978-87-93496-02-6

Cover foto: Nils Rosenvold/DGI Fotoarkiv

Print: Digitaltryk, Odense



This project has been funded with support from the European Commission. This publication only reflects the views of the author, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

## **Table of contents**

Summary		
A short introduction to the SIVSCE-project	7	
Purpose	7	
Work packages and project output	7	
Partners	8	
Central concepts	8	
Theoretical framework	9	
More information	9	
1. Introduction	11	
2. State typologies	13	
3. The social and cultural origins of sports clubs	16	
England: A liberal welfare state	16	
Denmark and Norway: Universalist welfare states	17	
Germany: A corporative welfare state	17	
Hungary: A post-communist welfare state	19	
Spain: A Mediterranean welfare state	20	
4. Governance of sport		
Federal and unitary states		
Centralization versus decentralization		
Governance form	23	
5. Sports club policies		
Overall sports policies		
The national governmental level		
Local government level		
Relations with and support from national and regional governing bodies for sport	31	
6. Policies regarding social inclusion and volunteering		
Social inclusion		
Volunteering	37	
7. Conclusions and explanations		
Conclusions		
What can explain the similarities and differences in sports club policies?	43	
8. Inspiration for further research	48	

9. Country summaries	50
Belgium (Flanders) / by Jeroen Scheerder, Elien Claes & Hanne Vandermeerschen	50
Denmark / by Bjarne Ibsen & Karsten Elmose-Østerlund	55
England / by Geoff Nichols	59
Germany / Christoph Breuer, Svenja Feiler & Jannik Disch	61
Hungary / by Szilvia Perényi	65
The Netherlands / by Harold van der Werff & Jo Lucassen	71
Norway / by Ørnulf Seippel	75
Poland / by Monika Piątkowska	77
Spain / by Ramon Llopis-Goig	81
Switzerland / by Siegfried Nagel & Jenny Adler Zwahlen	86
References	90
Sources and references used in country summaries	

# **Summary**

The project, 'Social Inclusion and Volunteering in Sports Clubs in Europe' (SIVSCE), is a collaborative partnership co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union. The project has been, and will be, implemented in 2015, 2016 and 2017.

This project seeks to provide comparable knowledge across ten European countries, convert it into concrete suggestions for action, and disseminate this knowledge to politicians and sports professionals across Europe. The main aim is to promote social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs in Europe. The project includes eleven partners from ten countries dispersed across Europe.

The project is implemented in seven work packages. This report is the results of the first work package with a collection and analyses of sports club policies in the participating countries with a particular focus on social inclusion and volunteering. The aim of the report is to elucidate potential associations between the conditions that the governmental and political framework establishes on the one hand and social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs on the other hand.

This part of the overall project was conducted in three steps. At the first partner meeting of the project group, where the researchers from all ten countries were gathered, a framework for the analysis was discussed and developed as the basis of each partner's subsequent description of the country's sports club policies. Based on this framework, researchers from all ten countries contributed with existing research and available knowledge on sports club policies etc. from their respective countries. Finally, the information from each country was edited into a form that made the descriptions as similar as possible, and then the information was analysed with the aim, firstly, to highlight the similarities and differences between the countries regarding sports club policies, and secondly, to analyse the possible explanations for this.

The theoretical inspiration for the comparative analyses is Esping-Andersen's famous welfare state typology and subsequent developments thereof. Although welfare state typologies are developed in relation to social and welfare policy, we assume that the special characteristics of the various typologies have an impact on sport policies and the relationships between the public sector and sports clubs.

The analyses show both significant similarities and significant differences, which is summarized in eight conclusions.

- 1. Across most of the ten countries 'sports for all' or 'recreational sports' is the main priority in sports policy, but there are great differences in how strong the practical support for recreational sport is.
- 2. Sports opportunities provided by volunteers almost has a monopoly position within the 'sports for all' policies (especially in terms of public support) in both the universalist welfare states (Norway and Denmark) and the conservative/corporatist welfare states (Germany, Switzerland, the Netherlands and Belgium/Flanders).

- 3. In all countries, sports clubs receive support from the public sector indirectly and directly, but there are significant differences as to how much and how it is provided.
- 4. In all the countries, sports clubs have the opportunity to get financial support from the public sector, but there are big differences as to how clubs can obtain such financial support. The most common type of economic support is 'targeted subsidy'.
- 5. In all ten countries, the local level of political administration policies (local authorities, local government, municipalities and the like) is the most important administrative level for sports clubs.
- In all the countries, local sports clubs are typically members of a national sports federation/organisation and/or a regional organisation, which is a member of the national confederation of sports.
- 7. In most of the ten countries, it is a political priority to increase participation in sports for inactive groups and to promote social inclusion and integration of socially disadvantaged groups. But, usually, this is expressed in very broad terms as a general goal to increase participation of under-represented groups.
- 8. It seems to be a general trend, a discourse, in Europe that governments aim to strengthen volunteering and civil society in general, along with cooperation between the public and the voluntary sector. However, practical support for this varies.

Three theoretical approaches are suggested as potential explanations for the similarities and differences regarding sports club policies between the countries. The first theoretical approach, known as 'social origins theory' or 'path dependence theory', argues that the differences must be explained historically. Thus, the basic assumption of this theoretical approach is that the past influences the present. For example, the present structure of sports clubs and representative organisations in any one country is a historical legacy.

The second theoretical approach seeks to explain the organisational system and policies from the current societal context with a particular focus on the limitations and possibilities that the political system and the public sector in general provide. These societal structures and cultures largely define the 'space', or the 'political opportunity structure', both practical and ideological, within which different organisational forms must act. The analysis indicates that a significant correlation exists between the welfare state typology and sports club policies.

The third theoretical approach builds on insights regarding the relationship between economic inequality and a set of other variables to propose a holistic understanding of societies and differences between them. Analysis has shown that countries with high levels of income equality tend to have higher levels of sports participation, volunteering and generalised trust. However, we conclude that rather than levels of income equality being the sole, or main, determining variable explaining differences, we have to understand the characteristics of society as interacting, and this interaction provides a holistic description of different societies.

# A short introduction to the SIVSCE-project

The 'Social Inclusion and Volunteering in Sports Clubs in Europe' (SIVSCE) project is a collaborative partnership co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union. The project has been, and will be, implemented in 2015, 2016 and 2017. This chapter provides a brief overview of the project.

#### **Purpose**

There is only a limited amount of knowledge on the political conditions for, and structural characteristics of, sports clubs that promote social inclusion and volunteering in sport. Most of the existing knowledge is, furthermore, context-specifically tied to individual member states within the European Union. This project seeks to provide comparative knowledge across ten European countries, convert it into specific suggestions for action, and disseminate this knowledge to politicians and sports professionals across Europe. The main aim is to promote social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs in Europe.

#### Work packages and project output

The project is implemented in seven work packages (WPs):

- WP1: A collection of sports club policies in the participating countries.
- WP2: An online sports club survey conducted in each of the participating countries.
- WP3: An online member and volunteer survey conducted in at least 30 sports clubs in each country.
- WP4: Overall analysis of the results from the three studies conducted in WP1, WP2 and WP3.
- WP5: A collection of examples of best practice in relation to social inclusion and volunteering.
- WP6: Creation of a handbook with suggestions for sports policies, club management and the like, capable of promoting social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs.
- WP7: A broad dissemination of findings and suggestions (e.g. European and national conferences).

The project generates the following output:

- 5 reports (one for each WP 1 to 5)
- A handbook (WP6)
- A European conference and ten national conferences (WP7)

#### **Partners**

The project includes eleven partners from ten countries dispersed across Europe, as illustrated in the map below. The broad representation of countries from different parts of Europe ensures that project findings will be of broad relevance to nations across Europe.

Figure 1. Map of partners of the SIVSCE-project



Jointly, the group of partners in the project represents vast knowledge about and experience with studies within the research field of sports participation, sports policies, sports organisations and sports clubs. Basic information about the project partners and their roles is elaborated in a table.

#### Central concepts

Particularly central to the project are the following three concepts: Sports clubs, social integration and volunteering. These are described below.

#### Sports clubs

Sports clubs are generally considered to be participated in voluntarily, and led by volunteers, as opposed to paid employees. They are therefore part of the voluntary sector of leisure provision; in contrast to the private and public sectors. Even though they share this common characteristic, the population of sports clubs in Europe is highly diverse on a number of structural characteristics and it is therefore extremely difficult to present a clear and unambiguous definition. Instead, researchers have suggested seven characteristics of an 'ideal type' sports club: 1) voluntary membership, 2) orientation towards the interests of members, 3) democratic

decision-making structure, 4) voluntary work, 5) autonomy, 6) a non-profit orientation and 7) solidarity (Heinemann & Horch, 1981; Ibsen, 1992).

#### Social integration

In the project we have used the concept 'social integration' as a more broad term than social inclusion. We distinguish between three – interrelated – dimensions of social integration that draw attention to different aspects of the concept that are relevant to sports clubs (Elling, De Knop and Knoppers, 2001; Esser, 2009).

- 1. Structural integration: The representation of various social groups in the membership, relative to the population.
- 2. Socio-cultural integration: The ability of individuals to know and master dominant values and norms (assimilation) and the acceptance of multiculturalism (pluralism).
- 3. Socio-affective integration: Participation in social life and the formation of social networks (interaction) and the degree of identification and emotional devotion (identification).

#### Volunteering

In this project, we define volunteering or voluntary work by five central characteristics: 1) Voluntary activities, 2) unpaid or paid for with a symbolic amount, 3) carried out for people other than one's own family, 4) for the benefit of other people 5) and having a formal character (organised or agreed) (Ibsen 1992).

#### Theoretical framework

This project is not guided by a single theoretical approach to the study of sports clubs. However, it does subscribe to the understanding that sports clubs are relevant objects of study themselves. In order to understand how sports clubs function and why, it is necessary to study the central characteristics of clubs. At the same time, sports clubs cannot be understood as detached from their environment, since the environment sets the framework in which sports clubs function and develop. Finally, sports clubs have come to exist due to members combining their resources to realize shared interests, which means that sports clubs primarily exist to serve the interests of their members.

In light of the above, this project departs from a multilevel model for the analysis of sports clubs (Nagel, 2007). The multilevel model takes into account the environment of sports clubs (macro level), sports club characteristics (meso level) and the characteristics of members and volunteers (micro level).

#### More information

Project progress, publications, articles and information about conferences can be found at the project website: http://www.sdu.dk/SIVSCE. For more detailed information about the project,

please consult the introductory report (Elmose-Østerlund & Ibsen, 2016), which is also available on the project website.

### 1. Introduction

The sports club policy analysis published in this report represents the first output from the SIVSCE project. The report builds on a collection of sports club policies in all of the participating countries, with the aim of elucidating potential associations between the conditions that the governmental and political framework establishes on the one hand and social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs on the other hand. The report also includes an analysis of the historical roots of, and developments in, sports clubs in each country. By analysing data and information collected in the same manner across all the participating countries, knowledge is gained about the societal, cultural and organisational conditions conducive to social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs. This part of the overall project was conducted in three steps.

At the first partner meeting of the project group, where the researchers from all ten countries were gathered, a framework for the analysis was discussed and developed as the basis of each partner's subsequent description of the country's sports club policies. The framework was divided into

- a) national, regional and local government policies and the influence on sports clubs,
- b) the relationship between sports clubs and the national and regional sports organisations and
- c) the history and development of sports policy and sports clubs.

Based on this framework, researchers from all ten countries 'filled in' the existing research and available knowledge on sports club policies etc. for the specific country. This collection of information typically consisted of 10 to 20 pages for each country.

Finally, the information from each country was edited into a form that made the descriptions quite similar (see 'country summaries', chapter 9) and then the information was analysed with the aim, firstly, to highlight the similarities and differences between the countries regarding sports club policies, and secondly, to analyse the possible explanations for this.

The framework for the collection of information regarding sports clubs policies and the analysis of the possible explanations of the similarities and differences between the ten countries is mainly inspired by three theoretical approaches to the understanding of the size, character and function of the voluntary, non-profit sector. The first approach is known as 'the social origins approach' or as 'path dependence theory'. It argues that the specific characteristics of the organisational system and the policies can be explained by its historical origin.

The second theoretical approach – 'the political opportunity structure approach' – seeks to explain the organisational system from the current societal context in which organisations exist, with a particular focus on the limitations and possibilities that the political system and the public sector provide. The third theoretical approach that has inspired the analysis is named 'the economic inequality approach', which assumes that economic inequality in a society has a fundamental impact on the way society functions. In the last part of the report, we will return to these theoretical approaches in a discussion about what may explain the differences and similarities we find in sports clubs policies among the ten countries included in this study.

The report is structured as follows: In chapter 2, a state typology for the division of the ten

countries is described and discussed. In chapter 3, the historical background and development of sports clubs and sports clubs policies in the different countries is briefly described. Chapter 4 compares the political governance of sports clubs in the countries studied. Chapter 5 provides an analysis of the specific sports club policies, followed in chapter 6 by descriptions of how the countries are working to strengthen volunteering and social inclusion in sports clubs. In chapter 7, the analysis is summarized and possible explanations – inspired by the theory – for the similarities and differences between sports club policies are discussed. Chapter 8 provides suggestions for further research. The final chapter – chapter 9 – presents descriptions of the significant relations – for each of the ten countries - between sports clubs on the one side and national, regional and local governments as well as national and regional sports organisations / federations on the other.

# 2. State typologies

Many comparative studies of the policies of different countries in certain areas of society has divided the countries into different types of state, on the assumption that it is likely that there is a series of interconnected relationships – historical, socio-structural, economic and cultural –that together have 'shaped' the existing system. It makes no sense to search for a few decisive variables to arrive at an understanding of the 'sports club system' in the various countries.

Esping-Andersen's famous welfare state typology (1990) has been an inspiration to several comparative analyses of the voluntary sector in different countries. The typology is based on a comparative historical analysis of social policy development in OECC countries during the 1980s. The point of departure for his analyses was, that:

"... the institutional arrangements, rules and understandings that guide and shape concurrent social policy decisions, expenditure developments, problem definitions, and even the respond- and demand structure of citizens and welfare consumers. The existence of policy regimes reflects the circumstance that short term policies, reforms, debates, and decision-making take place within frameworks of historical institutionalisation that differ qualitatively between countries' (Esping-Andersen, 1990, p. 21-22)

According to Esping-Andersen, a stratification of welfare states can be based on two main dimensions: The intensity of redistribution and the level of universality of solidarity ('... when a service is rendered as a matter of right, and when a person can maintain a livelihood without reliance on the market', p. 21-22) that is imposed by the welfare state. Based upon these two dimensions, Esping-Andersen distinguished between three main types of welfare state:

- The Liberal (Anglophone) welfare state (USA as the most typical a low level of redistribution and welfare rights).
- The Conservative / Corporatist welfare state (Germany as the most typical).
- The Universalist welfare state (Sweden as the most typical a high level of redistribution and welfare rights).

Other scholars have claimed that a distinct Latin-Rim or Mediterranean model exists. According to Leibfried (1992), the distinct features of the Latin-Rim countries (Spain, Portugal, Italy, Greece and France) are the lack of an articulated social minimum of living standards and a right to welfare.

Others have argued that none of the three models fit the former communist countries of Eastern Europe. From a path-dependency perspective, we might expect the communist legacies to be strong enough to impose a distinct path of development on at least some of the post-communist countries (Pierson 2004). In contrast, from a policy diffusion perspective, we would expect the transfer of ideas, knowledge and other resources to guide these countries' developments in the direction of one of the well-known welfare regimes in Europe (Fenger 2007). Based on the above, it seems reasonable to assume that the sports policies in the former communist countries are a result of both the continuation of many structures

and policies from the communist regimes and the influence of the dominant structures and policies from other EU countries, which might result in a convergence between the Eastern European countries and other European welfare states.

However, Fenger (2007) finds that there are good reasons to consider the post-communist countries as being differentiated. By using a hierarchical cluster analysis of data relating to a) government income and expenditure, b) social situation (inequality, life expectancy, unemployment etc.) and c) level of trust, he finds that the Eastern European welfare states can be clearly distinguished from the traditional European welfare state typologies. But the analysis also shows that the Eastern European countries consist of several subgroups of welfare states: 'Former-USSR type', 'Post-communist European type' (including Hungary and Poland) and 'Developing welfare states type'.

The table below shows the welfare state typology that (best) characterizes the countries included in this project.

Table 1. Welfare state typology

Type of welfare state	Countries
Liberal	England
The Conservative / Corporatist	Germany, Flanders, Netherlands, (Switzerland)
Social Democratic / Universal	Norway, Denmark
Latin	Spain
Post-Communist	Poland, Hungary

The welfare state typology, however, is developed primarily from studies of social policy, and it is not obvious that cultural and sports policy can be classified in a corresponding manner. However, we would argue that this is likely.

Firstly, some of the core dimensions in the definition of the welfare typology are also essential for sports policy. Among other things, the typology is determined by the degree of economic redistribution in society, which is largely associated with the public sector's total consumption. It can be assumed that welfare states with a large public sector not only have a high level of public welfare schemes and income redistribution, but also spend relatively large sums on sports policy objectives and programmes. Furthermore, the welfare state typology differentiates between states according to the importance of the subsidiarity principle, and, as we shall see later, this principle also guides the sports policy in several countries.

Secondly, studies of various countries' sports policies find a correlation between the way the welfare state is generally functioning and the principles of the respective national sports policies. In an analysis of Danish sports policy, Ibsen and Ottesen conclude '... that universalist welfare ideals have had a powerful influence on the ideals of sport in Denmark and on the legislation governing it' (2003: 52). Esping-Andersen's welfare state typologies were also the point of departure in the book 'Sports Policy – A Comparative Analysis of Stability and Change' (Bergsgard et al. 2007), where sports policies in Canada, England, Germany and Norway were analysed and compared. On the one hand, the authors find a correlation between welfare regimes and sport policies. On the other hand they conclude that '... our

assumptions need to be modified. In all four countries, voluntary sport organisations have played important roles in the historic development of modern sport and they still play prominent roles as organisers of sport activities. However, in all four cases we also find that government is strongly involved with sports. This is not only the case in the 'state friendly' social democratic welfare state of Norway. Public policies are important for sports in the conservative welfare regime of Germany and the liberal welfare regimes of Canada and England' (Bergsgard et al. 2007: 244-245). In a comparative analysis of sports policy in the Scandinavian countries, Bergsgard and Nordberg find several common features between the main characteristics of the universal welfare typology and sports policy in Sweden, Norway and Denmark (Bergsgard and Nordberg 2010: 567-582).

Although welfare state typologies are developed in relation to social and welfare policy, we assume that the characteristics of the typologies have an impact on sport policies and the relationships between the public sector and sports clubs. In the following chapter on the social and cultural origins of sports clubs, the description is classified according to welfare state typologies and at the end of the report we discuss whether there is an association between the different typologies and sports club policies.

# 3. The social and cultural origins of sports clubs

As described in the introductory section, the analysis is based on the assumption that sport policies and the voluntary organisation of sports in each country can be partly explained by the 'path dependence theory'. The sport policies and the organisational system have a tendency to remain unchanged, although, in many cases, the political and social conditions that led to the formation of the policies and the organisational system have changed. Over the years, a number of institutional frameworks have been created, and the organisational system is 'protected' against new and competing forms of organisation. This helps understand differences between countries and the potential transferability of policies.

Below, we present descriptions to illustrate the social and cultural origin of sports clubs and sports policies in selected countries. We use the welfare state typology to illustrate the differences between the different types of states and to show how path dependency is prevalent across different types of states.

#### **England: A liberal welfare state**

In *England*, the tradition for volunteer-led sports clubs dates back to the second half of the 19th century, where the proliferation of small independent voluntary clubs reflected a society in which civic institutions were able to develop freely and the public and commercial provision of leisure was very underdeveloped, so that the voluntary sector could fill a gap in the demand for leisure opportunities. As a consequence of this, the tradition of volunteer-led sports clubs, independent from the state, was established. In England, the right of free association was assumed, it did not need to be enshrined in legislation. The emergence of a multitude of independent small volunteer-led organisations in the late 19th century and first half of the 20th century reflected a low level of 'statism': the extent to which the state or civil society is the principal locus of public life.

Anglo-Saxon countries are at the low end of the 'statism' scale. This scale has been used to explain the 'mosaic of local civic institutions that developed in nineteenth-century Britain' (Schofer & Fourcade-Gourinchas, 2001, p. 812), and that 'voluntary action in Anglo-Saxon countries is still enshrined in a powerful liberal ideology that continues to celebrate voluntarism as autonomous and jealously defends its arm's length relationship from government'. This helps understand the tension between the traditional independence of NGBs and their role in representing clubs; and the conditions they need to accept for receiving support from government within Whole Sport Plans. Also, it explains some of the antipathy of community sports clubs to the idea that they should be a medium for promoting government policies (Harris et al. 2009). Often, they don't know what the government policies are, because they do not need to know. The strong amateur tradition associated with sports in the 19th century, combined with the liberty of free association, has led to an almost complete dominance of the management of clubs by volunteers.

#### Denmark and Norway: Universalist welfare states

As is the case in England, voluntary organised sports in *Denmark* have great independence from the state in the sense that the voluntary clubs can act very independently of the public sector, but voluntary organised sports differs from England by being relatively highly dependent on direct and indirect public support. The government clearly "favours" democratic sports clubs over private and commercial organisations for sport and exercise. This can be seen in the distribution of governmental aid and tax benefits. This duality: statutory public support associated with little political steering, exists both in the legislation regarding state support to national sport organisations and the legislation for the municipal support for sports clubs, and it can be traced back to the first time these laws were adopted by the Danish parliament 1948 and 1968. Since these laws were enacted, the basic principles of public support for voluntary organised sports in Denmark have not changed – despite significant changes in both sport and the way the public sector operates. It characterizes voluntary organised sports in Denmark in that, for more than 100 years, there has been competition between several organisations with different goals and ideals of sports. We also find this in other countries, but, unlike these countries, the state has not tried at any time to assimilate sports into one organisation, as has happened in Norway, Sweden and Finland (Ibsen, 2002). On the contrary, the way the state supports sports organisations, which in principle has not been changed since 1948, has contributed to maintaining an organisational pattern that might have been different if government support were performance-based, unlike the current grant-based system.

The organisational and the political governance of sport in Norway has many features in common with Denmark, but the Norwegian model differs in two main ways from the Danish. Firstly, sport is organised under one umbrella organisation, The Norwegian Olympic and Paralympic Committee and Confederation of Sports (NIF), and, secondly, the relationship between the state and NIF has a more corporatist character in Norway than in Denmark (Bergsgard and Rommetvedt 2006, Bergsgard and Nordberg 2010, Enjolras and Waldahl 2007, Goksøyr 1996). One organisation (NIF) represents all sports and has a form of monopoly on organising and representing sports, and one office in the ministry is responsible for sports. Historically, the relations between the state and NIF have been very close, people moving between leading positions with NIF and the authorities in the state responsible for sports. More generally, these relations have been described as a 'family relation' (Selle 1995): The ties are very tight, and discussions and decisions are not taken or made in the public. This organisational system and the relationship between state and sports in Norway was founded in the years before and immediately after World War 2 by the formation of one overall sports organisation resulting from the merging of two sports organisations – with the state as a mediator – and it has basically not changed since.

#### **Germany: A corporative welfare state**

Germany represents what Esping-Andersen labels a conservative, corporative welfare regime. The 'essence' of this welfare state type lies in its blend of status segmentation and familialism. Social security systems are based on occupational schemes and corporatist status

divisions (Bergsgard et al. 2007: 6). A significant part of social insurance and health care is non-state, but this is mainly due to the role played by non-profit, voluntary organisations.

The creation and growth of sports (and physical exercise) has been strongly politicised in Germany. 'Much of the nineteenth century was dominated by debates over the particular form of gymnastics that should be promoted among German youth and the underlying purpose of participation in sport' (Bergsgard et al. 2007: 55). This continued after the First World War, when nationalists wanted to introduce military-style physical training in the public schools, while the Social Democrats wanted to introduce sports and games rather than training. When the National Socialists came to power, they introduced a highly centralized unitary state, and the 'federal sports associations lost their independence and were incorporated in the German National Socialist Reichsbund of Physical Activities and all sports clubs associated with other than the National Socialists were required to close (...) The intense politicisation of sports was accompanied by the rapid governmentalisation of sports through the disbandment of independent regional sport associations and their alignment with state administrative boundaries, which in turn were co-terminus with Nazi-Party districts' (Bergsgard et al. 2007: 56).

After World War 2, two different sports systems developed in West Germany and East Germany. 'The sports system that was established in West Germany during the post-war period was designed to contrast with the earlier Nazi system and with the emerging East German system' (Bersgaard 2007: 57). The federal states (Länder) retained significant responsibility for funding sports and rebuilding facilities, and strong national sports federations, financially supported by the state, were established. 'Despite the dependence of FRG [West Germany] sports organisations on state funding the degree of direct control exercised over sport was light by comparison to that found in the GDR [East Germany] where sport remained tightly under state management (...) The emphasis on autonomy should be seen in the light of a wish to re-establish the independence of voluntary associations after the heavy politicization of German sport and civil society during the Nazi and communist periods' (Bergsgard 2007: 57-58).

German sports policies are therefore based on the principle of autonomy of organised sports; establishing and maintaining its independence and self-responsibility as fundamental guidelines of sports policy in the Federal Republic of Germany. There are no specific laws concerning sports affairs and clubs – neither at national nor federal level. The only legal position for clubs is derived from a few decisive regulations concerning 'Gesellschaften bürgerlichen Rechts' in the 'Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch' (Engelhardt and Heinemann 2003: 140). 'Corporatism thus represents a specific institutional arrangement (...) of a societal bargaining process with respect to self-governance: The two sides of the barter are: (1) the provision of legal securities and financial grants, so to speak, offered by the state authorities, for (2) the taking over of public tasks at promised or prescribed standards by para-, quasi- or non-government organizations (quangos) or even private clubs and their roof associations in 'Eigenverantwortung – self-responsibility' and 'treuhänderische Selbstverwaltung – fiduciary self-administration' (Engelhardt and Heinemann 2003: 175).

In summary: After World War 2, a sports system was established in Germany which was based on a) a high degree of decentralization in the form of independent sports clubs (based on the principle of subsidiarity) and b) a kind of corporative agreement between the national

sports organisations and the state, being that sports Federations (members of one big umbrella organisation) were responsible for sports – in principle independent of the state, even though the government provided substantial financial support, while sports in return should be apolitical – in accordance with the corporative principles that apply to other areas of society in Germany. These principles for the relationship between organised sports and the state in Germany have not changed in principle since the establishment thereof after the Second World War.

#### **Hungary: A post-communist welfare state**

In contrast to England, Denmark, Norway and Germany, Hungary does not have a recent history of volunteering in sports. This tradition was lost under a centralized economy, where the emphasis was on elite competitive sport to enhance political status. Thus, coaches in clubs in these countries still tend to be professionals, although poorly paid, as professional coaching is expected. In Hungary, the public perception of 'volunteering' and the 'sports club' is a product of these historical influences.

The past decade's development of sports policy in Hungary is a good example of a sports policy that is marked both by history ('path dependence') and the influence of political sports models in the Central and Western European countries. Until World War 2, the development of sport in Hungary in many ways resembled the development of sport in a number of other countries in Europe, where various social and political movements (classes) stood behind the formation of voluntary sports associations to promote national and civic values.

When the Communist regime took power, strongly state-controlled sport in a state corporatist system emerged, which was controlled by the Communist party and related satellite organisations. New leadership was appointed, where it was necessary to create these organisations to be "trustworthy" for the purposes of the party, and sports became entirely funded by the state budget. The importance of membership fees and local revenues representing personal commitment became marginal. Especially until the 1970s, a very large apparatus organised the Hungarian sporting life, providing employment for both athletes and sports professionals. Following the political and economic changes since 1989, sports federations became independent of the state, regulated by the new Civil Law (1991), and their funding no longer came from direct and automatic governmental resources, but the first legislation that was specific to sports was enacted in 1996. Despite these adaptations to the dominant European model of sport, sports in Hungary remains relatively state-controlled, and volunteerism does not have the same high status and value as in the Western European and the Nordic countries.

A complete organisational restructuring was enacted in 2012, aimed to design a clear structural system in which tasks are grouped together and assigned to responsible institutions so as to eliminate overlapping task distribution and to create a transparent, one-channel financing support system with clear controlling elements (Amendments on Act on Sport 2011).

#### Spain: A Mediterranean welfare state

To varying degrees, we find the same transformations of sports policy in *Spain* as in Hungary, where the initially developed system of independent volunteer-led clubs and organisations was replaced by a concentration of state control. When the Franco regime (1939-1975) took power in Spain at the end of the Spanish Civil War (1936-1939), radical change came to the structure of sports, which was assimilated into the structure of the state. The political authorities appropriated sports and transferred control thereof to the single party Falange in line with a theory that predicated absolute one-party control over society. Sports organisations were forced under the control of a state body set up in 1938, the National Sports Delegation (later renamed into National Sports Council), which was overseen by the Falange Española y de las JONS. In this way, sports clubs and Federations lost their private character, their autonomy and their democratic ethos. In their statutes, clubs had to acknowledge their subordination to the provisions and authority of the National Sports Delegation. If they failed to do so, they were refused legal recognition and denied authorization to take part in sporting competitions.

During the transition to democracy, sports began to undergo a democratisation process. Sport was introduced into the Spanish constitution (adopted in 1978), which made it possible to include sport within the legal framework of the state. The first half of the 1980s saw a strong push in the construction of a sports infrastructure, and municipal governments started focusing on the need to promote sport for all, which led to a booming sports movement in Spanish society. At the beginning of the decade, in 1990, the enactment of a new Sports Law (Law 10/1990 of 15 October) once again regulated the responsibilities and functions of the state on the subject of sport, drawing a line between professional sport, top-tier sport and sport for all.

In the last 20 years, sports clubs and associations have grown in importance and gained autonomy within the Spanish sports system, despite the unquestionable dominance that the state continues to exert as a supplier and financial supporter of numerous sporting activities. In the nineties, all seventeen of Spain's autonomous communities had adopted their own laws for sport, with specific provisions on sports associations spelled out in decrees, ordinances, plans and programmes. The Spanish sports model is based on the state's collaboration with sports clubs – the state provides resources to the clubs in exchange for the clubs' promotion of the practice of sport by the public. But the state is not merely an ancillary promoter of the clubs' activities, but it also gets involved in the provision of a wide range of opportunities for the practice of sport. Thus, the model can be viewed as interventionist, because their collaboration with the state makes the clubs reliant on the state's financial help (Burriel & Puig, 1999; Rodríguez, 2008). A stark consequence of this is that sports clubs play a weak role in the provision of sport in some regions, which is left very much in the hands of municipalities and other bodies, to which the promotion and development of sports activities is delegated.

In summary, this historical analysis shows, firstly, that there is a correlation between the key characteristics of different welfare state typologies and characteristics of sport club policies in several of the countries in this study. Secondly, the analysis shows that the main features of the existing sports club policy can be traced back to the years after World War 2 in most countries, with the exception of the former authoritarian regimes (Spain, Hungary and Poland), where the transformation to democratic regimes has resulted in an adaptation

of parts of the sports policy to the policies that especially characterize Western European democracies.

# 4. Governance of sport

It is a general assumption for this analysis that sports policies and the organisation of sport reflect overall societal structures – to varying degrees. In this context, we focus on the structure of government and the political governance of sports. First, we look at the overall societal structure of the ten countries (federal and unitary states) and the degree of centralization / decentralization and the resulting implications for sports policy. Secondly, we analyse the way that sport is governed in the different countries (governance form).

#### Federal and unitary states

In *countries with a Federal structure* (or similar) – where regional states / communities have relatively extensive political autonomy – the public / political governance of sports (legislation, economic support etc.) is largely left up to the regional level. This is particularly true in Belgium but also in Germany, Spain and Switzerland.

- In *Belgium* since the constitutional revision in the 1970's each of the three language communities has its own sports policy. Flanders and Wallonia both have a minister in charge of sport, and all organisations and Federations for sports are split up into two wings, namely an independent Flemish and Walloon Federation. Belgian sports Federations still exist, but usually merely function as a national umbrella to represent the country in international sports organisations and competitions (Scheerder et al., 2011; Vanreusel et al., 1999).
- Sports in *Germany* is also a matter that is dealt with by the federal states on regional level. In contrast to the national level, the legislature at regional level plays a significant role for sports policy, in that sports policy issues are regularly discussed at that level. National government is dedicated to promoting top-level sports and sports for the disabled, mainly through financial support (Bergsgard et al., 2007).
- In *Spain*, the functions and competencies for the promotion and development of sports primarily lie with the regions, officially referred to as Autonomous Communities. The national government does not have any legal responsibilities with regard to the clubs. However, this does not mean that the national government does not have sports organs and responsibilities. The Sports Act 10/1990 specifies that the national government's actions in matters regarding sports directly correspond to the High Council for Sport (Lera and Lizalde, 2013).
- In *Switzerland*, about half of all cantons have a "Cantonal sports concept". In addition, nearly half of the 26 cantons have a law regarding sport and/or the promotion of physical activity, and the majority of the cantons have sport-specific laws. According to cantonal sports concepts, cantons are responsible for the development, construction and maintenance of a cantonal sport-related infrastructure. Furthermore, the cantons

are responsible for the implementation of Youth and Sports programmes. However, Youth and Sports is a national programme, and there is also national sports legislation.

In *unitary countries / states*, the national government is responsible for legislation regarding sports, for the development of sports for all as well as elite sports and for state support to the national sports organisations (Norway, Denmark, England, the Netherlands, Hungary and Poland). But in several of these countries, there is no direct link (economic support etc.) to the sports clubs, and the implementation of legislation is left up to the local governments (municipalities). We find that in Denmark, Norway and England.

#### Centralization versus decentralization

The countries also differ from each other as to the degree of decentralization, which is also reflected in the sports policy.

In most of the countries, the political / public governance and support for sports clubs is left up to the local political level (municipalities etc.). As a result, there is no direct relationship (political or economic) between the government at national level and the community sports clubs. The sports Federations and the municipalities or local sports administrations serve as mediating partners between the government and the sports clubs. In the countries that cater to the conservative / corporatist welfare typology, this decentralization of sports policy is based on the principle of subsidiarity (Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands and Switzerland). It is an organising principle that states that matters ought to be handled by the lowest possible political and administrative level, and as close to the citizens as possible (Scheerder & Vermeersch 2007; Petry & Hallmann 2013; Bergsgard et al. 2007).

However, there is no clear connection between conservative / corporatist welfare states, based on subsidiarity, and a decentralized sports policy. This decentralization of sports policy can also be found in Norway, Denmark and England, where the local government (municipality) is responsible for public support for sports clubs, construction of sports facilities etc. However, in Denmark local authorities are obliged by law to support sports clubs, which is not the case in Norway and England.

Unlike the other countries, sports policy is more centralized in Hungary and Poland. The organisation and structure of sport in the public sector in Spain is complex due to the existing political structure which is decentralised and operates at three levels (national, regional, and local authorities). The different administrative levels in Spain have their own powers and resources. The distribution of competences and responsibilities is complex as some aspects of public policy are more decentralised than in traditional federal states, while others remain of federal competence.

#### Governance form

Between the ten countries, there are significant differences in the political governance of sports. One can distinguish between two different forms of governance.

In the first, a kind of public body is responsible for the implementation and administration of the politically decided policy and programmes, and for the funding. This can be found in England (Sport England), Hungary (State-secretary of sports), Spain (High Council of Sports), Switzerland (Federal Office of Sport) and Poland (Ministry of Sport and Tourism). An example of this governance model is Poland, where sports policy on the central level is described in a governmental document called "Sports development programme 2020" (MS 2015). The document specifies the direction of activities and how aims and tasks related to sport should be carried out by adjusting them to high European standards (taking into account Polish traditions, conditions, needs, and capabilities).

The second form of governance has more the character of corporatism in the sense that all significant political decisions concerning sport are carried out in close dialogue with the key sports organisations, and at the local level in cooperation with local organisations representing sports clubs. Within this model, the implementation of major programmes and policies is largely entrusted to the sports organisations. This is the dominant model in Norway, Denmark, the Netherlands and Germany.

Between countries, there are also differences in the significance of specific legislation for sports policy. In several countries, there are special laws / acts for the national (or Federal) sports policy, which governs the relationship to and support for sports organisations and sports clubs and the obligations of the local governments (municipalities) regarding sport (Hungary, Poland, Spain).

In other countries, sports clubs and sports organisations are being supported and governed under general rules and regulations, which also apply to other voluntary organisations (Denmark ('Leisure Act'), the Netherlands, Switzerland (Federal constitution). In the Netherlands, the Social Welfare Act of 1994 states that municipalities are responsible for all the executive work, such as improving and maintaining local sports and recreation infrastructures.

Finally, there are countries with no specific legislation for sport (Norway). In Norway, the sports policies are made explicit in white papers that express ideas about how the state wants the sport clubs to operate and function.

Overall, the analysis in this section shows that there are significant differences between the ten countries in terms of the degree of centralization / decentralization and in the way sport is governed. In the following section, we look at the impact on the way the public sector and the sports organisations support sports clubs.

# 5. Sports club policies

Now the analysis shifts focus in order to examine the countries' general policies in relation to sports clubs (in this chapter), and the policies with a specific focus on social inclusion and volunteering (in the next chapter). This chapter provides, firstly, a brief description of the overall sports policies in the different countries; secondly, an analysis of sports club policies at national level; thirdly, an analysis of sports club policies at local level, and, finally; an analysis of the role of national and regional sports organisations in relation to sports clubs.

#### Overall sports policies

Across most of the ten countries, 'sport for all' or 'recreational sports' is the priority in sports policies, but the support and promotion of elite sport also constitutes an essential part of the countries' sports policies (in this paper, we do not elaborate on this part of the sports policy). However, there are great differences in how real the weighting of recreational sport is. For example, in Hungary where it is stated in the Act on Sports from 2011 that 'all men shall have the right to sport and this right is guaranteed by the state, regardless of whether it be competitive sport, leisure, student and college-university sport, sport for the disabled or the preservation of health'. The plan was initiated by adapting new programmes and projects to trigger central areas in sport, such as providing direct funding to athletes, coaches, and grassroots sports centres. In 2007, the Sports and Tourism Committee of the Hungarian Parliament adopted a target of doubling the sports participation rate within six years. But these goals have not been followed up by increased funding to recreational sport.

Something else that characterizes sports policies – across countries – is that they are primarily aimed at club sport, but several countries also support the development of sport outside of clubs (e.g. Denmark, Germany and Norway).

The aim of the policies regarding sport is typically to achieve a large number of goals through sport in general and sports clubs in particular, such as improved public health, integration of immigrants, social inclusion of physically disabled people, education, etc. Sport is recognized as being an important tool for improving the common wealth. This is also an essential justification for funding sports with public money, and sport clubs are supposed to play a pivotal role in achieving these goals.

Another important dimension of sports policy in all the countries is the provision of facilities for sport, where we find large differences between countries. We will further elaborate on these differences later in this chapter.

#### The national governmental level

The state (parliament and ministries) at either national or Federal level has different roles in relation to the local sports clubs<sup>1</sup>:

1. The first role is to define the requirements for an organisation to qualify for public funding, obtain tax benefits etc.

This applies to most of the ten countries, but not all. Several countries have ensured that citizens have the right to form associations in the constitution. In other countries, there are acts specifying the requirements that voluntary, non-profit organisations (of all kinds) must meet to be treated in a special way with regard to taxation, funding etc. (Germany, the Netherlands (Civil Code and Civil right of association) and Switzerland). In some countries, the specific requirements are laid down in an act on sport or an act on public economic support to voluntary organisations (Hungary and Denmark)

2. In a few countries, the national parliament has adopted legislation which defines the role of the local authorities in relation to sports clubs.

In Flanders, a new decree concerning local sports policy or Sport for All policy at local level emphasizes that the support and subsidizing of voluntary sports clubs is mainly under the competence of local governments (i.e. municipalities). The Danish parliament has adopted "The Act on the Allocation of Financial Support to Non-formal Adult Education and Youth Activities", which determines how the municipalities are obliged to support sports clubs (further elaborated on in the section dealing with the local governmental level). In Poland, local government is obliged by law to provide for professional and public sports, in cooperation with non-governmental organisations.

3. In some countries, the state has an indirect role in supporting sports organisations and/or the regional or local governmental level with financial resources earmarked for sport. In turn, the regional and local governmental levels support sports clubs.

In Germany, the national government supports community sports clubs only indirectly and mainly by granting tax benefits. The Federal states support sports clubs through the provision of financial support to municipalities for the construction of sports facilities, the payment of salaries of trainers and coaches, etc. In Norway approx. 10 percent of the state support for The Norwegian Olympic and Paralympic Committee and Confederation of Sports (NIF) must be transferred to the local, municipal level, where the Local Sports Council is responsible for the distribution of these resources.

<sup>1</sup> Due to the differences between the size of the countries and the differences between Federal countries and unitary countries it is difficult to compare the regional levels especially - for example, between Germany and Denmark. In Germany, the regional level comprises the 16 'Länder', several of which have more inhabitants than Denmark in total and a much greater political autonomy than the five 'regions' in Denmark, which does not play any role in sports policy.

4. In some countries, the state (unitary or Federal) – or the federal level - has a more direct role by funding activities in sports clubs, running programmes etc.

In Flanders, sport clubs can receive financial resources from the Flemish government but via local authorities and only if the municipalities co-finance. In the Netherlands, the clubs can periodically apply for money for specific purposes from specific programmes (e.g. sports and physical activity in the neighbourhood, local programmes to promote local initiatives and co-operations between several local organisations and different public sectors). In Poland, the ministry launched a new programme 'Club' in April 2016, which directly supports sports clubs, and in general the Polish government runs a series of activities, the beneficiaries of which are most often sports clubs, and sport clubs obtain resources from national funds in cases when the clubs' activities match the priorities of the programmes. The clubs can apply for funding in open tender contests (among other things, a programme for popularisation of sport among various social groups and a programme for the development of sport among children, youth and disabled persons has been launched).

In Spain, the national government does not have any legal responsibilities with regard to the clubs. The functions and competencies for the promotion and development of the sports practice correspond to the regions, officially referred to as Autonomous Communities. The autonomous communities included the functions and competencies in sports matters in their respective Statutes of Autonomy and in other legal norms established by each of them. They recognize and watch over the territorial Federations and clubs; fund sports clubs and Federations; construct facilities; and carry out qualifications of trainers etc. The Autonomous Communities have annual calls for proposals where the sports clubs and autonomic sport Federations can present their projects to obtain a grant. But the Autonomous Communities differ in the way they develop their functions.

In Switzerland, the national government has no direct legal obligations to sports clubs and vice versa, apart from the national Youth and Sports programme. About two-thirds of the Swiss population aged between 10 and 20 years take part in the Youth and Sports programme, which is provided through clubs, and for which clubs receive a payment per participant.

#### Local government level

In all ten countries, it is mainly the local level of the political administration and policy that influence sports clubs. The local level includes local authorities, local governments, municipalities and the like). In the following sections, we will use 'local authorities' as the common term.

In Flanders, it is estimated that the local authorities are responsible for the allocation of about 75 percent of the regular public funding for sports in Flanders. In Denmark, the corresponding figure is more than 80 percent.

Most countries have, in principle, no (or a weak) direct link between the state and the individual local sports clubs (Flanders, Denmark, England, Germany, Norway and Switzerland). In several countries, there is no legislation or similar written agreement, which obliges the

local authorities to support sports clubs (England, Germany, the Netherlands and Norway). In these countries, the initiative to offer organised sport is left up to sports clubs, or other private organisations or institutions, but the activities of sports clubs are in most of the countries being supported by the local authorities.

In some countries, the state has, however, provided a framework for local government support in the form of legislation, decrees etc. (Flanders, Denmark, Hungary and Poland). However, it is almost entirely left up to each local authority to decide on the scope and nature of the local support in accordance with their own (sports) policy views (Flanders and Denmark). This has resulted in large differences between the municipalities concerning how much and in what manner clubs are supported (Flanders, Denmark, Poland, Hungary, Norway and Switzerland).

In some countries, however, the state (parliament / ministry) has adopted specific rules on how much the local authorities should spend on support for sports clubs (e.g. Flanders where local authorities until 2015 received a certain amount per capita from the Federal government for this purpose, but since 2016 the Flemish subsidies for several policy domains - including sports - are integrated in the overall dotation which Flemish municipalities receive from the Flemish government (Gemeentefonds)) and/or how the local authorities are obligated to support the clubs (e.g. Denmark where it is a requirement that the clubs have access to municipal sports facilities – free of charge or with a minor utilization fee – for activities for children and youth).

In several countries, the clubs also have the opportunity to apply for funding from government programmes, but it has much less importance than the support from the local authorities (see above section).

Generally, the local authorities support sports clubs in two ways: Access to sports facilities and direct economic support to the clubs or activities in the clubs. But there are significant differences between the ten countries in the extent and nature of support within each of these forms of support.

#### Access to sports facilities

The first and most important type of (indirect) support for sports clubs from the local authorities is access to publicly owned sports facilities. In most of the ten countries, the sports facilities are predominantly owned by the local authorities that are responsible for the maintenance and administration of the facilities. In Switzerland, about three-quarters of all sport clubs exclusively or partially rely on public sports facilities (Stamm et al. 2015). However, there are major differences between the countries regarding the conditions for the use of the publicly owned and administered sports facilities.

In several countries, the sports clubs (mostly) have access to the municipal facilities for free or for a low fee (Denmark, Germany, Hungary, Norway and Poland). It is, however, only in Denmark that the municipalities are obliged to provide voluntary access for sports clubs and other leisure associations to indoor and outdoor facilities owned by municipalities free of charge or to receive reimbursement of two thirds of the cost to rent privately owned facilities, when the club's members are aged 25 or under. In Poland, many sports clubs are formed at educational institutions and local sports centres, which guarantee access to facilities and material resources of these institutions.

In other countries, the clubs must pay a reduced price for the use of publicly owned sports facilities or pay the full price (the Netherlands, Switzerland, England, Spain).. In England, 38% of the clubs hire or lease facilities from the local government, and this may be at a concessionary rate (SARA, 2013). If clubs own the facilities they use, and 21% of them do, they are required to pay rates to local government. However, if they are a charity, or have status as a 'Community Amateur Sports Club' (CASC), which gives similar benefits to being a charity but is easier to obtain, the club will automatically receive a concession of 80% on its rates. Local government can use its discretion to allow 100% rates relief, and can use this irrespective of the club being a charity or a CASC. 6,715 clubs (out of the approximately 85,000 in England) have CASC status. In Spain, the payment for the use of sport facilities by sport clubs is not implanted in the same manner in the different regions. In Catalonia, for example, it's very common, as well as in the big cities. But there are big differences among them with regard to the discounts and payment systems.

#### **Economic subsidies**

The other type of support from local authorities to sports clubs is (direct) economic support. One can distinguish between three principally different types of economic support or cooperation:

The first type is basic grants without specific requirements for the use of the money, no specific success criteria, and a low degree of external control etc. (Denmark, Norway and Germany). In Denmark, the municipalities are obliged to support sports clubs and other leisure associations that provide activities for children and youth, typically a given amount for each member aged 25 or under, and so the support depends on the number of members. In Switzerland, the local authorities often pay some form of lump sum to local sport clubs. In Germany almost everything is possible in terms of subsidies from the local governments due to our federal system. Traditionally and still in use are basic grants without specific requirements for the use of the money, no specific success criteria, and a low degree of external control etc. even though the municipalities are not obliged to support sports clubs by law. But with new social challenges targeted subsidies have been launched to promote social integration, preventing violence, health promotion etc.

The second type is 'targeted subsidy', which is economic support for specific purposes, target groups etc., prioritised by the local authorities, for which the sports clubs can apply for money (Flanders, Germany and Hungary). In Germany, the sports clubs often need to explain the general project, which should be funded, as well as justify the rationale for this support. This is due to the fact that community sports clubs are expected to deliver a service in return when receiving public funds. Moreover, some municipalities have implemented targeted subsidies for building or renovation of sport clubs' facilities. Besides, sports clubs mostly get a basic subsidy, sometimes depending on the number of children and youth. In Hungary, the local authorities may give support to clubs; however, this support is not automatic and mostly follows an elite sport success logic. Most clubs are not included in the supported cycle. The use of funding is closely monitored. In Poland, the clubs can apply for financial resources in tender contests. When a sports club applies for financing through a contest, it is compelled to provide its own contribution and/or the participation of volunteers in its activity. In Valencia in Spain, the city carries out two annual open and competitive calls for proposals to subsidize

the activity of the sport clubs and the top-tier clubs of the city. In Switzerland, the sports clubs also receive financial support for special programmes that promote sports-related integration of immigrants.

Among the countries, we find two kinds of 'targeted subsidy'. The first one is support for activities for special purposes or target groups, such as sports for disabled people, sports for ethnic minorities, elite athletes etc. (Flanders, the Netherlands and Germany). The second type is support for the development of the sports clubs (Flanders and the Netherlands) in the form of courses for trainers and volunteers, advise to boards from local sports service centres (the Netherlands) etc. In several countries, however, the sports organisations are responsible for this part (e.g. in Germany, Norway and Denmark)

The third type of support is connected to cooperation (co-production or co-creation) with local public institutions (schools, kindergartens etc.). Several countries are now attempting to strengthen such cooperation (Germany, Denmark, Hungary and the Netherlands), which is often associated with payment to the sports club or (free) access to facilities and materials at the institution.

There are – as far as we can deduce from available information – significant differences between the ten countries on the level of financial support from local authorities to sports clubs (directly and indirectly), and the relative importance the support has for the clubs. There is reliable information about this in a few countries, but it is difficult to compare the figures. The available information leaves the impression that the economic value of the support from the local authorities is relatively low in England and relatively high in Flanders, Germany, Denmark, Norway and Switzerland. In several countries, the financial support has been declining over the past decade (e.g. the Netherlands).

There are also differences between the countries regarding the responsibility for the distribution of the municipal support. In several countries, it is an administrative unit of the local authority in the form of, for example, a sports service centre (e.g. Poland (Social Communication Centre) and Spain). In Spain the administrative unit of the local authorities for the distribution of the municipal support may take different forms and names, for example: Municipal Sports Patronage, Municipal Sports Department, Municipal Sports Institute, Municipal Sports Foundation and Council Delegate of Sports.

In Denmark and Norway, the sports clubs are involved in – and partly responsible for – the decisions regarding the distribution of the resources (including the clubs' access to sports facilities) in a kind of corporative institution. In Denmark, most municipalities have established a committee for distributing municipal subsidies to voluntary sports clubs, leisure associations and associations for non-formal education. The committee decides, in principle, how to support sports clubs and other leisure associations within the realm of the 'Leisure Act'. The committee has members from the municipal board as well as representatives from sports and leisure associations. In Norway, there is a specific institution responsible for the relationship between local sport clubs and their municipalities, the Sport Council. It consists (in principle) of the sports clubs in a municipality, which is intended to provide good relations between clubs and political institutions locally. The councils are also important in distributing funding from the central level (Norwegian Confederation of Sports) to the local level.

### Relations with and support from national and regional governing bodies for sport

The most dominant organisational form at the national level is 'The Confederation of Sports', which is a democratic, non-profit umbrella organisation that represents all (or almost all) Federations for the various sports and in several cases also other organisations for sports (multi sports federations, school sports, etc. (Germany). This organisation handles the sporting interests in relation to the government, public authorities and other interests; distributes government economic support to member Federations; is responsible for the relations to the international sports world (including IOC); and acts in many ways as a semi-public institution. This type of organisation for (almost) all the sports is found in Belgium (Flanders), Germany, The Netherlands, Norway and Switzerland.

Hungary, Poland and Spain also have one single organisation for all sport, but this organisation can better be characterized as a quasi-civil organisation established by law and responsible for a number of public duties.

Two countries differ from the general picture. In Denmark there are three – mutually independent – umbrella organisations for sports with different aims, structures and ideologies. Most of the sports clubs that are members of at least one sports organisation are members of both 'The National Olympic Committee and Sport Confederation of Denmark' (DIF) and 'The Danish Gymnastic and Sports Associations' (DGI), while there is almost no overlap between 'The Danish Federation of Company Sport' (DFIF) and the other two organisations. One of these organisations, DIF, has the same structure as the confederations for sports in other countries and also works with the same tasks in the same way.

England also has a non-governmental umbrella organisation for sports, but many of the tasks that are handled by non-governmental and democratic organisations in other countries are handled by Sport England in England, a public / state institution. Sport England is responsible for the distribution of state support to the sports federations, among other things.

In several of the ten countries, the national organisation for sport is a result of legislation or enshrined in an act, where the organisation is attributed to specific (governmental) tasks, and thus acts as a quasi-civilian organisation (Belgium (Flanders) and Hungary) or a genuine governmental organization (Spain). In Spain the national organisation for sport (High Council for Sport) is an autonomous administrative body affiliated with the Ministry of Education, Culture and Sports, which has a President with the rank of a Secretary of State and is nominated by the Council of Ministers. So the national government's actions in sports matters directly correspond to the High Council for Sport. In other countries, the overall confederation of sports has the same role, but its existence and role is a result of a historic compromise and a kind of agreement between the state and sports (Germany and Norway). In most of the countries, the organisations themselves decide who can be a member of the organisation. This does not apply in Poland, where a sports Federation or organisation must obtain permission from the Minister of Sport and Tourism to be established (The Act on Sport 2010).

The national organisational systems for sports (sports federations and umbrella organisations) carry out a variety of tasks (in cooperation with the member Federations and regional organisations), including:

- The most important task for the Federations is to organise tournaments, competitions and events and to be responsible for national participation in international elite sports and for the development of elite sports in the specific sports fields.
- Representing the interests of the member sports Federations and affiliated clubs towards the government, public authorities and other stakeholders.
- Offering courses and educational programmes for coaches, managers and others.
- Provide support, advice and inspiration to Federations and sports clubs.
- Finally, several of the national organisations are responsible for programmes for the development of sport. In Germany, different initiatives and projects such as "Richtig fit ab 50", "Deutsches Sportabzeichen", "Integration durch Sport", "Ehrenamt im Sport" and "Trimmy" are created and developed by the DOSB, aimed at fostering the role of sports in society (DOSB, 2015). The role of community sports clubs is to implement these projects and to make them "come alive". In England, the NGB is responsible for increasing participation in sport in exchange for the economic support from Sport England. These levels of participation are measured through Sport England's annual Active People Survey. This gives these NGBs a role in generally promoting their sport rather than just representing their clubs. In Denmark, the development of sports clubs and increased participation in sport and physical activity has also been given a central role in national organisations for sports. In 2014, the organisations agreed about the vision '25-50-75', to obtain a 50 percent rate of the Danish population active in a sports club and a 75 percent rate of the Danish population being physically active by 2025.

The individual local sports club is typically a member of a national sports Federation (e.g. football, fencing, cycling, etc.) and/or a regional organisation, which is a member of the national confederation for sport. However, this is usually not a requirement, so the clubs are not obliged to join if they do not think that they will benefit. An example of this could be sports clubs that do not want to compete in a national competitive structure and therefore do not need the competition structure provided by national confederations for sport. Formally, the sports clubs are separate and independent of the confederations, i.e. they are not local branches of a national organisation, and the confederations have no decision-making power in relation to the clubs.

As members of the sports Federation and / or the regional confederations, sports clubs pay a membership fee. The sports clubs' expenses for being a member of a national organisation of sports are – in most countries – very low and almost symbolic. In some Federations, the sports clubs also pay a fee to the respective Federation when wanting to register a team to play in a competitive league.

As a rule, the national organisations for sports do not transfer money to member clubs. However, membership of an organisation provides a number of benefits, including the opportunity to participate in courses and activities that the clubs do not have to pay for (or can attend for a reduced price). Norway is an exception, with around 10 percent of the amount that

the NIF receives from the state being distributed to the municipalities, where the local sports council distributes the money to the sports clubs.

Occasionally, the member clubs can apply for financial support for activities within a programme, which the national organisation has developed (sometimes in cooperation with the government). In Germany, sports clubs can apply to the respective sports organisation to receive different funds. Often, projects are tendered publicly by the DOSB so that sports clubs can apply directly for funds to a specific project.

In summary, the analysis in this chapter shows that, across most of the ten countries, 'sports for all' or 'recreational sports' is the main priority in sports policy, but there are great differences in how real the practical support of recreational sport is. 'Sports for all' policies are almost entirely focussed on delivery through sports opportunities provided by voluntary clubs. In all countries, sports clubs receive support from the public sector – indirectly and directly – but there are significant differences in how much and how. The first and most important type of (indirect) support for sports clubs is in the form of access to publicly-owned sports facilities. In all the countries, sports clubs have the opportunity to get financial support from the public sector, but there are big differences in how clubs can obtain such financial support. The most common type of economic support is 'targeted subsidy'. In all ten countries, mainly the local level of the political, public-administrative governance and steering are important for sports clubs (local authorities, local government, municipalities and the like). In all the countries, the local sports clubs are typically members of a national sports federation / organisation and / or a regional organisation, which is a member of the national confederation of sports.

# 6. Policies regarding social inclusion and volunteering

In this section, we will more specifically shed light on how the ten countries seek to promote social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs, which are the main focal points of this study. As noted above our analysis has used the concept of integration rather than inclusion to add precision.

#### Social inclusion

In most countries, a political priority is to increase participation in sports for inactive groups, and to promote social inclusion and integration of socially disadvantaged groups. However, usually this target is expressed in very broad terms as a general goal to increase participation of under-represented groups. The weighting of this goal is associated in some countries with who has the parliamentary power in the country. Both in England and Spain, the conservative parties have put less emphasis on it in recent years than the previous socialist governments. In England, a policy of promoting 'social inclusion' was strongly promoted by the 'New Labour' government from 1997 onwards. This gradually lost prominence until it was abandoned by the Conservative / Liberal Democratic coalition government of 2010. Since that time, social inclusion through sports has had low priority on the political agenda, and the inclusion of immigrants is too politically sensitive to be a policy objective. The 2016 Sport England strategy includes a very general aim of aiming to grow participation 'especially in under-represented groups (Sport England, 2016, p 25). We do not find the same correlation between who has political power and the weighting of social inclusion in sport in the other countries.

In both Norway and Denmark (two universalistic welfare states), where 'sports for all' is the primary objective of sports policy, equal participation in sports for all groups of society is an important goal. On the governmental level in Denmark, it is explicitly stated that sports organisations are expected to work for the inclusion of different target groups. In many municipalities, we find the same formulation. But in the actual policy and with regard to the distribution of public funds, the priority of social inclusion in sports and sports clubs is relatively low. There is no specific requirement from either the state or the municipalities for the national sports organisations and the local sports clubs to use a certain proportion of the subsidies to increase participation among ethnic minorities, the disabled, disadvantaged children, etc. Similarly, there are no specific success criteria, and there are no real plans on how to achieve the political desire for equality in sports participation. A modest share of the public support for sports has – with intervals of several years – been earmarked for target groups, such as the disabled, the elderly and refugees. The umbrella organisations for sports have specific programmes for sports for particular groups, such as sports in disadvantaged residential areas, sports for refugees and sports for war veterans. Often the state and foundations support these projects with special grants (for example DIFs project 'Get2Sport'). But it plays a small role in the overall picture. Sports organisations are expected to work for the inclusion of target groups, but with no precise political goals. Their dependency on public funding ensures that

they take initiatives in line with policy goals, at least to some degree.

In general, the policies regarding social inclusion are characterized by most of the ten countries having goals aimed at increasing sports participation in various target groups and promoting social inclusion through sports. Concrete, binding policies and plans are almost absent, however. In Spain, social inclusion is also included in the goals for the Strategic Sport Plan, the elaboration of which was headed by the High Council for Sport in coordination with the Autonomous Communities a few years ago. The Strategic Sport Plan was designed to be rolled out in the 2010-2020 period. Two of the four main objectives were a) to promote sports as a tool for social inclusion and b) to make progress in the true equality between men and women. It was the first time a policy document had been elaborated that granted such a degree of importance to the objectives of social inclusion. In fact, of the 15 programmes proposed in the Strategic Sports Plan, 4 of them were explicitly related to aspects of social inclusion with special focus on the handicapped, the elderly and equality between men and women. As the majority of the competencies in sports matters lies with the autonomous communities, the actions mentioned in the Strategic Sports Plan are proposed so that the autonomous communities can align themselves with these objectives and pursue them in their sports policies.

Across countries, the 'programme model' is the dominant way that countries seek to promote sports participation in various target groups. This means that the state creates a special programme for a given period, under which sports organisations, local authorities and sports clubs can apply for money to finance a 'project' (Denmark, Norway, England and the Netherlands). The policy in the Netherlands is an example of this. In most cases, the Ministry of Public Health, Welfare and Sport supports various programmes to stimulate sports participation and physical activities within the target groups, and indirect sports club membership. These programmes usually focus on groups like a) youth ('Youth in Motion', 'Sport is Cool', 'Participating all youth through sports', 'Neighbourhood, Education and Sport' and 'Sport Impulse'), b) women ('Sports, even I do it'), c) handicapped people ('Special Heroes'), d) migrant groups ('Sport is Cool', 'Participating all migrant youth through sports') and e) the elderly.

Similarly, Switzerland has tried to promote sports participation for specific groups by specially designed programmes. Some examples of concepts and programmes from cantons and communities pertaining to social inclusion (and volunteering) are as follows:

- Financial grants to support access to public sports facilities for people with low income (among others, the disabled and immigrants).
- Development of coaches and players in the handling of integration and conflicts in football clubs and Federations.
- Dissemination of expert knowledge: Handbooks, videos, leaflets ("Sport integrates"), flyers in various languages ("Movement") for sports clubs, families etc.
- Programmes for specific target groups, among other "MidnightSports" which is a Swiss-wide, weekly sport event, organised and created by voluntary adolescents and young adults for their peers; "Sport-verein-t" which is a project with focus on meas-

ures for strengthening the organisation of clubs, support volunteering and improving the integration of people of different origins and the disabled; and "Coloured kicks well, which is a transcultural street soccer league Switzerland" with the aim to support the integration of young immigrants (10-21 year olds) through low-threshold, free of charge and optional exercise.

It is, however, important to point out that all the initiatives and programmes described above have a minor role compared to the national programme 'Youth and sports'. Most of the initiatives mentioned are promoted by cantons, municipalities, specific organisations.

In England, there are programmes with the aim to increase the number of disabled young people and adults regularly playing sport, and with the aim to get more inactive people to start playing sport once a week and achieve a reduction in health inequalities. Many grants are relatively small, but they help clubs to develop facilities or increase participation of specific groups. Bigger grants tend to be awarded to schools, national governing bodies and local authorities. Each programme is normally subject to an independent evaluation.

A more guiding policy in this area only exists in a few countries (in the form of legislation, decrees etc.). The Swiss Federal "Law of Equal Opportunities for the Disabled" and the "Aliens Act" obliges the Federations, cantons and communities to set conditions that facilitate participation, integration and equal opportunities in social life (in other words, access to sport) for disabled people and immigrants. We undoubtedly find the same in other countries, such as the acts that apply when a country has joined "the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities".

Flanders seems to be more targeted to social inclusion than the other countries. By means of a special decree (in 2008), the Flemish Government seeks to promote an increase in the participation of people from different social strata in cultural activities, sports etc. The inclusion of disadvantaged groups is the key idea involved. Five target groups are explicitly mentioned as groups that receive specific attention, i.e. people living in poverty, detainees, people with disabilities and people with a migration background. To support and stimulate participation of these target groups, a structural and a project-based approach are implemented simultaneously. Once a year, the Flemish Government launches one or more calls with a focus on a specific themes or target groups. From 2003 to 2004, the policy focused on people with a migration background, from 2006 to 2008 on people with disabilities, from 2009 to 2012 on people 55 years or over and from 2013 until today on healthy sports participation of youth in sports clubs (Flemish Government 2008a; 2008b; Scheerder & Vandermeerschen 2014). Sports clubs have the opportunity to participate in the programme, but in practice, the social inclusion policy appears to be mainly implemented outside of sports clubs. Analyses show that a relatively low number of sports federations sign up for this facultative assignment - something which indicates that there is a gap between the intentions and objectives of government and their realization in practice.

A second decree, which is of significance to sports organisations (sports federations and clubs) and related to the theme of social inclusion, is the decree on healthy and ethical sports (Flemish Government, 2014). The recognized sports federations in Flanders are required to take action for healthy and ethical sports practice. The Flemish Government prioritises six main themes: a) the rights of children in sport, b) inclusion, c) fair play, d) the physical and

psychological integrity of the individual, e) respect for diversity and f) solidarity. The federations are required to work on one of the themes and to deliver concrete actions, which are visible in the selected field, both at club level as well as at participant level.

As a consequence of the decree on local sports policy (Flemish Government, 2012), the inclusion of target groups in sport is also a topic on the policy agenda of the local sports authorities. This means that the local sports authorities have the opportunity to embrace social inclusion in their policy on subsidies towards sports clubs, by pursuing conditional policy. However, recent research shows that the social inclusion goals of local sports authorities and the distribution of funds to the local sports clubs are only interrelated to a limited extent. Local sports authorities aim to attain social goals mainly through offering their own sports activities, rather than by pursuing policy goals with regard to social inclusion through sports clubs. The policy towards sports clubs is often independent of the policy on social inclusion, and vice versa (van Poppel et al., 2016). Initiatives to reach social goals through cooperation between the local sports authorities and sports clubs are being undertaken. The projects are still in their infancy.

One of the Sport for All policy pillars in the Flemish Sports Confederation is linked to the inclusion of target groups and accessible sport clubs. The Flemish Sports Confederation (VSF) decided to include four target groups in the target group policy: a) people living in poverty, b) ethnic cultural minority groups, c) people with disabilities, and d) elderly people. Sports federations and clubs can get in touch with VSF for questions on target groups policy or for individual guidance. In cooperation with the federations, the VSF developed an online guide for sport clubs with lower participation thresholds.

## Volunteering

It seems to be a general trend, and a discourse, in Europe, that governments are aiming to strengthen volunteering and civil society in general, along with cooperation between the public and the voluntary sector. In England, civil society and volunteering was part of an ideological commitment to reduce the role of the state and promote active citizenship in what was called a 'Big Society' under the 2010 - 2015 coalition government. This has since lost prominence as a policy although volunteer led groups are still attempting to compensate for cuts in public expenditure, for example, by taking on management of some small leisure facilities that were formally run by local government (Nichols et al 2015).

In Denmark, the importance of, and expectations towards, civil society (associations and volunteers) has been mentioned by the past three governments in the so-called 'Government Platform'. The previous government (2010) wanted to increase the proportion of volunteers in the population from 35 percent to 50 percent, and almost all the municipalities have objectives to strengthen cooperation with associations and volunteers.

In the Netherlands, the shift from national welfare services to more civil-based social services has been labelled by the government as the need for a "doing-democracy" (Kabinet der Nederlanden - Rutten II 2013). The government considers social initiative and social entrepreneurship to be a powerful development and aims to promote and support this. However, the government must actively contribute to "doing-democracy" by supporting the

development of civil initiatives. Over the last decade, there has been increasing attention on volunteering as a way to actively involve citizens in society (Boss, et al. 2011). Volunteering is considered a way for immigrants to get acquainted with the community, or as a way to get people out of their isolation and lead them back to the labour market, by social activation and reintegration. The changing governmental volunteering policy is the result of a reconsideration of the role and task of the national government and the restructuring of the welfare state. In the new legislation on social welfare, youth and social care, health care, employment and participation, tasks and responsibilities have been shifted from the central government to municipalities. At the same time the budget for these tasks has been reduced because the idea is that these can be executed more efficiently on a local level, Municipalities have to do more with a smaller budget. The decentralizations therefore require a new way of involving citizens and organisations in their neighbourhood. It can no longer be expected that the government provides care or services which are indispensable. Responsibilities and duties are shifted to the citizens. Preparatory surveys show that a part of the voluntary organisations is willing to engage in the new local partnerships and social services. This holds true also for sports clubs, which report that they are prepared to find voluntary jobs for unemployed people. By doing so, they may also strengthen their own capacities, and this could have a positive effect on their public image.

In Flanders, the increased focus on volunteering has brought about new legislation. In the aftermath of the UN International Year of Volunteering in 2001, Flanders, in 2005, established a legal framework on volunteering that applies to all kinds of volunteering throughout Flanders. This legislation grants a clear status to the volunteer and a form of legal security to both voluntary organisations and volunteers themselves that has lowered the barriers to engage in voluntary work (VSF, 2015). This law, regulated on a national level, has a certain impact on the organisation of the community sports clubs at the local level. Through the 'Act on Volunteers', it is decided that it is the responsibility of the organisation, for which the volunteer works, to take out civil liability insurance for the volunteer. It is not mandatory for organisations to have insurance for physical injuries, but most organisations do provide this insurance for their volunteers as well.

In an effort to promote a more 'civil-based social service', the Netherlands has tried to minimize restrictive rules for civil initiatives and voluntarism. With the transfer of responsibilities to municipalities in the context of decentralization, the government aims at reduced pressure from regulations. During the preparatory phase of legislation and regulation, the effects for voluntary and civil society initiatives will therefore have to be explored beforehand (Plasterk & Rijn, 2014). The same was attempted in Denmark several years ago.

In several countries, volunteers can receive tax-free remuneration (Flanders, Denmark, the Netherlands and Germany). In Flanders, volunteers can receive a maximum of  $\in$  30 per day and  $\in$  1.200 per year on top of the reimbursement of their expenses. However, the payment of remuneration to volunteers is not mandatory for organisations. In Germany, volunteers working for the clubs as coaches, instructors or caretakers are able to earn some amount of money, a lump sum of  $\in$  2,400 per year, tax free. Volunteers working at board level are able to receive a lump sum of  $\in$  720 per year without being taxed. However, the same person is not able to receive both types of lump sum. In the Netherlands, a duty-free reimbursement for volunteers has been embedded (max. 4.5 euros/hour; 1,500 euros yearly). In Denmark,

legislation permits people who do voluntary work to receive around € 650 per year to cover expenses without being taxed and without evidence of the expenditure.

At national organisational level, the sports organisations and federations seek to strengthen voluntary work by helping sports clubs with various different tasks:

- Volunteer recruitment (e.g. Flanders, Denmark and Switzerland). E.g. by providing an
  online volunteer database, where organisations and candidate volunteers can offer and/
  or ask for volunteer work.
- Management of volunteers (e.g. Flanders and Denmark). Sports organisations arrange
  seminars for board members of clubs to learn how to deal successfully with their volunteers, how to keep them motivated, how to reward them etc. In Flanders, sports clubs
  are also assisted in administrative tasks in order to get their volunteer policy organised
  in a legally correct way.
- Recognition of volunteers (e.g. Flanders and Denmark). In Flanders, the election of a
   'Volunteer of the Year' or 'Coach of the Year', etc. are ways to reward volunteers. These
   elections are organised by the full range of local authorities, regions, sports services,
   sports federations, etc. and even foundations, financial and corporate companies. The
   yearly 'Week of the Volunteer' with numerous activities also helps to promote volunteering, and is regarded as a way to recognize volunteers.
- Courses and non-formal educations for voluntary leaders (board members, treasurers etc.) (e.g. Flanders and Denmark). In the Netherlands, national government had been involved in the education of voluntary coaches, sports instructors and referees for decades (1950-2010). The Ministry of Health, Wellbeing and Sports judged the educational programmes, subsidized approved courses and supervised exams. These tasks have now been shifted to NOC\*NSF.
- Support and advice to sports clubs regarding volunteering (directly and indirectly via web based support) (e.g. Flanders, England and Denmark). Among other things, sports organisations provide support regarding statutory and legal matters, tax and VAT, volunteer management, insurances, funding, general administration etc. This is provided in a wide variety of learning facilities (information on the website, booklets, leaflets, seminars, online assistance, helpdesk, individual guidance and many more) as well as through the providence of management tools (Flanders), workshops, mentoring, club improvement plan, club review tool and an accreditation scheme for community sports clubs (England). Attainment of Sport England's Clubmark accreditation requires volunteers in the club to hold coaching awards. For example, the first level of Football coaching courses involves 32 hours of training and costs between £100 and £140. This has to be paid for by the volunteer or the club.
- Club development programmes with a focus on volunteer work (e.g. Denmark).

In Poland, the government (different ministries) implements a policy concerning the promotion of voluntary work, which the national sports organisations are responsible for in most of the other countries. The government provides a knowledge portal concerning sports voluntary services, where e-learning materials for this subject area are published; it organises a series of social studies, conferences, meetings and training sessions within the area of voluntary service; it supports voluntary service, e.g. by legal and tax alleviations; it implements a 'Social Capital Development Strategy 2020', where one priority is the development and strengthening of organised forms of civic activity.

In summary, the analysis in this chapter shows that it is a political priority in most of the ten countries to increase participation in sport for inactive groups and to promote social inclusion and integration of socially disadvantaged groups. But usually, this is expressed in very broad terms - as a general goal to increase participation of under-represented groups. However, concrete, binding policies and plans are almost absent. Across the countries, the 'programme model' is the dominant way that the countries seek to promote sports participation in various target groups. It seems to be a general trend, a discourse, in Europe that governments aim to strengthen volunteering and civil society in general along with cooperation between the public and the voluntary sector. The countries strive to promote this objective through legislation which regulates the legal status of volunteers and voluntary organisations, through minimizing restrictive rules for civil initiatives and voluntarism, by offering tax-free remuneration and through programmes and activities within national and regional organisations for sport, which aim to facilitate the recruitment, qualification and retention of volunteers.

# 7. Conclusions and explanations

The comparisons of sports club policies within ten European countries examined in this report with a particular focus on social inclusion and volunteering show both significant similarities and significant differences. Below, we have attempted to summarize the main results from the analysis in eight conclusions. After this, we will discuss – in context of the theories presented earlier – how the differences and similarities between the countries can be explained.

## **Conclusions**

- 1. Across most of the ten countries 'sports for all' or 'recreational sports' is the main priority in sports policy, but there are great differences in how strong the practical support for recreational sport is. The sports policy across countries is also characterized in that it is primarily aimed at club organised sports, but there are some differences on how much the respective countries give priority to this.
- 2. Sports opportunities provided by volunteers almost has a monopoly position within the 'sports for all' policies (especially in terms of public support) in both the universalist welfare states (Norway and Denmark) and the conservative/corporatist welfare states (Germany, Switzerland, the Netherlands and Belgium/Flanders). This is the case even though these countries also have complementary support for club based sports through other policy initiatives aimed specifically at getting more people to be physically active. In England (a liberal welfare state) club based sports also ranks high in ideological significance, but not to the same extent as in the other countries associated with great (economic) support from the public sector. Spain, Hungary and Poland have seen a significant transformation of their respective sports policies over recent decades, since these countries have undergone transformation from authoritarian regimes to democratic countries, and also as a result of the subsequent membership in the EU. The membership in the EU may help explain why there seems to have been a diffusion of ideas, forms of governance and specific policies and programmes for sports from the Central and Western European countries to these countries. But sports policies in these countries are still being influenced by the policies and governance structures, which were built at a time when they were authoritarian regimes, where government control and professionalism played a big role.
- 3. In all countries, sports clubs receive support from the public sector indirectly and directly, but there are significant differences as to how much and how it is provided. The first and most important type of (indirect) support for sports clubs is in the form of access to publicly owned sports facilities. In most of the ten countries, sports facilities are predominantly owned by the local authorities that are responsible for the maintenance and administration of the facilities. In almost all countries (except perhaps in England), the local authorities are the ones which primarily own most of the sports facilities. In some

countries, sports clubs predominantly use the sports facilities for free, while clubs in other countries have to pay for using the facilities, but often the price is lower than what the actual market price would be. This also means that the facility coverage is of great importance for the existence of a sports club.

- 4. In all the countries, sports clubs have the opportunity to get financial support from the public sector, but there are big differences as to how clubs can obtain such financial support. The most common type of economic support is 'targeted subsidy'. That means that the economic support is targeted at specific purposes, target groups etc., which the local authorities have prioritized, and for which sports clubs can apply for money. Less common are 'basic grants' without specific (or few and very general) requirements, which we find in Denmark, Norway and Switzerland. A new kind of relationship between sports clubs and the public sector has developed over the last decades within some of the countries in the form of co-production between sports clubs and local public institutions. Most often, co-production is associated with payment to the sports club or (free) access to facilities and materials at public institutions. The information available leaves the impression that the economic value of the support from the local authorities to sports clubs is relatively low in England and relatively high in Flanders, Germany, Denmark, Norway and Switzerland. In several countries, financial support has been declining over the past decade.
- 5. In all ten countries, the local level of political administration policies (local authorities, local government, municipalities and the like) have the greatest influence on sports clubs. Most countries – in principle – have no (or a weak) direct link between the state and the local sports clubs (Flanders, Denmark, England, Germany, Norway and Switzerland), and in several countries, there is no legislation or similar measure that obligates local authorities to support sports clubs (England, Germany, the Netherlands and Norway). In these countries, the initiative to offer organised sports is left up to sports clubs or other private organisations or institutions, but the activities are supported by the local authorities. In some countries, however, the state has provided a framework for local government support in the form of legislation, decrees, etc. (Flanders, Denmark, Hungary and Poland). However, it is almost entirely left up to each local authority to decide on the scope and nature of local support in accordance with their own (sports) policy views (Flanders and Denmark). This has resulted in large differences between the municipalities as to how much and how clubs are being supported (Flanders, Denmark, Poland, Hungary, Norway and Switzerland). In some countries, however, the state (parliament / ministry) has adopted specific rules on how much the local authorities should spend on sports clubs and / or how the local authorities must support the clubs (e.g. in Denmark where it is a requirement that the clubs have access to municipally owned sports facilities – free of charge or against payment of a minor utilization fee – for activities for children and youth).
- 6. In all the countries, local sports clubs are typically members of a national sports federation/organisation and/or a regional organisation, which is a member of the national confederation of sports. However, it is usually not a requirement for sports clubs

to become members, if they do not think they will benefit from it – for example, if they do not want to compete within a national competitive structure. Formally, the sports clubs are separate and independent of the confederations. As members of the sports Federation and / or regional confederation, sports clubs pay a fee for this membership. The expenses for being a member of a national organisation of sports are very low, however, and almost symbolic in most countries. As a rule, the national organisations for sports do not transfer money directly to member clubs. Norway is an exception, with around 10 percent of the amount that the NIF receives from the state being distributed among the municipalities, where the local sports councils distributes the money between local sports clubs. Occasionally, member clubs can apply for financial support for activities within a programme, which the national organisation has developed.

- 7. In most of the ten countries, it is a political priority to increase participation in sports for inactive groups and to promote social inclusion and integration of socially disadvantaged groups. But, usually, this is expressed in very broad terms as a general goal to increase participation of under-represented groups. It is characteristic for the policies regarding social inclusion that most of the ten countries have goals aimed at increasing sports participation in various target groups and at promoting social inclusion through sport. Concrete, binding policies and plans are almost absent, however. Across the countries, the 'programme model' is the dominant way that the countries seek to promote sports participation in various target groups. This means that the state creates a special programme for a given period, which sports organisations, local authorities and sports clubs can apply through for money to finance a 'project'. A more guiding policy in this area only exists in a few countries (in the form of legislation, decrees etc.).
- 8. It seems to be a general trend, a discourse, in Europe that governments aim to strengthen volunteering and civil society in general, along with cooperation between the public and the voluntary sector. However, practical support for this varies. The countries strive to promote this objective in various ways:
  - a) Through legislation which regulates the legal status of volunteers and voluntary organisations with the aim to lower the barriers to engage in voluntary work.
  - b) Through minimizing restrictive rules for civil initiatives and voluntarism.
  - c) By offering tax-free remuneration.
  - d) Through programmes and activities in national and regional organisations for sports, which aim to facilitate the recruitment, qualification and retention of volunteers.

# What can explain the similarities and differences in sports club policies?

We will now return to the theories presented earlier in this report as possible explanations for the differences and similarities between countries regarding sports clubs policies. As mentioned earlier, the research group has been inspired by three theoretical approaches, which we describe below. In turn, we then discuss how well the theories explain similarities and differences within the sports club policies in the ten countries.

The analysis has brought about useful knowledge about similarities and differences between sports club policies in ten European countries. In the following section, we try to explain similarities and differences through the use of theory. It is important, however, to underline that we cannot 'prove' with this study that similarities and differences between sports club policies can be explained by a certain theory or scientific approach. Studies that are much more comprehensive than this one would be needed to provide such robust conclusions. With this limitation in mind, we suggest, nevertheless, that the similarities and differences observed must be explained historically – at least partly – through differences in welfare state principles and governance and the degree of economic inequality in the specific countries.

## Social origins theory

The first approach, known as 'social origins theory' or 'path dependence theory', argues that the characteristics of the organisational system must be explained historically (Stinchcombe 1965; Salamon & Anheir 1998; Pierson & Skocpol 2002; Anheir and Salamon 2006). The organisational pattern, which was formed several decades ago, has a tendency to endure, although the social conditions that led to the formation of the organisational system have changed in many cases. According to this approach, the organisational and political system largely reflects past ideological trends as well as social conflicts and groupings. Over the years, a number of institutional frameworks have been created, and the organisational system is viewed as more or less 'protected' against new and competing forms of organisation and policy. This 'protection' – among other things – is caused by legislation, and the way the public sector supports, cooperates and exchanges relations with the environment, which has created a mutual dependency. Thus, the basic assumption of this theoretical approach is that the situation relative to a historic time, t1, exerts influence on the situation at a later point in time, t2.

In most of the ten countries, sports policies and the role of sports clubs can be traced back to the formation of the sports system in the country during the period after World War 2. This applies to both the organisational system and the relationship between the public sector on the one side and sports organisations and clubs on the other. In three countries – Spain, Hungary and Poland – the sports system seems to be the result of a combination of the structures established under the authoritarian regimes after World War 2 and a change of organisational structures and policy governance – under the influence of the sports systems and sports policies in other EU countries – in the years following a shift to democracy.

Within this historical perspective, it is useful to consider that societies can be placed on a continuum of 'statism', understood as the extent to which the state or civil society is the principal locus of public life. Anglo-Saxon countries are at the low end of the 'statism' scale. This scale has been used to explain the 'mosaic of local civic institutions that developed in nineteenth-century Britain' (Schofer & Fourcade-Gourinchas, 2001, p. 812), but also to explain why 'voluntary action in Anglo-Saxon countries is still cast in a powerful liberal ideology that continues to celebrate voluntarism as autonomous and jealously defends its arm's length relationship from government'.

## The political opportunity structure

The second theoretical approach seeks to explain the organisational system and policies from the aspects of the current societal context with a particular focus on the limitations and possibilities that the political system and the public sector in general provide (Micheletti, 1994). These societal structures and cultures largely define the 'space', or the 'political opportunity structure', both practical and ideological, within which different organisational forms must act:

- The societal role and ideological status of certain forms of organisation (e.g. associations' and voluntary organisations' role and legitimacy in relation to the public sector and the commercial sector.
- The degree and character of public regulation and control linked to the various organisational forms and institutionalised forms of support.
- The public sector's financial support for sports clubs (directly and indirectly) (see e.g. resource dependence theory (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978).
- The culture, ideals and principles in the public sector (for example, subsidiarity as principle and the degree of decentralisation) (Micheletti 1995; Eisinger 1973; Kriesi 1995).

The analysis indicates that a significant correlation exists between the welfare state typology and sports club policies. The relatively low public support and political steering of the voluntary organised sports in England is linked to characteristics of 'the liberal welfare state'. The universalistic features of sports policy in Norway and Denmark coincide with 'the universalist welfare state'. The subsidiarity principle as a guiding principle for public support for sports clubs is found in countries that can best be characterized as 'conservative / corporatist welfare states' (Germany, Flanders, the Netherlands and Switzerland). But the coincidence between the welfare state typology and sports club policy is not so clear. For example, the strong decentralization policies in Norway and Denmark resemble the principle of subsidiarity, but without using that term. Furthermore, we also find in Denmark and especially Norway the strong corporatist element in sports policy that we especially would expect to find in the corporatist welfare states.

## Interaction of economic equality and other characteristics

The third theoretical inspiration builds on the insights offered by Wilkinson and Pickett (2009) on the relationship between economic inequality and a set of other variables to propose a holistic understanding of societies. Wilkinson and Pickett (2009) have shown a strong correlation between income inequality and a set of indicators of well-being which includes: generalised trust, life-expectancy, infant mortality, obesity, mental illness, educational performance, and health and social problems. In each case income inequality was associated with negative social indicators. This is consistent with Putnam's analysis of the relationship between social capital and economic equality in the United States (2000, 2015).

Tony Veal (2016) has extended the analysis to sports participation and volunteering by using the recent Eurobarometer surveys to include leisure activities, and the analysis shows similar relationships. Across Europe inequality is associated with lower levels of sports participation, leisure time and generalised trust. Further analysis by Nichols and Veal (2013; in

review) has shown that there is also a strong relationship across Europe between income inequality and low levels of volunteering. In relation to this study, Denmark, the Netherlands and Germany have higher levels of volunteering, sports volunteering, and sports participation, and greater equality. Poland and Spain have low levels for all of these, and greater inequality. The United Kingdom also has greater inequality – but higher sports participation and volunteering levels than Spain and Poland. This can be partly interpreted as a historical legacy, reflecting the conditions under which sports participation and the sporting infrastructure developed in the first country to industrialize and develop the modern forms of sport. Thus, we see that countries with high levels of income equality tend to have higher levels of sports participation, volunteering and generalised trust.

Veal (2016) suggests three main explanations for these findings, two of which are of particular interest in relation to this study. Firstly, more equal societies tend to have stronger welfare policies. Direct transfer payments and higher public expenditure ensure that the poor have greater access to facilities and opportunities which the rich can afford to buy for themselves, although the rich can, and do, take advantage of publicly provided/subsidised leisure services. Secondly, culture and values play a strong determining role. A criticism of Wilkinson and Pickett's work is that, if the four Scandinavian countries are excluded, some of the statistical relationships between income inequality and the well-being indicators disappear. This could be attributable to their distinctive culture.

Thus, we conclude that rather than any one variable; such as levels of income equality; being a sole, or main, determining variable explaining differences, we have to understand the characteristics of society as interacting, and this interaction provides a holistic description of different societies. Earlier work examining trust (Delhey and Newton, 2005) came to similar conclusions, which can be related to associational life and volunteering.

'This set of factors forms a single, theoretically and empirically cohesive syndrome of variables associated with trust: Protestantism, the accumulation of wealth, an absence of corruption, and equality go together; income equality and ethnic homogeneity are linked; democracy, the absence of corruption, and income equality are also associated with one another; democracy and public institutions to promote economic well-being and a common sense of citizenship are mutually supportive. In turn, generalized social trust is easily linked in theoretical terms to each of these variables, either as a cause or an effect, or both. Trust is strongest where all these conditions are found in the purest combinations - the Nordic countries.' (Delhey & Newton, 2005, p.324).

This is an important theoretical point because rather than seeking one dominant determinant variable, we understand a type of society as being represented holistically by a set of variables which interact. To contrast two countries in our study: Denmark is characterised by higher equality. It has high levels of generalised trust, volunteering, sports participation and leisure time. It has stronger social welfare policies – for example, sports clubs enjoy free use of municipally owned facilities. Compare this with England. Here, income inequality is higher, there are lower levels of generalised trust, volunteering, sports participation and leisure time, and welfare policies are less supportive: for example, sports clubs have to rent municipal facilities.

We would expect a high level of generalised trust to permeate all social relations, such as between sports clubs and municipalities, and national sports Federations and government. A high level of generalised trust may encourage sports clubs to welcome and foster new members who are 'different'.

Of course, as noted earlier, 'social origins theory' can explain the historical influences affecting any one 'type' of society, as described above, but also why a country deviates from its specific type. The history and culture is superimposed onto the present. Understanding why countries are 'different' helps us understand which practices – in terms of supporting sports clubs and volunteering – may transfer from one to the other, and which ones may not. An implication of this holistic view is that no one variable can be considered in isolation as determining other characteristics of society.

# 8. Inspiration for further research

We end this report with a number of assumptions – or expectations – for research into the links between the macro-level (historical, socio-structural, economic and cultural conditions), the meso-level (Federations and sports clubs) and the micro-level (members and volunteers). We will seek to illuminate some of these in future analysis in this research project, but it does not apply to all of them. We hope that they function as 'inspiration for thinking 'and' guidelines for future research".

- 1. There is a correlation between the key characteristics of the different welfare state typologies and key characteristics of sports policy.
- 2. In a society with higher levels of generalised trust the relationship between clubs, Federations and government will be based more on a shared set of goals and values; rather than being conditional on specifically measured performance indicators.
- 3. In a more equal society
  - 3.1. the higher levels of generalised trust will be reflected in sports clubs who will therefore be more trusting and open to new members they will have a broader subjective definition of 'one of us' the subjective definition of 'bonding' social capital.
  - 3.2. club members will be more likely to regard the clubs as an expression of a shared set of interests and feel a moral obligation to volunteer; while in more unequal societies, club members may regard membership as more like a market transaction with no moral obligations.
  - 3.3. with higher levels of generalised trust, clubs are more likely to share objectives of making sports participation accessible to all people, irrespective of gender, age, ability, ethnicity etc.
- 4. Clubs can contribute to generalised trust at the level of society as well as reflecting it. If the level of trust is higher in a club than in society, there will be the possibility of relations in the club contributing to an increase in generalised trust in society, although this may not necessarily occur.
- 5. Expectations of volunteering to create organisations independent of the state reflect historical traditions and circumstances. In countries which have experienced a centralisation of state control, there will not be the same tradition of volunteering to create an organisation reflecting shared enthusiasms, independent of the state, as in countries with a long tradition of that.
- 6. The more sports clubs and national federations depend on the state, the stronger the relationships between them and government are, and so the easier it is for government to influence clubs and federations to promote government objectives.

- 7. The more clubs are dependent on national federations, the more clubs can be influenced indirectly to support national government policies promoted through the federations.
- 8. The strongest relationship between government policy and the work of sports clubs is at municipality level, because this is the level at which clubs operate and where government can be most sensitive to local needs.
- 9. The relationship between sports clubs and municipalities will be strongest where government follows the principle of subsidiarity, with as much decision-making as possible devolved to the lowest possible level of administration.
- 10. Sports clubs are more likely to share government aims of sports being generally good for individuals and society, than they are to share the idea of sports being used as a means to an end, such as promotion of health or social inclusion.

# 9. Country summaries

As described earlier, the analysis presented above builds on descriptions of sports club policies in the ten countries included in this project. In this section, we present brief summaries of these descriptions from each country. By reading these, you as the reader will have the opportunity to grasp the context in which the policies are placed that are mentioned in the analysis. This can provide you with a more complete picture of sports club policies in each country.

## **Belgium (Flanders)**

Jeroen Scheerder, Elien Claes & Hanne Vandermeerschen

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The 2005 Law on Volunteering defined 'volunteering' and regulates: (i) volunteering carried out by persons with a public allowance (pensions, subsidies, etc.), (ii) reimbursement of expenses incurred by volunteers, (iii) liability of volunteers, (iv) insurance obligations and (v) obligation on behalf of the organisation to provide information. This legislation defines a legal status for the volunteer and clear legal obligations and rights for voluntary organisations and volunteers themselves. Insurance for physical injuries is not mandatory, but most organisations will provide this for their volunteers as well. In Belgium, volunteers can receive a tax-free remuneration up to a maximum of  $\in$  30 per day and  $\in$  1,200 per year on top of the reimbursement of their expenses. However, the payment of a remuneration to volunteers is not mandatory for organisations. The implementation of a clear system of expenses and a significant limitation of liability of volunteers has lowered the barriers to engage in voluntary work. This national law has had an impact on the organisation of community sports clubs.

Since the constitutional revision in Belgium in 1970, no national governmental administration or policy on sport exists. Due to the application of the principle of subsidiarity, ensuring that matters are handled at the lowest possible political and administrative level, and as close to the citizens as possible, there is no direct relationship (political or economic) between the government at national level and the community sports clubs in Belgium. Political power and institutions are separated between the federal government level, the three community governments (Flemish Community, French Community and German-speaking Community), and the three regional governments (Flemish Region, Walloon Region, and Brussels Capital Region).

As a part of the cultural sphere, governmental competences with regard to sports, such as the organisation of sport (e.g. the qualification of persons responsible for managing sports and the coordination of elite sports), sports policy planning and subsidising of sports federations, are the exclusive responsibility of the three communities. The regional and local level has the main responsibility for sports. At national level, there are some overarching responsibilities for sports, e.g. security at football matches.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

The division of Belgium into three administrative regions implies that the rest of this description only concerns Flanders, the Northern part of Belgium.

In Flanders, there is no direct relationship between the regional government and community sports clubs. The sports Federations and the local sports administrations serve as mediating partners between the Flemish government and the community sport clubs.

The Flemish government wants to tackle barriers for participation. Five target groups can be identified, i.e. people living in poverty, prisoners, people with disabilities, people with a migration background and families with young children. To support and stimulate participation of these disadvantaged groups, a structural and a project-based approach is implemented simultaneously. One example is subsidizing an association which provides sports programmes in prisons. Once a year, the Flemish government launches one or more project calls, with a focus on a specific theme or target group. Sports clubs have the opportunity to respond to these, but in practice social inclusion policies appear to be mainly implemented outside sports clubs.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

As a consequence of the subsidiarity principle, the specific interpretation and implementation of Sports for All initiatives is handled by the local authorities. This was emphasized in 2012 by issuing a new decree concerning local sports policy or Sports for All policy at the local level. The decentralization of sports policy actions, as well as the reinforced role of local sports departments as regulators of grassroots sport policies are the core principles of the legislation. The support and subsidizing of voluntary sports clubs is mainly the role of local governments (i.e. municipalities).

The decree on local sports policy (Flemish government, 2012) includes four policy priorities: (i) to support the qualitative development of sports clubs through a targeted subsidy, (ii) to stimulate sports clubs to professionalise their organisation with a special emphasis on the quality of youth sports, (iii) to conduct an activation policy striving for lifelong sports participation through alternative organisation of sport and accessibility of sport and (iv) to focus on transversal cooperation in order to support the inclusion of specific target groups in sport. The municipalities can choose how to meet these guidelines, in accordance with their own (sports) policy. Local governments develop their sporting goals, covering a period of five years. This results in large differences between the sports policies of the 308 Flemish municipalities.

Municipalities in Flanders receive funds from the central Flemish government to develop Sports for All policies (i.e., an annual financial support of about 14 million euros for a six year period). Municipalities are responsible for the allocation of about 75 percent of the regular public funding for sports in Flanders. If local municipalities address the four policy priorities, they receive  $\in$  2.4 per inhabitant from the Flemish government. For each inhabitant, the local municipality adds a minimum of 30 percent from its own resources. At least 60% of the above total of  $\in$  3.2 per inhabitant must be assigned directly to the sports clubs according to a Flemish grant regulation.

Municipalities support the development of sports clubs through a targeted subsidy in order to professionalise their organisation. Special emphasis is on the quality of youth sports and supporting the inclusion of specific target groups in sport. The inclusion of target groups in sport is a policy of the local sports authorities. This means that the local sports authorities can incorporate working towards social inclusion objectives as a condition of their subsidy to

sports clubs. However, recent research shows that the latter only occurs to a limited extent. Local sports departments aim to attain social goals mainly through the sports activities they provide directly, rather than through their policies towards sports clubs. Nevertheless, this differs between municipalities. For example, certain Flemish municipalities recently engaged in a new participation project, called 'UiTPAS'. This is an integrated system to provide sports opportunities for everyone, and especially for people living in poverty, in a non-stigmatising way and at a lower price. This involves activities provided by the municipality itself, as well as by the civic and private sector.

However, in January 2016, the legislation for local sports policy was changed again. The Flemish subsidies for several policy domains such as culture, sport, youth, development aid, etc. were integrated into the overall subsidies which Flemish cities and municipalities already receive from the Flemish government in order to offer more autonomy and less administration for the local governments (*Gemeentefonds*). With this integration, the conditions to receive subsidies and the earmarks of the subsidies disappeared. It is too soon to identify the effects of this adjustment. Questions arise as to whether the local sports sector will be strong enough to adapt to this change and to at least acquire the same resources as before.

## The role of national governing bodies of sports / sports federations

While most of the sports federations have a national level structure, the regional level is the more important level. Thus, there is a Flemish level sports confederation, and Flemish level sports federations. In 2016, Flanders included 38 sports federations that represent and administer one particular sport each, 27 recreational sports federations representing one or more sports, and four organisations for sports-related leisure. These federations are financed by the Flemish government. In addition, another 23 sports federations are recognized but not financed.

The umbrella sports federation in Flanders is the *Vlaamse Sportfederatie* (VSF - Flemish Sports Confederation). The Flemish Sports Confederation represents the member sports federations (up to 90) before the government and supports their members at legal, administrative, organisational and policy levels. The 'Dynamo Project' of the Flemish Sports Confederation guides and supports board members of sports clubs in domains such as statutory and legal matters, tax and VAT, volunteer management, insurance, funding, general administration and many other areas. Support to the sports club's voluntary board members is provided through a wide variety of learning facilities (information on the website, booklets, leaflets, group seminars, online assistance, helpdesk, individual guidance and many more) as well as through the provision of management tools (bookkeeping, website hosting, etc.). In this way, sustainable, efficient and effective management of sports clubs is being promoted and facilitated although no measurable objectives are defined. Support from the Flemish Sports Confederation pays special attention to increasing social inclusion, as described below, and volunteering.

VSF includes four target groups in its policy: (i) people living in poverty, (ii) ethnic minority groups, (iii) people with disabilities and (iv) elderly people. Sports federations and clubs can contact the VSF for guidance on working with these groups, although they have no obligation to be involved in such programmes. VSF developed, in cooperation with the federations, an online guide for sport clubs to reduce the barriers to participation. We have no information to what extent this reached the clubs. It remains unclear whether it has an impact

on the field.

The sports federations have to meet basic criteria in order to receive subsidies from the Flemish government. These basic criteria are related to the organisation of competitive and/or recreational sport, the organisation of training courses, guidance of sports clubs, and the promotion of their own sport(s). For most federations, governmental subsidies are the main funding source. An average Flemish sports federation depends on public subsidies for 50 to 60 percent of their resources. In addition, the sports federations can sign up for a programme of action to promote a particular policy objective – in return for more funds. One of the (facultative) options is the promotion of sports participation by a 'priority target group'. The priority group changes each policy term. From 2003 to 2004, the policy focused on people with a migration background, from 2006 to 2008 on people with disabilities, from 2009 to 2012 on people above 55 years of age and from 2013 until today on healthy sports participation of juveniles in sports clubs. A relatively low number of federations have agreed to take part in these programmes.

A second decree related to the theme of social inclusion is the decree on healthy and ethical sports. The recognized sports federations in Flanders are required to take action for healthy and ethical sports practice. The Flemish government prioritizes six main themes: (i) the rights of children in sports, (ii) inclusion, (iii) fair play, (iv) physical and psychological integrity of the individual, (v) respect for diversity and (vi) solidarity. Each ethical theme includes three concrete guidelines. The federations are required to work on at least one of the themes and to incorporate two guidelines into their policy in order to deliver actions which are visible in the field, both at club level as well as at participant level. Doing this is a condition of funding. Flemish youth clubs consider healthy and ethical sports to be an important task of youth sports clubs. The fair play theme is popular with the clubs, while inclusion and solidarity are less popular. Flemish youth clubs mainly lack knowledge and expertise for the application of the different ethical issues, with the exception of fair play. Flemish youth clubs that have established a policy or that have a responsible person for healthy and ethical sports, score significantly better.

Sports clubs in Flanders are supported in their recruitment, coaching and retaining of volunteers. Help on recruitment is provided via a volunteer online database, organisations and candidate volunteers can offer/ask for volunteer work. A website (www.vrijwilligerswerk.be) to facilitate this is not confined to sports clubs. Many sports federations also support their clubs with regard to the recruitment of volunteers via their website. The Dynamo Project, outlined above, provides seminars for board members of clubs to learn how to motivate and reward volunteers. Sports clubs are also assisted in ensuring that the administration of volunteers complies with the legislation. The Dynamo Project provides model volunteer contracts and volunteer registration forms.

The Dynamo Project also organises seminars on the retention of volunteers. The election of a 'Volunteer of the Year' or 'Coach of the Year', etc. are ways to reward volunteers. These elections are organised by the full range of municipalities, regions, sports services, sports federations, etc. and even foundations, financial and corporate companies. The annual 'Week of the Volunteer' with numerous activities in this framework also provides a lot of promotion of and appreciation to the volunteers. Moreover, there are very specific training opportunities for volunteering in sports, particularly in the Flemish School for Trainers and Coaches

(Vlaamse Trainers School – VTS). The VTS provides educational programmes to obtain a trainer certificate or degree. VTS is a department of the agency, Sports Flanders. The VTS also organises educational trainings for volunteers. However, this is not a large programme and the sessions are also short (+/- 3 hours).

Because there is no direct link between the government at regional level and the community sports clubs at local level, the sports federations function as intermediate actors between both levels. The relationships between sports federations and sports clubs mainly concentrate on management aspects, rather than on financial matters. Sports federations are expected to contribute to certain policy goals in return for public funding. The federations involve their sports clubs in achieving these policy goals, in return for the organisational and managerial support for the clubs.

#### Historical influences

The divisions of policy-making bodies and the principles of subsidiarity reflect the political composition of Belgium. Belgium has a long tradition of developing and organising sports at grassroots level. As a result, a relatively dense network of sports clubs already existed at the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century. Initially, rationalization and quantification (e.g. standardization of rules, assessing performance and tracking of records) were important characteristics of sports, and soon, there appeared to be a need for an administrative and organisational framework. Consequently, at the time, many of these sports clubs, among which gymnastics clubs, cycling clubs, rowing clubs, track and field clubs, football clubs, tennis clubs etc., had organised themselves into national sports federations, already before the Second and even before the First World War. Flemish sports federations emerged during the thirties and forties of the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

In some sports, especially with regard to gymnastics, a structural segmentation between clubs and federations based on ideological differences (Catholic, liberal and socialist) was used and would mainly persist until the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. From the beginning, sports clubs and federations pursued an autonomous organisation, without too much outside interference and attached great importance to a strong degree of government independence and self-regulation. One of the basic principles on which the club-organised sport is built is the idea that sport and government are separate whenever possible. This strong urge for autonomy largely explains the relatively long run-up to the development of a public administration responsible for sports.

Until the mid-twentieth century, sports clubs and federations were the only actors who gave direction and shape to the sports practice, focusing heavily on competitive sports. In this respect, we could speak of *corporatisation* and *particularisation* of sport, with the principle of self-regulation at the core. Before World War 2, there was hardly any government intervention related to sport in Belgium. Thus, sports clubs and sports associations received no structural subsidies for their operation. The clubs have a strong tradition of being volunteer-led.

After World War 2, an active and conditional public sports policy gradually developed. The fact that the government would continue to engage more in sports in the second half of the last century implied that various levels of government created a sports administration. This *governmentalization process* initially focused on investment in sports infrastructure. Though, inspired by the Sports for All idea, from the seventies, the focus increasingly

switched to encouraging active participation in sports.

During the sixties and seventies of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, sport transformed into a right for everyone. State aid and support was no longer only legitimized, but also desired. In the mid-seventies, the young Flemish sports policy became anchored by a decree. Henceforth, national organisations (i.e. sports federations) and local authorities would be increasingly involved in sports policy as full partners.

The arrival of successive public sports administrations that increasingly developed their own sports activities, and commercial enterprises who *commercialized* sports and fitness as lucrative products, shattered the ancient monopoly of sports clubs and sports federations. It turned out that the latter are no longer the only providers of organised sports. Both public and private actors, profit and non-profit players, as well as new providers and new forms of organisations are now shaping the sports landscape.

Following the market mechanisms of demand and supply, commercial sports organisations such as fitness centres are rapidly increasing in popularity. So-called light communities also entered the sports scene, giving people the opportunity to perform their favourite sport without a 'strong' club membership. These provide an alternative way of practicing sports, outside a regular setting like a sports club, for example, with a group of friends, with little commitment.

Based on legislation, the Flemish government involves the sports federations (which, in turn, involve their clubs) in achieving certain sports policy goals in return for financial support. In recent years, sports policy has been increasingly focused on solidarity and inclusion goals and clubs and federations are stimulated to pursue these goals. Research indicates that the social element is considered to be very important in sports clubs, but mainly among the current members and not necessarily for specific target groups. The club management pays special attention to organising events for members to promote social cohesion in the club, but that does not mean that these events are also open and accessible to target groups.

Today, voluntary organised sports clubs are fairly independent of the state. On average, clubs generate 41 percent of their income from membership fees. Sponsorship covers thirteen percent of the income, while cash operations, funding from the municipalities and surplus from the canteen each cover eleven percent of revenues. Figures indicate that over three quarters of the revenues are generated by the clubs themselves, while the remaining quarter comes from funding and sponsorships. Nevertheless, clubs are heavily supported by the government in an indirect way, mainly through the free or low-priced use of sports infrastructure.

#### **Denmark**

Bjarne Ibsen & Karsten Elmose-Østerlund

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

There is a legal right in the Danish constitution permitting free voluntary association. Thus, establishment of such associations is easy. *The Act on the Allocation of Financial Support to Non-formal Adult Education and Youth Activities* – the 'Leisure Act' – obliges municipalities to give voluntary sports clubs and leisure associations access to indoor and outdoor facilities owned by municipalities free of charge or against payment of a minor fee, or to receive reim-

bursement of two thirds of the cost of renting privately owned facilities when the club members are aged 25 or under. The same act provides economic funding from local government to clubs and associations (typically an amount for each member aged 25 or under).

While sport is supported with reference to its health promotion and social integration functions in the political rhetoric, the political aims and objectives for sports in Denmark are general and vague. The 'Leisure Act' states that the aim of the law is, '.... to promote an understanding of democracy and active citizenship (...) [and to] strengthen the members' ability and desire to take responsibility for their own lives and to participate in society' actively and in a committed manner. Thus, there is a general aim of promoting a pluralist society in which citizens' active participation is promoted. Since 1972, this has been expressed in the general goal of 'sports for all'. However, this has not been associated with specific measurable targets for participation by disadvantaged groups; such as the disabled, the elderly, refugees, etc. Sports organisations and clubs are expected to work for the inclusion of these target groups in sports, but with no precise political goals. Similarly, there are no specific aims stated for volunteering within the field of sports.

The lack of precise targets associated with government objectives reflects the relationship between government and voluntary associations, which is based on a respect for autonomy, but also on trust that associations will act in the spirit of including all members of society.

In common with most countries, Denmark has a national lottery. *The Act on Distribution of Profits from Lotteries and Horse and Dog Betting* states that 70% of the lottery gambling revenues must be distributed to the national sports organisations via the Ministry of Culture,. These are the *National Olympic Committee and Sports Confederation of Denmark* (DIF), the *Danish Gymnastics and Sports Association* (DGI) and the *Danish Association for Company Sports* (DFIF). The national sports organisations receive a percentage of the total revenues of the lottery each year.

There is almost no direct – or indirect – financial support from the state for local sports clubs – the main support comes from municipalities (local government), although enshrined in national legislation. Clubs benefit indirectly if they take part in activities of national sports organisations, which have been funded by central government. Local sports clubs can apply for money from a government fund to promote specific purposes, but this is insignificant overall.

Another legislation area affecting clubs permits people who do voluntary work to receive around €650 per year to cover expenses without being taxed. This represents a subsidy of organisations supported by volunteers.

Under the *Procuring of a Child Certificate in Connection with Employment of Person-nel Act*, clubs must procure certificates for people who perform voluntary or paid work as a coach, instructor or teacher for children under the age of 15, provided that the employment is planned to be for a longer period (more than three months) from the beginning.

#### The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

In Denmark, there is no significant relationship between a regional level of government and sports clubs. Neither is there a regional level of governing body administration for sports.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

As noted above, this is the most important link by far between government and sports clubs, and it is enacted through national legislation. The 98 municipalities in Denmark manage publicly owned sports facilities and cover most of the costs for private non-profit facilities, which constitute a large part of the sports facilities in Denmark. The latest count in 2013 in a Danish context showed the presence of 1494 multifunctional sports halls of more than 800 m2, 5128 soccer pitches, 1934 tennis courts and 259 swimming pools along with many other types of facilities scattered across the country. The free use of these facilities and the reimbursement of two thirds of the cost of renting the privately owned ones for club members aged 25 or under, accounted for 83% of the total public funding for sports in 2012.

Municipalities also provide economic funding to clubs and associations in the form of a fee for each member aged 25 or under. In the municipalities that pay the lowest fee per member, clubs receive 3-4 euros per member, while in the municipalities that pay the most, the clubs receive 10-15 euros. The municipalities can also choose to financially support sports activities for adults, and in most municipalities, all members of sports clubs can use the municipally owned facilities free of charge. It has been estimated that the free use of facilities and the funding based on membership numbers amount to about half of the income of clubs.

Similarly to national government, the aims of municipalities in subsidizing sports are general. To be eligible for subsidized use of facilities, clubs must: be democratically organised; have a purpose in accordance with the 'Leisure Act' (but it is not clarified what is meant by this); and must provide annual accounts. As at the national level, almost none of the municipalities have indicated how they will promote the objectives they state. Specific goals in some municipalities apply almost entirely to the integration of disabled people.

Most municipalities have a committee for distributing municipal subsidies to voluntary sports clubs, leisure associations and associations for non-formal education in the so called 'evening schools'. The committee has members from the municipal board and representatives from sports and leisure associations. This committee decides, in principle, how to support sports clubs and other leisure associations within the realm of the 'Leisure Act'.

## The role of national governing bodies of sports / sports federations

In Denmark, the three national sports organisations are directly supported by national government, through the national lottery proceeds. Thus, the amount of funding is contingent on lottery revenues.

The National Olympic Committee and Sports Confederation of Denmark (DIF) is an umbrella organisation for 61 national sports federations, with, in 2015, approximately 9,000 local clubs and 1,900,000 members. DIF governs both 'sports for all' and 'elite sports' and at the national level, the organisation is responsible for issues of common interest of the different sports federations. At a regional level, the sports federations are divided into district federations.

The Danish Gymnastics and Sports Associations (DGI) is the umbrella organisation for fifteen regional associations (decentralized units of DGI) which focus on 'sports for all' and not on elite sports. DGI has approximately 6,000 clubs and 1,500,000 members in 2015.

The Danish Federation of Company Sports (DFIF) has 80 local company sports associations with approximately 370,000 members. DFIF was founded in 1946, and it paved the way

for the development of a particular Danish tradition of merging the personal and professional sphere by engaging in sporting activities with colleagues.

Most of the sports clubs that are members of at least one sports organisation are members of both DIF and DGI (60 percent), while there is almost no overlap between DFIF and the other two organisations. The cost of club affiliation is extremely low, and therefore represents a very small proportion of the national sports organisations' income. All three organisations coordinate sport in Denmark and represent and advise clubs and federations in their dealings with the state and the public sector. They all organise tournaments, competitions and festivals, they devote considerable resources to courses for members and they provide support, advice and inspiration to sports clubs.

Every four years, funding from the Ministry of Culture to the three individual sports organisations is negotiated. The organisations formulate performance goals, which contribute to the realization of political objectives. Discussions result in a general agreement containing objectives and performance goals for the sports organisations. It is up to each of the sports organisations to decide which initiatives have to be launched to reach the goals in the agreement. The agreement is more a clarification of a social consensus on the role of sport in Danish society, rather than setting measurable targets.

#### Historical influences

In 1849, the absolute monarch gave in to pressure from the people, and the new constitution, 'The Danish Constitutional Act', was enacted. It ensured the people's right to form associations and organisations, which prepared the ground for an expansion in civil engagement. The period towards the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century saw the rise of substantial popular movements from which the values and traditions of many associations are derived. For the development of the Danish welfare state, popular movements had an enormous political significance as democratic partners and opponents. The popular movements included the gymnastics and rifle shooting movement, the sports movement, and the creation of work-based sports clubs.

The formation of the welfare state led to a drastic increase in government support for sport, from 1945 to 1970, combined with relatively little political involvement in the field. The creation of a monopoly on national football pools in 1948 (including the lottery in 1989) and the enactment of the 'Leisure act' in 1969 remain vital to the economic and political autonomy of national sports organisations and local sports clubs respectively.

It characterizes voluntary organised sport in Denmark, where for more than 100 years there has been a competition between sports clubs internally, but also between sports clubs and other providers of sport and physical training. This includes adult education classes and, more recently, private sector fitness and sports centres.

Voluntary organised sport in Denmark is characterized on the one hand by a great independence from the state, but on the other hand is an integral part of the Danish welfare model. The different funding sources for the national sports federations and the clubs mean that there is a strong relationship between national government and the federations, and between municipal government and the clubs. But the relationship between national and local level organisations is weak.

## **England**

Geoff Nichols

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The Department of Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) is responsible for sports policy and its 2015 strategy has also set targets for increasing the numbers and diversity of volunteers in sport. The DCMS funds Sport England which is a 'non-departmental public body' responsible for promoting sports participation. Sport England distributes approximately 20% of the National Lottery proceeds. In the year to December 2014, over £228m was distributed by Sport England in grants, many of these small and to sports clubs directly.

Thus central government policy is defined by the DCMS and implemented largely through Sport England. A policy of promoting 'social inclusion' was promoted by the 'New Labour' government from 1997, although the meaning of this was not clearly defined. This was replaced by the Conservative / Liberal Democrat coalition government of 2010 with an aspiration to increase volunteering as part of reducing the role of the state and promoting active citizenship in what was called a 'Big Society'. The present Conservative government, from May 2015, published a new strategy for sport through the DCMS in December 2015. The aims of this are: promoting health, individual, social and community development, and economic development. It aims to increase participation. It has not set targets for increasing the diversity of sports participants, but it has for those volunteering in sport. Sport England has responded to the DCMS strategy by producing its own (2016) in which it aspires to increase the number of sports participants and volunteers, and make both more representative of society; however with no specific targets.

Limiting immigration is a strongly debated political issue. Thus there are no government policies to increase the inclusion of immigrants through sport. In political opinion, the threats of uncontrolled immigration were, however unjustifiably, associated with membership of the EU, and was a factor in the referendum on EU membership being called in 2016 and its result. In contrast to national government approaches to immigrants, Sport England has strongly promoted increased participation for women, ethnic minorities and the disabled. The main policy to have an impact on sport since 2010 is economic, the considerable reduction in the budgets of local government, which restricts its ability to support participation through facility provision.

Sport England web resources for supporting volunteering and clubs were redesigned in 2015 and combined with those supporting clubs under 'club-matters':

http://www.sportengland.org/sport-you/club-matters/

This has drawn all the support for clubs together in one place and is accessible by any club. The Sport England website has links to the volunteering section of the websites of all the NGBs, and so a prospective volunteer can find opportunities in any particular sport in this way.

Sport England will be providing a total of almost £500m between 2013 and 2017 for 46 NGBs, within 'Whole Sport Plans'. In exchange, NGBs agree to raise participation by specific levels in their sport over a set time period. These levels of participation are being measured through Sport England's annual Active People Survey. If these targets are not met, funding has then been cut.

There is no legislation permitting free association in organisations such as sports clubs – such a right is assumed. The *Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006* required volunteers working with children [under the age of 18] and vulnerable adults to have their criminal records checked in order to assess if they were unsuitable for working with these groups. This check is now conducted by the Disclosure and Barring Service. This normally costs £44. The fee is waived for volunteers, although they still need to have a check made for each organisation they volunteer with.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

In England there is not a significant relationship between a regional level of government and sports clubs. Sport England funds 45 County Sport Partnerships. The CSPs are mainly funded by Sport England and promote Sport England policies of increasing sports participation and activity. They are independent in the sense that each one has a membership of local stakeholders, such as local authorities, universities, members of the business community, NGBs and local sports clubs.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

There is no legislation governing the relationship between local government and community sports clubs that obliges local government to give specific support. However, 38% of clubs hire or lease facilities from local government and these may be at a concessionary rate.

If clubs own their own facilities, and 21% do, they are required to pay rates to local government. However, if they are a charity, or have status as a 'Community Amateur Sports Club' [which gives similar benefits to being a charity but is easier to obtain], the club will automatically receive a concession of 80% on its rates. Local government can use its discretion to allow 100% rates relief, and can use this irrespective of the club being a charity or a CASC. 6,715 clubs have CASC status (out of the approximately 85,000 in England).

The major cuts in local government budgets, enacted by national government since 2010, have led to a more market-led approach to facility provision, such as sports clubs having to compete for facility use. The survey of clubs in this research project shows that access to facilities is the most significant threat to clubs' existence.

Thus, despite national governments having sports strategies, the greatest immediate impact on sports clubs is not legislation, but the degree of support offered by local government, mainly through access to facilities. The economic policies of central government have an indirect impact on influencing the level of this support. More generally, England has an unequal income distribution compared to other European countries. This is associated with lower levels of sports participation, leisure time, volunteering and a set of (negative) health-related indicators. Central government economic and social policies influence this through permitting inequalities to grow and fostering a climate of competition between individuals. A system of governance through top-down, imposed measures of performance, such as those imposed on Sport England in the DCMS 2015 Sport Strategy and those imposed by Sport England on NGBs and county sport partnerships, reflects an attempt to ensure accountability for public funding. It could also be seen to reflect a lack of trust and consensus on objectives; in contrast to the Danish sports system.

## The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

National governing bodies of sport provide support to clubs through professional development officers who are based regionally, regional volunteers and through web-based support. However, the level of support varies greatly between the richest four NGBs and the rest. Volunteers may take roles in the NGB structure right up to national level. NGBs may also provide insurance which covers members for third party claims. In return clubs pay an affiliation fee. In some sports, significant numbers of clubs do not affiliate to an NGB – normally where the clubs do not require a competitive structure, such as walking clubs.

The Sport and Recreation Alliance (SARA) (formerly The Central Council for Physical Recreation) campaigns for the interests of NGBs and sport in general. SARA has conducted sports club surveys in 2009, 2011 and 2013. SARA is funded by Sport England but, consistent with the independence of NGBs, stresses its independence from government.

#### Historical influences

The infrastructure of approximately 85,000 sports clubs, mainly providing a single sport and with an average of 82 playing members (although this varies considerably), reflects the development of clubs from the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century. This followed the codification of much of modern sport through the establishment of NGBs in England. Clubs reflected a free association of individuals around a shared interest, but also a local identity as populations became rapidly urbanized. The almost complete reliance on volunteers to run the clubs initially reflected the amateur traditions of the early NGBs. It has been argued that the proliferation of clubs from the mid-19th century reflected a society where there was room for civic associations to flourish.

A consequence of this development is that 21% of clubs in the survey for this research were founded before 1930, and 49% before 1975. Not only do they feel a strong independence from government, but they also have a perspective that they pre-date most governments and government policies. They do not regard themselves as a policy instrument and this independence can give rise to tensions with the NGBs, if the latter are responding to the conditions of Sport England funding. The small size of clubs, combined with an ethos of equality and antipathy to distinctions of power embodied in a formal management structure, means the same volunteers will take roles of governance and delivery. Social values supporting sport for the sake of its benefits to the individual and society carry over from the 19th century. Thus, local government takes a generally positive view towards volunteer-led sports clubs, despite a more recent market-oriented approach to providing local government services arising from the reduced budgets.

## Germany

Christoph Breuer, Svenja Feiler & Jannik Disch

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

National government funding to community clubs is on the basis of subsidiarity; enshrined in *Article 30* of the German Constitution. This means as much decision making as possible is devolved to the 16 federal states. While the national government does not directly support

the community sports clubs, it directly funds elite level sport, e.g. Olympic training centres. Moreover, national sport federations receive financial support from national government particularly for training and scouting activities. In 2014, funding from national government amounted to a total of  $\in$  55 million for 31 Olympic sport federations ( $\in$  52.6 million), and 23 non-Olympic sport federations ( $\in$  2.4 million). This funding is generally based on two broad categories: basic funding and project funding. While basic funding is predominantly based on sporting success in the previous years, project funding is based on target agreements between the German Olympic Sports Confederation (DOSB) and its member federations. Additionally, national government support is given for participation in international championships and other domestic or international sporting competitions, as well as sports events of national interest and maintaining international sport relations.

Although there is no direct budget which is allocated from the state to the 16 federal states for sports, money from lottery revenue is either allocated to the federal states for sports or directly to the federal sport confederations. Beyond that, the Federal Ministry of the Interior supports social integration programmes of sports clubs with € 11 million per year for "Integration through sport", which focuses on migrants and refugees. The federal states and municipalities can act relatively autonomously, depending on what sports policies they have decided. Apart from this general money for sports (e.g. for the building and renovation of sports facilities), the federal states and municipalities can respond to applications for funds from clubs and promote projects that clubs can apply to support. The federal states also fund sports federations.

National tax law confers several benefits to clubs. Revenue from membership is tax free; from asset management, tax is paid at 7%, and commercial activities are paid at the normal rate of 19%. Volunteers working for the clubs as coaches, instructors or caretakers are able to earn a lump sum of  $\in$  2,400 per year tax free. Volunteers working on the board level are able to receive a lump sum of  $\in$  720 per year tax free (the same person is not able to receive both types of lump sum). The volunteer hours for community sports clubs amounted to 24.1 million hours in Germany in 2012. To the extent that volunteers are paid by the clubs, this indirect subsidy is considerable.

#### The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

As noted above, in Germany the greatest influence on sports clubs is from the 16 federal states who meet once a year to coordinate sports policy. This is largely independent of national government. The federal states give financial support to communities for the construction of sports facilities, for the payment of salaries of trainers and coaches, to fund the sports organisations at federal level, to meet the running costs of the associations of youth education and the education and training of sports teachers, and to fund sports research at universities. The priority of the federal states is the promotion of recreational sports inside and outside of sports organisations, although they also support elite sports.

The federal states provide direct subsidies to clubs and through municipalities (local government). In 2012, subsidies from local municipalities amounted to  $\in$  1,700 per club per year. In total, public funds from the local level for the 91,000 German sports clubs amounted to approximately  $\in$  156.6 million nationwide. Moreover, the federal states subsidized community sports clubs with approximately  $\in$  45.8 million (averaging  $\in$  500 per club).

#### The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

At municipal level, sports programmes offered by community sports clubs are crucial to culture, education, youth, children, social matters, health, and the integration of migrants.

Local government is attempting to achieve these goals by giving direct subsidies to the sports organisations and indirect subsidies through the usage of sports facilities either for free or for a low fee, fiscal privileges and tax advantages. The overall expenditure for sports facilities, their modernization and maintenance in 2008 amounted to  $\in$  22.6 billion. More than 70% of investment and maintenance costs of public sports facilities were paid by the municipalities. The volunteer hours for community sports clubs amounted to 24.1 million hours in 2012, equating to a monetary value of  $\in$  4.3 billion.

Furthermore, local government is attempting to increase the collaboration of community sports clubs with schools, other sports clubs, kindergartens, or statutory health insurance, in the hope of providing easy access to a wide variety of sports and through this, to enhance the orientation of clubs towards public welfare. These elements illustrate the great importance of indirect financing in this sector, which the functioning of sports clubs greatly depends on.

## The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

The German Olympic Sports Confederation (DOSB) represents the interests of its 98 member organisations. The member organisations of the DOSB unite 16 regional sports confederations ("Landessportbünde"), 62 national sports federations ("Spitzenverbände") and 20 sports federations with special tasks. All member organisations are financially and organisationally independent from the DOSB, as are all community sports clubs.

Community sports clubs are firstly organised at the level of multiple sports into sports confederations (municipal, local and regional sports confederations), regardless of the disciplines/sports involved. Secondly, they are organised, at the level of specific disciplines/sports, into corresponding governing bodies (local, regional and national sports federations). Regional sports confederations have responsibilities similar to those of the DOSB, at the level of the federal state. They discuss the general direction of sports development, e.g. including task forces and workshops on regional, district and municipal level. Moreover, they coordinate the distribution of public subsidies from the regional governments for the education of coaches, trainers and managers, and of subsidies for the general development of a sport.

Regional sports confederations have policies in different areas, such as education, qualification, and integration. Also, the support of voluntary engagement and integration through sports programmes are the responsibility of the sports confederations. Each regional level also has a 'Youth Sports department' ("Sportjugend"). Through this, regional sports confederations provide support to youth sports in the clubs. For example, the Sportjugend deploys specialists for youth sports, educates young club members and partially funds leisure time activities. The Sportjugend also supports projects such as "Safe Sport", a research project which aims to protect children and adolescents from sexual violence.

The national sports federations support sport-specific federations at the regional level to fulfil strategic and operational management tasks for their sport. The same applies to sport-specific federations on the regional level, which represent the sport federations at lower levels, i.e. the districts and municipalities. In particular, their tasks include the recruitment, selection and support of young talented sports players, as well as the education and devel-

opment of coaches. Sports clubs pay a membership fee to the respective federation and also when registering a team to play in a competitive league.

Community sports clubs can apply to the sports federations for funds associated with specific projects initiated by the federations, or to the DOSB for projects initiated by the DOSB.

For example, the DOSB is supporting a project which aims to build sustainable structures for the recruitment of volunteers. The measures for participating clubs include an analysis of the executive management, allocation of tasks and duties, job descriptions, development of an acknowledgment culture, etc. Another programme of the DOSB is "Integration through Sport" (see also above). The DOSB assists clubs in their integration work conceptually and organisationally. A further example is "Die Sterne des Sports" (stars of sport) which is a project of the DOSB that aims to honour the innovative ideas and engagement of sports clubs. In 2016, a club in the federal state of Hesse won the prize of  $\in$  10,000 for welcoming and integrating refugees through offering them free membership. Clubs can also apply for funds for projects that they have initiated themselves. If the DOSB of the regional federations perceives the project as reasonable and value adding, it will be approved and financially supported (for an example see above, "Sterne des Sport"). In 2010, subsidies from sports organisations amounted to approximately  $\in$  110 million, resulting in an average of about  $\in$  1,200 per club.

The DOSB leadership academy ("DOSB Führungs-Akademie") provides training in management for club officials. Examples are workshops in the area of strategy and project development, as well as management, development of leadership guidelines, workflows and organisational charts, and job descriptions. Moreover, clubs can learn how to receive financial support from federations, how to deal with accounting standards, and how to run their own workshops and conferences.

## Historical influences

About a third of the German population is a member of one of the 91,000 sports clubs. These clubs provide multiple sports, and also develop young and talented athletes to participate at elite level. Clubs provide a feeling of community, conviviality, social inclusion and common purpose in a different way from commercial providers such as fitness centres. German clubs initially developed from gymnastics clubs in the 19th century. Following the 1848 revolution, these also had a political function. After the First World War, British sports were incorporated, leading to multi-sports clubs, although some clubs were founded for individual sports. Under the National-Socialist regime, sports administration was centralised as sport became a vehicle for national status and prestige.

Following 1945 there was a strong post-war reaction against the centralisation of sports and a desire to re-establish sports as part of civil society. As a consequence, the role of national government is limited, and Germany does not have an individual ministry of sports (responsibility for sport is part of the Federal Ministry of the Interior). Instead, federal states and municipalities develop polices relatively autonomously and have the greatest influence on sports in their respective region. This explains the source of financial support for clubs: 3.3 % coming from national government, 17.1 % from regional government and 79.6 % from local government. Thus, the local government level is by far the most important for the provision of facilities and the delivery of sports services.

The German Olympic Sports Confederation (DOSB) was formed in 2006 from the merger of the National Olympic Committee for Germany (NOC) and the German Sports Association, DSB). These two organisations were themselves founded in 1949 after the establishment of the Federal Republic of Germany. The DSB was created to represent gymnastics and sports clubs, rather than to direct them, again as a contrast to the centralisation under National-Socialism. The merger of the DOSB and NOC represents the integration of mass participation and elite-level sport. Thus, the German sports club system lays the foundation for top-level Olympic sports.

## **Hungary**

Szilvia Perényi

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The national government organisations and legislation have to be understood within the rapid transition from state socialism to a free-market economy, which began in 1998/9. The relationship between national government and sport changed from being centrally controlled and funded. The transition has involved six different governments since 1989 and therefore there has been a discontinuity in sports policy and the governance of sport. It has also involved redefining the relationship between the state and civil society.

In 2010, sport was declared to be one of the strategic branches of Hungarian society and economy by the newly elected government. The Act on Sport (2011) strengthened sports participation as a right; "all men shall have the right to sport and this right is guaranteed by the state, regardless of whether it be competitive sport, leisure, student and college-university sport, sport for the disabled or the preservation of health". Within the strategic restructuring of sports organisations, new funding procedures, projects tackling grass-roots sports and the renewal of sports infrastructures are being implemented.

In Hungary, national government responsibility for sport is administered by the state secretariat of sports, which operates under the Ministry of Human Capacities. The state secretariat coordinates sports affairs within the Hungarian government, for the civil sphere of sport, and on national and international forums. It prepares and coordinates legal regulations and national and international grant procedures. It negotiates government funding for sports and distributes it to the civil sphere. It oversees two state-funded, but independently-operating organisations as well: the National Sports Institute and the National Sports Centres (restructured under the 2011 Act on Sport).

In the Hungarian sports sector, civil organisations, non-profit private organisations and profit-oriented enterprises can operate and provide sport services. The 2004 Act on Sport defined sports clubs and sports enterprises as the two basic organisational forms in the sport subsystem. Within this framework, sports enterprises can choose from several legal forms based on a complicated regulation, logic. Limited companies and shareholder groups are allowed in competition sports, while in leisure sport, independent sole-traders and forms of joint companies are also permitted, besides the classical and traditional form of sports clubs. Sports clubs and sports foundations represent the non-profit sector in sport, but non-profit limited companies can also be found within sport.

However, sports clubs are the traditional and basic units of the Hungarian sports sector. They can be formed as civil initiatives by an association of ten individuals, according to its legal statutes, and must be registered in court (1989. II. Act, 2-3.§;6 -7.§, and the recently modified Civil Law, 2011). Clubs have their own bank accounts, and are subject to tax payments. Clubs must have an annual general meeting, where professional and financial reports of the past year and budgets for the following year are approved. In between these meetings, a voluntary board is responsible for daily operation. In general, boards are led by a president and board members. Most clubs attempt to appoint economically or politically influential individuals to their boards with the hope of additional support for their programmes.

The Sports Act of 2004 allowed clubs to re-register as not-for-profit companies, and so the operation of the clubs became more business-like, using managerial methods adopted from the private sector. This process also introduced the use of paid management staff in the leadership of these "companies", replacing the volunteer role of the club president. Paid managers are responsible for day-to-day management tasks and are involved in the strategic planning of the club. In these newly-formed, non-profit establishments, volunteer work in the strategic planning and in the daily operation is reduced. Volunteers are only involved with national, international or world events.

From 2011, the *Amendments of the 2004 Act on Sport 2011* created a structure in which tasks are grouped together and assigned to responsible institutions so as to eliminate overlapping responsibilities and create a transparent financing-support system with clear control. Under this act, the Hungarian Olympic Committee (HOC) was appointed as the non-governmental umbrella organisation, and became responsible for distributing all state funding for sport in five key areas: (i) Olympic sports, (ii) non-Olympic sports, (iii) student and university sports, (iv) leisure sports, and (v) disabled sports. All sports federations which represent the different sports were structured under their respective division within the HOC, and continued to organise their competition system, national teams, regional structure and club members as before.

Sports organisations receive funding from the state budget and from grants, and they have their own resources from donations, sponsorship, events, and memberships. The state budget is distributed by HOC through the above-mentioned five branches. The allocation follows the elite performance, international success and talent management logic, which provides the dominant proportion of funding to Olympic and Paralympic sports and a minority of resources to sport for all causes. Leisure sports received 1.9% of the total of sport-related funding, while student and university sport, disabled sport and non-Olympic sports shared 25% of total sports funding distributed by HOC in 2011.

In 2011, a funding method was introduced for so called "spectacle team sports" named as the new Financial Support Scheme (TAO). This allowed private companies to give support to clubs, federations, municipalities, non-profit companies, companies, foundations, or HOC in relation to five team sports (football, basketball, handball, ice hockey and water polo) and receive a 19% reduction on their tax liabilities. The supported sporting programmes were required to target sport for under-18-year-olds. Funding could be used for participation in competitions; wages, salaries and training of sport professionals; facility rental, reconstruction and construction; or sports equipment. National sports federations had a right of approval of the sport-related content of the sports programmes submitted under this funding method.

In the 2011/12 financial year 1,550 sports development programmes were submitted, valued at 900 million euros, 75% of which referred to club programmes and 25% to federation programmes. The overwhelming majority was in football (69.9%), in comparison to basketball (11.8%), handball (7.9%), ice hockey (6.3%) and water polo (3.2%). 744 bids were awarded. These sports experienced a 41% increase in participation between 2001 and 2014.

In addition, a new sports development funding programme was enacted to run from 2014-2020, which allocated new state-funding resources (approx. 3 million per year) to 16 traditionally successful Hungarian sports, e.g. fencing, kayak-canoe, swimming, gymnastics, judo and wrestling. This programme was broadened with lower levels of funding to 18 non-Olympic, mostly outdoor sports. The 'leisure sports' branch still lacks central funding solutions, which is associated with low sport participation rates in the country. Although participation in mass sporting events in running, cycling, and long-distance swimming have become more popular, citizens above the age of 18 prefer individual sports in their leisure time and practise sports outside of any organisational frame.

Funding from betting is channelled into sport as well. The 2011 Amendments on the 2004 I Act on Sport stipulated the distribution of 12% of tax revenues from lotteries, and 50% of tax revenues from sports betting, which is used to fund football, where funding is distributed to member clubs by the national federation of football.

Volunteer involvement is regulated by the 2005 LXXXVIII törvény on voluntary activities in the public interest. The act articulates volunteer involvement as an activity "with public aim" and carried out within a host organisation "without compensation" by "any person with legal capacity above the age of ten". Volunteers, as regulated by the act, may receive compensation in kind for their contribution in the form of travel cards, accommodation, uniforms, meals, and may also receive a monthly amount, which equals up to 20% of the minimum wage without being taxed. The 2011, CXC Act on National education also refers to volunteer involvement as being in accordance with section 4, §15. Before completing their final exams for middle level education (high school), all students must complete 50 hours community work with a partner organisation of their school.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

In Hungary, there are 7 NUTS regions (Central Hungary; Central Transdanubia; Western Transdanubia; Southern Transdanubia; Northern Hungary; Northern Great Plain; Southern Great Plain), which consist of 20 municipalities. The 7 NUTS regions do not have any structure for sport. The regional structure of sport in Hungary follows only municipality logic, which is also according to government structure and functions.

Following the changes in 1989-90, the regional centres of the national sports structure were weakened. Up to then, each municipality had a Municipal Sport Directorate. These were eliminated. Today there are sports committees on the municipal and city council levels of administration. In some cases these committees are independent, but in most cases they are combined with other areas, such as education, culture, youth, and tourism (in these cases, "sport" is the last word in the name of the committee).

The Hungarian Olympic Committee does not have regional (municipality level) and local structures. However, through their national member federations, the five new divisions maintain a structure of regional and local federations and associations. On the regional and local level, the sports committees of municipalities have responsibilities in relation to organising and funding regional and local sports (leisure/student/disability sports) and to financing sports facilities. The national sports federations maintain their regional and local structures, organise competitive sport, but in most cases, they are not involved in leisure sport activities. A separate regional structure exists to promote sport for all; mass participation.

Regional sports federations exist in sport with large competition systems, and with long traditions in Hungarian sport, such as football, athletics, basketball, handball, etc. New sports, such as floorball and billiards, do not have such structures. Regional sports federations (in 20 municipalities) have the task of operating the regional competition system, mainly at the amateur level. They distribute information to clubs, manage entries, arrange the availability of referees or judges, and book sporting facilities. Clubs register for regional competitions and pay a participation fee for entry to these competitions. They also contribute to the costs of referees and judges. Competitions are organised at all levels and for all ages. These federations act in coordination with national federations in designing the yearly competition schedule of a sport.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

Due to the decentralisation process following the political changes, sport became a local, municipality responsibility. Therefore, the operation of sports clubs became largely dependent upon the support given by municipalities and local governments; they made decisions on the choice of the sports to be supported, along with the forms and amounts of financial resources provided. The 2011 CLXXXIX Act on Local Municipalities formalizes this task, as it named sport and leisure sport as one of the areas to be supported by local municipalities, districts of the capitol and the capitol. However, there are regulations governing the magnitude and the methods of supporting sport.

The 2011 CLXXII Amendments to the 2004 I. Act on Sport regulated in detail the role of local governments in relation to sport, and also stated that central financial resources shall be allocated to fund sport-related tasks in the form of grants. It also provided harmonisation with other budgetary regulations on sport and resulted in a more regulated legal environment around sport. However, the normative financial support to local governments was eliminated in the 2011 amendments; therefore, the support of municipalities to sports organisations is not legally defined.

Consequently, sport became dependent on the financial abilities of local municipalities to support it; in more developed regions, sport gained a more advantageous position, while regions with less economic strength had fewer resources to invest money in the support of sport. Also, the settlement composition level of central government funding of regions and municipalities had an influence, as the higher distribution of small settlements created more challenges for sports facility development, and the creation or maintenance of diversity in offering sporting practices, for example. The consideration of the local governments and their relationship to sport influences the allocated financial support provided. Accordingly, the attitude of municipality leaders towards sport is a critical factor in the funding and development of sports on the local level even today. In cities where the mayor likes and supports sport, both sports facilities and sports programmes became part of the city strategy and were also used in city marketing; thus their funding was more generous than in locations where the leadership

of the cities had no such devotion to sport.

With few exceptions, sporting facilities in general are not owned by sports clubs. The ownership of these facilities is attached to municipalities or the state. Their operation is managed by municipality-owned companies or by schools. Accordingly, sports clubs are obliged to pay rent when using school or municipality sports halls or fields. The sports facility problem was assisted by the TAO programme. In the first year of its introduction, more than a hundred artificial grass football fields were built, as well as arenas for basketball and handball, and ice rinks for ice hockey. Furthermore, swimming pools for water polo were constructed. The maintenance of these municipality facilities is assisted by TAO funds, as clubs may apply for support for facility rentals as well. The regulations require all newly-built sporting facilities to allocate 20% of operation capacity to public usage, specifically for sport for all purposes (Act on Sport 2004 modification).

The municipality fund distribution is, firstly, not automatic to clubs; secondly, it does not include all clubs; thirdly, it mostly supports elite success. Clubs with athletes representing sports with potential at national and international competition level may have greater chances of receiving funding, and this will be at higher levels. Most clubs do not receive this support. Those clubs supported may receive a portion of their yearly budget, of which a part would be spent on the use of municipality-owned sporting facilities. The use of funding money is closely monitored. In cases where the club is able to access additional income through providing public services, the funding of the following year may be lowered by the municipality.

## The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

In the new sports structure enacted in 2012, the Hungarian Olympic Committee (HOC) became the central umbrella NGO organisation, under which all national federations belong. HOC allocates all state funding for sport to different areas and causes, by which it became a *quasi-civil* organisation, with a substantial expansion in size and mainly funded by the state. It operates five sub-branches (divisions), as previously mentioned (Olympic sports, non-Olympic sports, student and university sports, leisure sports, and disabled sports). The president of each division is appointed as a vice-president of HOC, and delegated to the President's Board. All sports federations (83 HOC-endorsed, national sports federations in 2014; 42 in Olympic sports and 41 in non-Olympic sports) are structured under their respective division within HOC, and organise their competition system, national teams, regional structure, and member clubs.

Non-Olympic sports, student and university sports, leisure sports, and disabled sports are represented by the following organisations:

- Hungarian Sport-for-All Federation (MSZSZ) is an official national partner organisation of the Hungarian Olympic Committee (HOC) and also of the International Olympic Committee (IOC) on issues of leisure sports. It has a regional organisational structure and has over 500 member organisations nationwide.
- Hungarian Association for College and University Sports (MEFS) oversees competition and leisure sports for higher education, maintains its competition system, and manages participation for Hungarian athletes enrolled at colleges and universities.
- The Hungarian Student Sports Federation (MDSZ) is the national umbrella organisa-

tion for student sports organisations. It has operated its national competition system, the so-called "Student Olympics", in eighteen sports over the last 26 years, including more than 2,000 schools annually. It represents 424 legally registered, independent Student Sports Clubs and 2,908 Student Sports "Assemblies" (kör), which operate within schools. Participants are in the 7-18 years age range.

 Hungarian Paralympic Committee (HPC) is the national umbrella sport organisation responsible for developing a competition sports structure and classification system for athletes with disabilities that manages, organises and funds national teams. It has 24 member organisations; national sports federations that operate national teams for disables athletes.

#### Historical influences

In common with other European countries, sports clubs were initially developed in the first half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century by aristocrats to pursue traditional sports, such as fencing and rowing. The range of sports was widened, especially with the introduction of football, and clubs became more communal. From the 1920s there was a considerable growth in clubs, which became expressions of community and identity, although these identities might be ethnic, religious or occupational, and in this sense were exclusive to particular groups. They were male dominated. Thus, prior to World War 2, an independent sports club system had been established.

After World War 2, the independence of the clubs were perceived as a threat by the centralised state. Central state control used sport as a means of suppressing independent civil society. At the same time, elite sporting achievement was a means of expressing national identity and status. Success at this level coincided with a focus on a narrow range of sports, which is reflected in recent funding of the same "spectacle sports". The withdrawal of central direction and funding with the change to a market economy in 1989/90 resulted in a weak and neglected club system, and the privatisation of state companies, even the sales of sports facilities, sports fields, and sport-related real-estate. Amended tax legislation disadvantaged sports clubs.

Similar to other Central-European countries, Hungary found it difficult to achieve the best balance between the public, private and civil spheres and maintained a prioritised role for elite sport as a symbol of national identity and political prestige. There has been a period of instability as civil society has tried to find its new role between state subsidy and autonomy. Due to extended state involvement up to 1998, sports organisations in the civil sphere are weak and underdeveloped. Volunteering in clubs is limited – for example, coaching is always done by professionals, although the pay for this is low, so it could be regarded as a degree of volunteering.

The public perception of 'volunteering' and 'sports club' is a product of these historical influences. If the clubs are again going to represent an independent civil society, volunteering must also be seen as a reflection of this, rather than as a duty to support the state. Young people with a more post-modern value orientation view volunteering as a way of gaining new experiences and connections with other people, and are mainly involved with sporting events.

The paradox in Hungarian sport, arising from the historical development, is that the success of elite athletes at world and continental events contrasts with the low sport participation

rates of the total population. With its eight gold medals at the 2012 London Olympics, Hungary was among the top ten nations, placing it among countries that are much bigger in size and that also represent greater economic strength. Parallel to that, the Special Eurobarometer on Sports (2009) reports that 23% of Hungarians take part in sports regularly or with some regularity, which is much below the EU mean (40%), and 53% of Hungarians are completely inactive.

During the different political periods with different approaches to sport, the number of sports clubs, their divisions, sports professionals, and registered club members has declined. New sporting trends are following the post-modern individualisation trends, with a preference for light sports activity with less regular commitment and no organised sport and club affiliation. Sports clubs providing opportunities for mass participation experienced a 30% growth in participation between the ages of 7-18, due to the new sports development strategy and new financial support scheme (TAO).

Clubs are open to include members from any segment of society – ethnicity, religion, occupation - but the measures of sports participation show social inequalities. Exclusion is noticeable on the basis of 'ability', as the majority of the clubs are seen predominantly as a place for elite and competitive athletes to develop – and so are not suitable to match the trend towards more individualistic and non-competitive sports. After the age of 18, club membership declines in clubs that focus on competition sport. Leisure sport organisations have limited ability and capacity to offer sporting services for citizens in older age groups. People participate rather more outside of organisational (club) affiliation.

#### The Netherlands

Harold van der Werff & Jo Lucassen

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The Ministry of Public Health, Welfare and Sports (VWS) is responsible for the national policies on sports and regularly includes sports clubs in these policies. This ministry focuses on sport and health, sports participation for all and talent development. The budget spent on sports by the ministry amounts to 130 million Euros. The Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (OCW) determines the policies with regard to PE and sports at school. Similarly to Denmark, a 'civil right of association' is included in the national constitution of 1848. In the constitution, the government is also obliged to create conditions for inhabitants for civil and cultural development and leisure. Apart from this, there is no legal basis elaborated for a distinct sports policy by the national government.

Since the 1960s, sports clubs have increasingly been used to contribute to national and local government policies. On the national level, social inclusion is an important policy aim, e.g. the integration of ethnic minorities in society. Sports clubs have been attributed a distinct role in this policy. They are never subsidized directly by the national government, but through municipalities or national governing bodies for sport. Several target groups are under-represented in sports participation and in sports club membership, and the Ministry of Public Health, Welfare and Sports supports various programmes to stimulate sports participation and physical activities in the target groups, and indirectly to support sports club membership.

These programmes usually focus on groups like youth ('Youth in Motion', 'Sport is Cool', 'Participating all youth through sports', 'Neighbourhood, Education and Sport Impulse' and 'Sport Impulse'), women ('Sports, even I do it'), handicapped people ('Special Heroes'), migrant groups ('Sport is Cool', 'Participating all migrant youth through sports') and the elderly.

The current national programmes (e.g. sports and physical activity in the neighbourhood) aim at close cooperation between national and local governments, e.g. by linking funds. The local programmes demand cooperation between local organisations, such as schools, health care, welfare clubs, sports clubs, neighbourhood organisations, police and entrepreneurs. These programmes focus on sport as a means to achieve social objectives, such as increasing social participation in general, social integration, healthy lifestyles (e.g. reducing overweight, diabetes and cardiovascular diseases) and creating safe neighbourhoods. For some of these national programmes, local sports clubs can only participate and acquire subsidies if their national federation or their local municipality is participating. In other cases, all sports clubs can apply for a programme grant.

An example of a national programme instigated by the VWS and OCW is 'Impulse community schools, sports and culture', in which 'combination' officials were recruited to increase the supply of sports activities by stimulating the local cooperation between schools, sports clubs and other social organisations. The aim was to have 2,250 full-time jobs for combination officials in 2012. The first combination officials started in 2008. In 2012, the Minister of VWS decided to expand the number of combination officials to 2,900 full-time jobs by the end of 2016 and to broaden their tasks. In addition, the name combination official was changed to neighbourhood sports coaches. In January 2015, there were 2,607 full-time jobs for these neighbourhood sports coaches. Both ministries are still contributing.

Legislation allows volunteers of sports clubs to receive a remuneration for time committed and expenses of  $\in$  4.50 per hour ( $\in$  2.50 per hour for people younger than 23 years old), with a maximum of  $\in$  1,500 per year, without paying tax. Almost half of the Dutch sports clubs have volunteers that benefit from this tax measure. Other legislative measures for sports clubs concern a VAT threshold for fundraising activities (max. 50,000 Euros, including canteen income), for courses for members and an adapted VAT rate for the provision of sports facilities. Of importance to sports clubs is also the legislation on lotteries, through which the Lotto, initiated by national sports federations, is protected. Part of the supportive activities from governing bodies for sports clubs depends on lotto grants.

Recent national legislation that affects sports clubs indirectly is the *Social Support Act* 2015 (Wmo) and the *Participation Act* 2015. Both acts redistribute public tasks between the central and local government. The Social Support Act 2015 redesigned legislation introduced in 2007. This required the municipal delivery of social care, such as for the disabled, elderly or mentally ill, to incorporate volunteer caregivers. The 2015 Act reduced the budget for public social support by €140m. The Participation Act aims to help people find labour or paid work. Voluntary work is seen as a useful substitute and preparation. Though sport can contribute in realizing the policy goals, sport is not specifically mentioned in either act.

### The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

The twelve provinces in the Netherlands mainly support local development programmes and act as intermediaries between the local and national levels. The provinces finance provincial

sports councils to support sports organisations, such as sports clubs, and provide information, knowledge and advice to sports clubs. There are no legal relationships and no laws at the regional level. Support and policies at this level have become less important as fewer provinces have a distinct sports policy. The reason that sport is not a juridical matter at the regional level is that in the Netherlands any matter can only be regulated at two of three policy levels (national, regional or local).

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

Local government normally has a set of policies to increase sports participation and develop sports facilities. The provision of facilities by communities has increased in the sixties and seventies, alongside the development of the welfare state and the growing demand. The 393 municipalities in the Netherlands have a total annual budget for sports of 1.4 billion, most of which is for building and maintaining sports facilities. Local governments provide facilities with reduced fees to sports clubs, but are not legally obliged to do so. The allocation of local subsidies and reduced fees have for decades been connected to the degree of participation of youth in sports clubs, but over recent years this has been changing and a wider contribution to local society is demanded.

In 2012, two-third of the sports clubs reported decreasing subsidies from their local municipality in comparison to the year before. In 2013, 93% of the Dutch local municipalities had actually cut their sport budget, or were planning to do so in the near future. However, in other policy areas the economic cuts seem to be more severe.

As a result of recent cuts in municipal public sector budgets, voluntary organisations are encouraged to take a greater role in maintaining sports facilities or implementing new legislation, like the social support act and participation act. For example, sports clubs may provide volunteer roles for people who cannot find paid employment, e.g. in maintaining local sports facilities, such as swimming pools. Voluntary organisations may have a greater sensitivity to local needs. The situation is similar in England, where from 2010 national government's desire to shrink the state and expand volunteering as part of a 'Big Society' coincided with major cuts in local government budgets.

Local sports clubs are also invited to participate in national policy programmes in which national and local forces join in aiming to enhance active living, social cohesion, etc. Sports clubs can adapt activities for members and offer low threshold sports services for non-members in the neighbourhood or at schools to support these programmes.

Sports clubs that are unwilling or unable to provide these additional services may sometimes lose (a part of) their local subsidies, such as a discount on the rent of sports facilities or compensations for taxes. To participate in these programmes, clubs have to invest time and energy in new activities for people, of whom the majority would not become club members. For example, research has found that sports clubs that provided training and clinics for schools did not attract many new youth members. However, sports clubs continue to organise activities within these municipal programmes. The programmes make the club more visible in the community and may attract new members in the future.

Several regulatory responsibilities are decentralized and belong to the jurisdiction of municipalities. Each municipality has its own General Local Regulations (APV). The APV is the collection of municipal regulations in the field of public order and safety. Sports clubs have to

pay a property tax for sports facilities. In some municipalities, sports clubs receive a subsidy to compensate for this tax. Furthermore, clubs are charged for using public roads for events.

# The role of national governing bodies of sports federations

In the Netherlands, the sports federations are organised by sport. In some cases a federation represents two or more related sports, like swimming, water polo, diving and synchronized swimming. In 2015, 76 sports federations were affiliated to the Dutch Olympic Committee (NOC\*NSF), which is the national sports umbrella organisation for all federations. The sports federations organise competitions at all levels, from local to national and international tournaments. The federations provide training courses for coaches, referees, management and administrative staff. Many volunteers in sports clubs participate in these courses. Most of the federations also organise conferences to keep the clubs and their representatives informed on the latest developments in their field. Almost 5,000 volunteers on a national and regional level do a great deal of the governing work in the federations. Three quarters of the federations also have paid staff, amounting to 1,200 full-time jobs.

The concept of so-called open clubs, recently launched by NOC\*NSF, aims to increase the cooperation between sports clubs and other local organisations. These are clubs that not only focus on the needs of their own members, but also of (potential) sports participants and the community at large. Open clubs are able to transcend the interests of their own sport and work together with other sports suppliers and/or with other sectors (e.g. health care, community work, education). They participate in local activities like organising sports activities at schools and in the National Sports Week, but also participate in local networks. In 2013, research found that 32% of the sports clubs meet the criteria of an open club. However, they also found that 45% of the sports clubs in the Netherlands believe that sports clubs only exist to provide sports opportunities for their own members only. Only a quarter of the sports clubs felt they should play a larger role within the community and participate in government policy programmes. Policy makers should be aware of this.

#### Historical influences

The right of association was installed in the constitution of the Netherlands in 1848. It gave civilians an opportunity to associate for all kinds of purposes. This opportunity was greedily used for many civil activities, and from the 1860s onwards, also to establish sports clubs, of which some 10,000 already existed before World War 2. Almost all sports clubs were dedicated to a separate branch of sport, and this is still the case. The diffusion of the association as a civil institution in the Netherlands has been strongly strengthened by the emancipation of religious minorities and of workers. The association principle was a vehicle for sovereignty in its own ranks and the rise of associations can be considered as central to the development of a strong civil society in the Netherlands.

After World War 2, many old associations were re-established and new ones were formed. A period of reconstruction was followed by decades of growing welfare and a widening of the functions of the national and local government, resulting in a welfare state. The formation of the welfare state led to a drastic increase in local government support for sport, from 1945 to 1970, combined with relatively little political involvement in the field of sports.

From the eighties onwards, the welfare state has come under debate and a gradual demoli-

tion can be observed in favour of a more private and business-oriented organisation of public services. Besides sports clubs, other providers of sports opportunities have become more important (fitness, informal groups, commercial sport centres). Nevertheless sports clubs are proving to be relatively stable institutions and for that reason are still important partners for government.

Voluntary organised sport in the Netherlands is characterized on the one hand by a great independence from the state. On the other hand, it is closely linked to the provision of public services in communities. The joint ambitions and financial links between the national sports federations, their clubs and local and national government resulted in a strong relationship and mutual dependence.

# **Norway**

Ørnulf Seippel

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The influence of government has to be understood as being the consequence of relationships between levels of government and levels of the organisation of sport. The Norwegian Olympic and Paralympic Committee and Confederation of Sports (NIF) is an umbrella organisation that organises all 54 national sports federations in Norway. The 54 federations organise and manage individual sports and represent 11,409 clubs. Some federations have regional levels of organisation at county level, while smaller federations may only have regional levels of organisation to cover larger areas of the country. In each of Norway's 19 counties, regional confederations serve as collective bodies for sports. At the municipal level, there are approximately 366 sports councils. The sports councils form part of NIF's organisational structure, and consist of all sports clubs in the municipalities that are members of NIF. Thus, there are two parallel structures of sport between the levels of the NIF and the clubs, the sports federations at national and regional level, and the county levels of confederations and municipal level of local sports councils. At the level of the club, some clubs own their facilities, some use facilities owned by municipalities, and some share ownership with other clubs, or with municipalities.

Less than half of state funding for sport is distributed through NIF. The rest is used for facilities. State funding is based on lottery money – 'Norsk Tipping' has organised the national lotteries since World War 2. This is being reviewed as foreign lotteries attempt to enter the Norwegian market.

At national government level, the Ministry of Culture is responsible for sport, through the Department of Sport and Policy (DSP). Half of the public funding from the DSP is spent on grants for facility construction. The rules for applying for financial support for sports facilities are outlined in the document "On Grants for Facilities for Sports and Physical Activity 2006". Sports clubs and municipalities can apply to the DSP for grants of a third of the cost of building sports facilities. It is expected that a third of the cost will come from the club and a third from the municipality. Facilities funded through this arrangement have to be open to the public for at least 40 years, and should not generate profits for the owners. A proposal from a sports club would need to be integrated into the plans of a municipality. The application

would go through a county level of sports organisation to the DSP. The rest of national public funding is spent on running the NIF. In the late 1990s, it was decided that 10% of national government funding would be distributed more directly to clubs through the local Sports Councils at the municipal level.

There is no national legislation in Norway specifically relating to sports clubs. A right of free association is assumed. The latest of a series of three white papers, in 2012, aims to strengthen voluntary sport, develop a sound relationship between the voluntary sector and public sector and promote 'sport for all'. Groups of special importance are youth, the disabled and those not active. Sports clubs play an important role in achieving these aims; however, a club's participation is entirely voluntary. Clubs may apply for funding to provide activities for the targeted groups. National government policies are also aimed at providing possibilities for those operating outside sports clubs.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

As noted above, regional levels of both the 54 national sports federations and the 19 counties coordinate competition at this level and have an overview of grant applications. However, they do not have a major influence.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

Most municipalities play an important role in providing sports facilities that clubs use. There are many municipalities (relative to the population) and there are significant differences in sports policies, because municipalities vary in size, wealth and the extent to which they are concerned with sport. For example; municipalities differ over whether clubs have to pay for the use of facilities, and if so, how much they pay. When clubs apply for funding for facilities from the state, through the NIF, they have to document that their plans are integrated with municipality plans for sport. This ensures that the club's activities are consistent with municipal level sports policies.

### The role of national governing bodies of sports federations

The NIF and the parallel structures of the national sports organisations and federations is described above.

#### **Historical influences**

In Norway, a set of national sports representative organisations was established between 1861 and the 1920s. These represented traditional sports, such as shooting and skiing, as well as those imported from England, most notably football, and gymnastics from Germany and Sweden. In the 1920s, a separate set of workers' sports federations was established, as a reaction to the bourgeois profile of the existing federations. Thus, from 1924 to the end of World War 2, there were two sets of organisations with two sets of competitions (leagues). These merged after World War 2.

The historical development of the national sports organisations and the regional and local sport councils has led to tensions in sports policy between elite sport and mass participation. For example, the promotion of 'elite youth sport' is ambiguous because it is both implying elite levels of participation, but also developing the participation of young people as a policy

of social inclusion. Thus, the word 'elite' has negative social connotations for those wanting to increase youth sport generally.

Norway is one of the Nordic countries characterized by greater economic equality than the rest of Europe, higher levels of trust, volunteering and sports participation, and a strong welfare state. It has a strong tradition of sports participation, especially associated with outdoor activities. A considerable growth in club membership since the 1960s and 70s, and a broadening of membership to include more women and children, represents an economically prosperous nation, with greater equality. The growth in the number of clubs has been encouraged at the same time by the growth in sports facilities. The growth in the number of specific sports associations, from 24 in 1946, to 54 in 2014, reflects the survival of traditional sports, such as skiing, alongside the introduction of new sports.

While physical activity levels remain high, the largest percentage of those participating in sport and physical activity do so on their own – out of a club context – and this proportion is rising. At the same time, the percentage of adults participating in sports clubs is declining, and the percentage in fitness centres is increasing. These trends correspond to a slight reduction in the number of sports clubs since 1999. Exactly the same trends in participation and clubs are apparent in England, and can be attributed to a fragmentation of leisure time. In England, this is also reflected in a trend to 'episodic' [time-limited] volunteering.

Norwegian culture is reflected in the representatives of sports clubs viewing their clubs as generally contributing to the quality of social life – the 'social good' – rather than just offering an opportunity to play a particular sport. In this way, there is a natural overlap between the aims of the club and social policy objectives, which may not be so closely aligned in other countries. In both, sport is assumed to be generally 'good': the vision of NIF, public authorities and the voluntary sports organisations has been 'sport for all'. However, this does not mean that it is easy for public authorities to persuade clubs to do other activities in addition to sport. For example, attempts to make sports clubs implement general health promotion policies have been unsuccessful.

#### **Poland**

Monika Piątkowska

### The influence of national government organisations and legislation

Within national government, the Ministry of Sport and Tourism is responsible for developing competitive and recreational sport, supervising all the sports federations in Poland.

The Polish Government has not run a policy directly focused on sports clubs until 2016. Currently, the Ministry of Sport and Tourism has developed the 'Sport Development Programme by 2020', which focuses on the popularisation and development of sport. This programme redefines the role of sports clubs in Poland, from predominantly being identified with professional sport to a place whose primary purpose is to provide opportunities for the physical activity of its members, in particular children, youth, families, the elderly or people with disabilities. This strategy identifies the local centres of activity (most often sports clubs) as places created to develop sport in local communities.

In relation to sports clubs, the two most relevant aims in the national strategy are: to pro-

vide opportunities for physical activity at each stage of life and to use sport to build social capital. State policy at national level is focused on increasing sports opportunities for all, especially for children and youth.

The government commissions projects, which non-governmental organisations tender for. As a result of the new strategy in 2016, the Ministry of Sport and Tourism addressed actions directly targeted at sports clubs for the first time. The government has launched a programme "Club", which directly aims at supporting the functioning of sports clubs in the promotion of sports activities among children and youth. It was created through direct consultations of the Ministry with local sports organisations. Obtained funds may be used to finance training work in the club (e.g. a coach, instructor), purchase sports equipment, and organise sports camps.

Examples of projects indirectly focusing on sports clubs include three programmes run by the Foundation for the Development of Physical Culture – a State Treasury foundation. These aim to enrich the attractiveness of recreation and sports activities, and improve the competence of people, including volunteers, who provide such activities. The Multisport programme is aimed at students in grades IV-VI at the age of 9-12. The main objective of the programme is to promote physical activity through participation in school and after-school sports activities. It is also important to identify sports talent and to ensure the effective transition from schools to sports clubs and participation in sports competitions. The project is realised in cooperation with local sports clubs, which run sports activities to meet the programme objectives.

The programme 'My sports field – Orlik 2012' is to construct modern, safe public sport that is free of charge and also recreation complexes in communes throughout Poland. After the construction of this infrastructure, a programme – 'Our Orlik' aims to encourage local societies to use these sports facilities. The programme also includes training for activity organisers, coaches and volunteers working at Orliks, as well as initiatives to use the sports fields as public spaces, thus strengthening social relations. Indirectly, sports clubs are the programme's beneficiaries as 86% of people running sports classes at Orliks are coaches from local sports clubs.

A related programme is Animator's Academy. This helps activity organisers and leaders of local sport (i.e. most often coaches from local sports clubs) to share knowledge and increase their skills in organising and managing local sport, especially obtaining funds for functioning.

The Ministry of Sport and Tourism also supports projects aimed at increasing the competence of teachers, coaches, instructors, activity organisers and leaders of children and youth sport, especially those functioning on the local level. The support is provided to non-governmental organisations.

Ministry of Sport and Tourism programmes are funded by a departmental budget, a Physical Culture Development Fund that has 25% of income funded from the national lottery, and a Physical Education for Schools Fund from 10% of the VAT tax base from entities advertising alcoholic drinks.

To bid for these and other funds, sports clubs must use volunteers in the club's operations and pay a contribution of about 20% of the programme funding.

Other work by the Ministry of Sport and Tourism to promote volunteering and social

inclusion includes directly financing volunteers working on the organisation of large sport events, financing the work of voluntary activity organisers at Orlik and a knowledge portal concerning a sports voluntary service where e-learning materials are published. Within the Our Orlik programme, there are studies on groups excluded from local sport. The Ministry funds activity organisers to develop and implement projects of social inclusion. It organises a series of social studies, conferences, meetings and training concerning the area of voluntary service. The aim of these activities is the promotion of sports voluntary service. Participants at meetings, including members of non-governmental organisations, can take part in training and workshops concerning the financing of voluntary services and its management, in order to apply this knowledge to the activities of their respective organisations.

The Ministry of Labour and Social Policy promotes voluntary work with legal and tax concessions. The Polish Government developed the Social Capital Development Strategy 2020, one priority of which is the development and strengthening of organised forms of civic activity.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

At regional levels, departments responsible for sport have been discontinued or severely limited. When this is the case, their authority and responsibilities have been transferred to lower levels.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

Each municipality is obliged to satisfy the needs of its citizens, including needs related to the popularisation of physical culture and sport (*Art. 7 of the Act on Municipality Self-Government, Journal of Laws 1990 no. 16 item 95*). Local government is obliged by law to provide for professional and public sport, in cooperation with non-governmental organisations.

Local sports clubs for young people are financed mainly from a local budget once a year. Distribution of resources is discretionary and not legally regulated. In many cases, local sports clubs have free or discounted access to sports infrastructure – most sports clubs are formed at educational institutions and local sports centres, which guarantees access to the resources of these institutions.

# The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

The Polish Olympic Committee (POC) carries out the aims and tasks of the Olympic Movement as well as activities related to the development of Polish sport, i.e. developing elite sport, promoting sport for everyone, supervising the participation of the Polish National Representation in the Olympic Games, combating doping, conducting education and promoting fair play. The Polish Paralympic Committee performs the same functions for people with disabilities.

The central level also involves interdisciplinary sports associations and Polish sports associations. Sports associations include:

- the University Sports Association, over 40,000 members and over 250 university clubs;
- the Rural Sports Clubs Association aims to popularise and develop sport, recreation, physical education, and tourism. It is based on Rural Sports Clubs, Rural Tourist Clubs, Rural Tourist Teams, and also, since 1994, Student Sports Clubs;

the School Sports Association is based on competitive inter-school sports clubs. Recreational activities are provided by school sports associations and, since 1994, by Student Sports Clubs.

Polish sports associations are a special form of nation-wide sports associations that operate within one sport discipline and require permission from the Minister of Sport and Tourism to be established. There are currently 70 active Polish sports associations. Their main tasks are to issue sports licences for players and coaches of sports clubs in their disciplines, to train national team players and to organise the functioning of national teams, as well as to organise competitions at the national level. Sports clubs can affiliate to the Polish sports associations if they aim to take part in their competitions and leagues.

#### Historical influences

Sports clubs have developed from the late 19th century onwards. In a similar way to other areas of social life, sport in Poland is slowly undergoing transformation. Drawing from national and western traditions and dating back to 1867, the sports movement in Poland originated when students in Lviv established the Polish Gymnastic Society "Sokół", the first bourgeois, intelligentsia association in the territory of Poland. The main aim of "Sokół" was to organise gymnastic exercises for its members. Offering cycling, shooting, fencing, rowing and other disciplines, most of these branches were similar to contemporary sports clubs. These branches had a broader role than sport and they also took part in cultural, educational, and social activities with strong patriotic aspects. Also playing an important role in Polish sports development was private gymnastics centres offering sports classes.

Polish sports clubs, originating at the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, at first only included a football section. Later, track and field, tennis, and other disciplines were added. The origins of Polish sports clubs are strongly connected with the school environment. In 1903, "Lechia Lwów" was established as the first sports club by students and members of the Football Division at the Lviv "Sokół" Society. The "Sława" club (renamed later "Czarni Lwów") was also established that year.

Before World War 1, "Pogoń" and "Czarni Lwów" became major, multi-discipline clubs, and Lviv became the largest centre of Polish sport within the subdivided territories. University and high school students established the oldest clubs in Kraków, "Cracovia" and "Wisła" in 1906. Attempts to organise a football association in Galicia were made during this time. The Austrian Football Association owned the "Cracovia", "Pogoń", and "Wisła" clubs between 1910 and 1911, and finally in 1911, the Polish Football Association in Galicia was created, belonging to the Austrian Football Association and thus to FIFA.

During the inter-war period, when Poland restored its sovereignty, there was a development of political, economic and social life. Sports participation and organisations were based on free social engagement, without any influences from the authorities of the newly formed state. In the second half of the 1920s, sports movements could count on national ideological and financial support. World War 2 shattered the achievements of the sports movement – there were losses in people as well as in sports infrastructure. During the post-war times, there was another outbreak of spontaneous activity in reconstructing sports clubs, which played a role in integrating social life. At that time, mainly working class, union and youth

clubs were reactivated. The next step was a substantial intervention of the state in the form of a central steering model. The authorities noticed in sport a possibility to disseminate communist ideas for propaganda aims. During that period, sports clubs were established mainly at national work places and were financed by trade unions (e.g. military or police clubs and clubs at manufacturing plants). The state did not expect any serious citizenship engagement in club activity.

After 1989, one sign of the forming democracy, institutionally revealed in sport, was the formation of religious organisations and clubs, especially Catholic ones having rich traditions from the pre-war period, which had faded out during the communist period. A transformation from a planned to a market economy created market conditions for new entities to function, including sports clubs. Sport in Poland rapidly became commercialised (especially in towns and cities), leaving little space for social engagement. Simultaneously, municipalities and regions were given much more autonomy by the *Act on Municipality Self-Government, Journal of Laws 1990 no. 16 item 95.* Since then, local government is obliged by law to provide for professional and public sport, in cooperation with non-governmental organisations.

Data on the number of sports clubs have been collected centrally since 1960. Since then, the number of sports clubs in Poland has been growing steadily. The highest growth in Poland was noted in the years 2002-2006 (from 8,800 to 13,000), while in the following years, this number was subject to slight fluctuations. In 2012, there were 14,307 active sports clubs in Poland (including 6,370 student sports clubs that operate in schools or under sport and recreation centres and 77 religious sports clubs), which is nine times more than over 50 years ago. Analysis of the participation of Poles in activities conducted at sports clubs shows that altogether there were 914.6 thousand registered members in sports clubs in 2012.

## **Spain**

Ramon Llopis-Goig

### The influence of national government organisations and legislation

In Spain there are no relationships between the national government and community sports clubs. However, national government policy is promoted through the High Council for Sport, an autonomous administrative body affiliated with the Ministry of Education, Culture and Sports. The *Sport Act 10/1990* defines the responsibilities of the High Council for Sport. These include approving the articles of association and operations of the Spanish sports federations and granting them financial aid, organising international competitions in Spain, organising the participation of the national teams and doping control. The High Council for Sport developed a national Strategic Plan for sports development during 2010-2020: the 'Integral A+D Plan'. Within this, the following objectives were included: 1) increase the level of sports participation of the population; 2) generalize sports in school-age children; 3) promote sports as a tool for social inclusion and 4) make progress in equality between men's and women's participation. The policy for school age children includes promoting physical education at school, promoting physical activity and the practice of sports in the educational system in general, and coordinating the work of stakeholders in the sports system.

Of the 15 programmes proposed in the Strategic Plan, four of them were explicitly relat-

ed to aspects of social inclusion: physical and sports activity for handicapped people (programme 4), physical and sports activity for the elderly (programme 6), physical and sports activity for social inclusion (programme 7) and true equality between men and women (programme 9). These policies have become less prominent since a centre-right party replaced a centre-left party in 2011, but they still provide guidance for the 17 autonomous communities, with whom the strategic plan was developed.

In Spain, the right to free association is permitted by Article 22 of the *Spanish Constitution of 1978*. Later, the *Organic Law 1/2002 of 22<sup>nd</sup> March* developed and clarified those aspects that were only mentioned in the 1978 law.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

Article 148.1 of the Spanish Constitution of 1978 allows the 17 Autonomous Communities of Spain to promote sport. While their autonomy makes it difficult to generalise between them, they manage their own support services for sport, provide regional funding to clubs and federations at the regional level, construct facilities, organise competitions, and support training and research. Thus, they have a wide range of functions. The Autonomous Communities make annual calls for proposals to which the sports clubs and sports federations can present their projects to obtain a grant. The awarding of a grant is not always guaranteed, and the amount depends on the economic resources of the regional government. The awarding of these grants legally obligates the recipients to fulfil the grant requirements.

For example, in 2014, the Government of the Autonomous Community of Navarra granted various types of grants to sports clubs in the region: firstly, a total of  $\in$ 140,695 for putting on sports shows and celebrations; secondly,  $\in$ 191,379 for participation in national and inter-regional official competitions of sports clubs, non-professional with individualized participation; and thirdly,  $\in$ 1,607,124 for participation in official competitions of sports clubs in national and inter-regional leagues.

In 2014, 67.41% of the income of the regional sports federations was generated by themselves and the rest came from public subsidy.

## The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

In Spain, a distinction is made between provincial and city councils [municipalities]. Provincial governing bodies generally coordinate and provide technical assistance to municipalities that make up the province.

Municipalities subsidise sports clubs in their territory. They have a decisive role in the construction and management of local sports facilities and the development of sports programmes for all ages. They also meet the running costs of local facilities. By law, town councils serving populations of more than 20,000 inhabitants have the obligation to provide sports services for their citizens (according to the Law regulating Local Tax Authorities 7/1985 of 2nd of April Chapter III article 26).

Municipalities typically make annual open and competitive calls for proposals to subsidize the activity of the sports clubs and the top-tier clubs of the city. The criteria for funding will vary – but could include the number of teams the club has, the promotion of women's sports, the participation in public interest campaigns etc. In this way, the municipality allocates funds to sports clubs which are contributing to its objectives. Such funding carries a

legal obligation to fulfil grant conditions. Clubs do not receive an automatic subsidy.

For example, the city of Valencia makes two annual open and competitive calls for proposals to subsidize the activities of the sports clubs and the top-tier clubs of the city. The former have an annual funding of €225,000 and the latter €625,000 (total amounts that are divided among the clubs that compete for the grant). The benchmarks used to evaluate the proposals are public. In the case of sports clubs for team sports, points are given for the number of teams the club has (up to 35 points), the category of the first team (up to 20 points), the number of licences (up to 20 points), the evaluation of the sports project (up to 120 points), the promotion of women's sports (up to 10 points), the participation in public interest campaigns (up to 30 points), the participation in Municipal Sport Training programmes (up to 10 points), and the percentage of the sports project's own resources and self-financing (up to 20 points).

The benchmarks are different in the calls for proposals for top-tier club grants. For example, for the case of team sports, the criteria taken into account are the classification obtained by the first team in the previous season in official national (up to 30 points) or international (up to 20 points) competition, the classification obtained by the first team in the current season in official national (up to 30 points) or international (up to 20 points) competition, the number of players with licences in the first team, who were born in the Valencian Community (up to 10 points), the number of players enlisted by any of the national teams (up to 10 points), the number of sports licences of the club (up to 30 points), the number of teams in inferior categories participating in official competitions (up to 15 points), the evaluation of the sports project (up to 120 points), the participation in public interest campaigns (up to 30 points), the participation in Municipal Sport Training programmes (up to 10 points), and the percentage of the project's own resources or self-financing (up to 20 points).

Thus, for both types of clubs the funding criteria are public and clear. In all cases, the clubs that are awarded grants must fulfil the obligations derived from the *General Law 38/2003 on Grants*, as well as the obligations described in the municipal norms that regulate grants.

Thus, in Spain the greatest government influence on sports clubs is at the local and regional level, because of the provision of facilities and awarding of grants, respectively.

## The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

In Spain, there are 65 legally constituted national sports federations divided between 30 Olympic federations, 30 non-Olympic federations (that do not appear on the Olympic Programme) and 5 multi-sport federations, dedicated to the development and organisation of different sports and integrating athletes with physical, psychological and sensorial disadvantages. The federations also select the national teams of representative athletes in their sports. The role of the national sports federation is defined by the 1990 National Sports Act (Law 10/1990). The national sports federations are financed with grants provided by the High Sport Council, subject to agreements about their objectives, their sports programmes, their proposals and their organic structure, and the affiliation fees collected by the sports clubs belonging to them. The grants from the National Government – through the High Sport Council – made up 23.8% of the income of the national sports federations in 2014 (in 2007 they were 34.8%).

The regional (Autonomous Community) sports federations organise, manage and regulate sports competitions at the autonomous level. They do not usually provide economic resources to the regional sports clubs. The sports clubs are financed by the fees paid by members, the income from the Sport Training programmes, and the economic resources they manage to obtain through grants from regional governments, provincial governing bodies and municipalities.

#### Historical influences

In Spain, the first sports clubs were set up later than in other European countries, specifically, in the last quarter of the nineteenth century. The creation of clubs was closely associated with foreign professionals and specialists who came to the country, and with young people who went to other European countries for their studies and later came back with new habits, including sports. Together, these factors brought English sport into Spanish society and introduced the idea of a democratically run, volunteer-based sports club. Initially, the process took place in the more highly industrialised areas of the country, namely Catalonia, the Basque Country and Madrid, but also in mining areas and in small centres of industrial activity in other regions of Spain.

When the Franco regime (1939-1975) took power at the end of the Spanish Civil War (1936-1939), radical change came to the conception of sport, which ceased being part of civil society and was assimilated into the structure of the state. The political authorities appropriated sport as part of one-party control over society. The new Francoist state understood that sports clubs had cultural, social and political significance.

Indeed, until 1964 the sports clubs were almost the only associations permitted beyond the network of bodies controlled by the Minister Secretary-General of the Movement during the first half of the dictatorship. As a result, sports clubs became the only places with a certain margin for freedom of association and, until the passage of the Law of Associations in 1964, they remained, to some extent, the last redoubt of opposition against the regime. Even so, the clubs' latitude of freedom was extremely limited. Sports organisations were forced to be under the control of a state body set up in 1938, the National Sports Delegation (later renamed into National Sports Council), which was overseen by the Falange Española y de las JONS. In this way, sports clubs and federations lost their private character, their autonomy and their democratic ethos. The National Sports Delegation took over the appointment of key executive figures in the national federations, and these figures, in turn, named regional delegates, who would later become the ones to endorse or block the appointment of club directors.

The subordination of sports clubs to the state apparatus led to the demise of their autonomy and the liberal democratic approach that had conceived the clubs as peer-based associations. Club officials were appointed by bodies ultimately responsible to the state. In the 1950s, the selections of the members' general assembly still had to be ratified by the pertinent sports federation, which reserved the right to appoint club officials directly. Similarly, under the Franco regime, the federations were turned into bodies reporting to the National Sports Delegation and charged with overseeing clubs' activities. In their statutes, clubs had to acknowledge their subordination to the provisions and authority of the National Sports Delegation. If they failed to do so, they were refused legal recognition and denied authorization to take part in sporting competitions.

During the transition to democracy, sport also began to undergo democratisation. Sport was introduced into the Spanish constitution (adopted in 1978) making it possible to include sport in the legal framework of the state. The first half of the 1980s saw a rapid development

of the construction of a sports infrastructure. Municipal governments began to promote *sport for all* and this led to a booming sports movement in Spanish society that some have dubbed the *municipalisation* of Spanish sport.

At the beginning of the 1990s, the enactment of a new Sports Law (*Law 10/1990 of 15 October*) once again regulated the responsibilities and functions of the state on the subject of sport, drawing a line between professional sport, top-tier sport and sport for everyone. Associative bodies in sport were defined as private associations formed by natural or legal persons, whose purpose was to promote one or more sports, encourage members to engage in one or more sports and foster their participation in sporting activities and competitions. As the Sports Law stipulated, the associative bodies were classified as elementary clubs, basic clubs, professional sports clubs and limited companies operating in the field of sport. Thus, a new legal framework was created where professional sports (the first and second divisions of Spanish football and the top-flight Liga ACB in basketball) were separated from non-professional sports. Professional clubs were turned into Sociedades Anónimas Deportivas (SADs), or sports-based public limited companies. This was a new legal form that brought with it a number of prerequisites and required the application of a series of controls by various state bodies.

Barcelona, hosting the Olympic Games in 1992, made sport a significant factor in the social and cultural life of the country. Since that time, sports clubs and associations have grown in importance and gained autonomy within the Spanish sports system, despite the unquestionable dominance that the state continued to exert as a supplier and financial supporter of numerous sporting activities. The state's role has recently been reduced in response to the economic crises and cuts in public budgets.

From the 1980s, the new democracy saw a rapid increase of sports legislation at the level of the autonomous communities. By the nineties, all seventeen of Spain's Autonomous Communities had adopted their own sports laws, with specific provisions on sports associations spelled out in decrees, ordinances, plans and programmes. Over time, these different legislative developments, as well as the historical and cultural differences among the various autonomous communities, have given rise to Spanish sport's territorial heterogeneity.

In addition to decentralisation, a second feature of the Spanish sports model is collaboration between the state and the sports clubs: the state provides resources to the clubs in exchange for the clubs' promotion of the practice of sport by the public. Moreover, the state is not merely an ancillary promoter of the clubs' activities, but it is also involved in the provision of a wide range of opportunities for the practice of sport. Thus, the model can be viewed as interventionist, because their collaboration with the state makes the clubs reliant on the state's financial help. A consequence of this is that sports clubs in some regions play a weak role in the provision of sport, which is left very much in the hands of municipalities and other bodies to which the promotion and development of sports activities is delegated.

## **Switzerland**

Siegfried Nagel & Jenny Adler Zwahlen

## The influence of national government organisations and legislation

The Federal constitution of Switzerland, *article 68*, lays down the promotion and development of sport. The "federal law for promotion of sport and exercise", established in 2012, provides a legal framework to support private initiatives in sport, especially those of sports federations. Thus, the government can give funding to sports clubs, e.g. for the development of trainers and the organisation of youth sport groups. The agency responsible for the development of national sports policy is the Federal Office of Sport (FOSPO). This is done in partnership with Swiss sports federations. FOSPO is responsible for education of instructors / coaches. However, national government has no direct legal obligations to sports clubs and vice versa, apart from the national Youth and Sport programme (described below). This is the result of the traditional idea of subsidiarity and autonomy. Within this principle; tasks, actions and solutions to problems are undertaken, as far as possible, independently and autonomously. The implications are that public institutions only intervene in the market if there is significant market failure and action by public institutions is always at the most local level possible, for example at the level of the municipality rather than the canton.

At a national level, the Swiss Federal "Law of Equal Opportunities for the Disabled" (2004) and the "Aliens Act" (2008) obliges the federation, cantons and communities to set conditions that facilitate participation, integration and equal opportunities in social life (in other words access to sport) for disabled people and immigrants. However, there are no national programmes that support the participation of immigrants in sport. The main reason why the Swiss Confederation, its cantons and its municipalities publicly promote and subsidise sport is the positive social effects (such as social integration of specific target groups, accumulation of cultural and social capital, health promotion etc.). As these external effects are expected to be particularly significant in sports clubs, in Switzerland sports clubs and federations increasingly share the same aims for the use of sport to achieve social benefits.

At the national level, sports clubs are directly supported by public authorities through the national Youth and Sport programme (J+S), in which the Federal Office of Sport distributes over 80 million Swiss Francs (CHF) per year to clubs engaged in the promotion of youth sports. This programme is predominantly realized through volunteers in sports clubs. In 2010, approximately 700,000 children and young adults took part in one or more courses in 75 different kinds of sports offered by J+S. This corresponds to about two-thirds of the Swiss population aged between 10 and 20 years. Funding promotes courses, events, and camps for children and adolescents. Funding also pays for the development of coaches responsible for sport groups, for instructors responsible for the development of coaches, and for courses in sports clubs. Sports clubs are therefore directly subsidised for their courses in youth sport and indirectly through the development of their coaches. The only condition for getting funding from the Youth and Sport programme to support courses and camps for children and adolescents is that the coaches are qualified ("have a valid licence"). There are currently over 120,000 licensed J+S coaches and managers in Switzerland. Specialised courses include how to recruit and motivate volunteers in a sports club; and the integration of immigrants and disabled people.

Thus, sports clubs managed by volunteers play a major role in providing sports opportunities for young people as part of this government sponsored programme. The clubs get a fee per young person – apart from the coach education. However, only clubs with young people (aged between 5 and 20 years) participating in their sports clubs get funding.

Clubs may also take part in delivering the *Adults sport programme Switzerland* (ESA) for people over 20 years old, which is run in cooperation with cantons, sports federations and private sports providers. ESA aims to establish optimal conditions for physical activity in adulthood through the work of ESA coaches. ESA coaches may participate in the J+S-courses, "Preventive action: integration" and "Sport and handicap". No financial grants for sports clubs are available for participation in this programme. So, if a club offers activities for adults within the ESA programme, it receives free training of its coaches who deliver this programme, but no other fee. Most of the coaches in ESA and J+S are volunteers and not paid for their work in the clubs, but they do not have to pay for their education courses.

Another important tool for sports promotion is the "National sports infrastructure promotion concept" (NASAK), which aims to coordinate sports infrastructure of national importance and improve infrastructure conditions for national sports federations and their member organisations (sports clubs). From 1998 to 2012, financial support of between CHF 14-70 million was granted for the construction of sports grounds.

## The influence of regional government organisations and legislation

About half of all Swiss cantons have a "Cantonal sports concept", which forms the basis of a sports policy. In addition, nearly half of the 26 cantons have a law regarding sport and/or the promotion of physical activity, and the majority of the cantons have sport-specific laws. Cantons are responsible for the development, construction and maintenance of cantonal sport-related infrastructure and implementation of Youth and Sport programmes. Cantons support the construction and maintenance of sports facilities and also sports clubs in municipalities, using profits from lotteries. These fund training courses, sports equipment, regional, national and international sports events and support for young talent. This funding is mainly distributed to regional sports federations, but also directly to sports clubs.

### The influence of municipal (local) government organisations and legislation

Consistent with the principal of subsidiarity, there are no direct legal obligations from local government to sports clubs and vice versa. Municipalities may support clubs if they contribute to their social policies, which vary between municipalities. The most important way this is done is by municipalities providing sports facilities and making these available to sports clubs and individuals at concessional rates. According to a sports club survey in 2010, about three-quarters of all sports clubs (73%) rely exclusively or partially on public sports facilities. While a minority of municipalities actually have sports polices, those that do rely on clubs to deliver them.

Local municipalities often pay some form of lump sum to communal sports clubs through the communal sports offices. Depending on the financial resources of the community and the number of members, particularly children and adolescents, clubs receive about 5-20 CHF per member annually or a flat rate sum of 100 or 1,000 CHF. Sports clubs also receive financial support for special programmes that promote sport-related integration of immigrants.

However, there are large differences between municipalities when it comes to this kind of financial support for sports clubs.

## The role of national governing bodies of sport / sports federations

Swiss Olympic represents the interests of 85 sports federations with over 20,000 sports clubs. In total, there are currently about 2.7 million people in Switzerland belonging to one or more sports clubs, 2.2 million of which are classified as active members. According to the recent *Sport Switzerland 2014* survey, about three quarters of the Swiss population aged between 15 and 74 years (74%) participate in sports, and about a third of these people (25%) also hold a club membership [about 20% of the total population]. Sports clubs pay membership fees to their national sports federation, especially for their licensed competitions. There are huge differences in support, advice and resources provided to clubs between the various national sports federations. Swiss Paralympic supports Swiss disabled elite sport.

In each canton, there is a regional umbrella organisation that represents the regional sports federations. Sports clubs pay membership fees to their regional sports federation. In return, regional sports federations are responsible for the regional system of sports competitions, regional squads and talent development. Other support services are limited and variable.

Three specific sports organisations for disabled people (Procap Sport, PLUSSPORT, SPV) receive financial grants from the federal office of social insurance.

#### **Historical influences**

From the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, clubs have been *voluntary organisations* with democratic structures that exist because members share a common goal, and are integrated by sport into sports associations. Sports clubs developed significantly in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century. An umbrella organisation, now called Swiss Olympic, was established in 1922 with 9 sports associations, and today represents 84 – representing roughly 20,000 clubs.

Sports clubs have played a decisive role in the development of sport in Switzerland because the establishment and operation of clubs has always been simple and was seldom opposed by the authorities, as was, for example, the case in Germany. Swiss law only has two prerequisites for establishing a club: firstly, clubs are *voluntary organisations* of members sharing a common goal and must not be oriented towards making an economic profit, and secondly, they need to have written statutes stating their aims and organisational characteristics.

Clubs have always been regarded as a partial substitute for public initiatives. When sport and the first sports clubs emerged, there was not yet a central government that could play a role in shaping sports. In fact, in the absence of strong public authorities, early clubs – not only in sports, but also in areas such as science, education and politics – often assumed official functions. Sports clubs and other clubs are to some extent a private and officially encouraged alternative to public interventions and have become an important feature of Swiss civil society. Sports clubs and associations are the main promoters of leisure sport and top level sports in Switzerland, whereas public authorities are responsible for sport and physical activities at school.

Sports clubs are primarily reliant on voluntary work and the use of professional staff is not a viable alternative. There has been a tradition of voluntary work back to the start of clubs.

Most work in clubs is done by volunteers that earn less than CHF 2000 per year (about

€1350). The definition used in the sports clubs survey (and other surveys on volunteers) is that volunteers who get less than 2000 CHF are characterised as volunteers since this payment is more a symbolic compensation for their time as volunteers and for travel to training. An average club has 14 volunteers, but less than one person earning more than CHF 2000 per year. In total, Swiss sports clubs rely on about 285,000 volunteers and 17,500 paid people, only 3,500 of which have a paid workload of 50% or more. Yet, it is important to note that paid work has become more important since 1996, when it only accounted for about 10% of the total work effort in Swiss sports clubs. Since then, the number of paid workers has almost doubled, while the number of volunteers, as well as the total work done by them, has decreased substantially (by 19% and 13% respectively). Against this background, it is hardly surprising that finding volunteers and helpers is one of the most serious problems faced by many clubs.

# References

Anheir, H. K. & Salamon, L. (2006). The non-profit sector in comparative perspective. In: W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (eds.), The non-profit sector. A research handbook, 90-114. New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press.

Bergsgard, N. A., Houlihan, B., Mangset, P., Nødland, S. I., & Rommetveit, H. (2007). Sport Policy. A Comparative Analysis of Stability and Change. Elsevier Ltd.

Bergsgard, N. A. & Nordberg, J. (2010). Sports policy and politics – the Scandinavian way. Sport in Society, 13(4).

Breuer, C., Hoekman, R., Nagel, S., & Werff, H. v. d. (Eds.). (2015). Sports clubs in Europe. A cross-national comparative perspective. Switzerland: Springer.

Delhey, J., & Newton, K. (2004). Social trust: global pattern or Nordic exceptionalism? WZB Discussion Paper, No. SP I 2004-202, Berlin: WZB Berlin Social Science Center, via: Leibniz Information Centre for Economics, http://hdl.handle.net/10419/44134.

Delhey, J., & Newton, K. (2005). Predicting cross-national levels of social trust: global pattern or Nordic exceptionalism? European Sociological Review, 21(4), 311-327.

Eisinger, P. K. (1973). The Conditions of Protest Behaviour in American Cities. The American Political Science Review, 67(1), 11-28.

Elling, A., De Knop, P., & Knoppers, A. (2001). The social integrative meaning of sport: A critical and comparative analysis of policy and practice in the Netherlands. Sociology of Sport Journal, 18(4), 414-434.

Elmose-Østerlund, K. & Ibsen, B. (2016). Introduction to the project "Social inclusion and volunteering in sports clubs in Europe" (SIVSCE). Odense: Syddansk Universitet.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism. Cambridge, Policy Press.

Esser, H. (2009). Pluralisierung oder Assimilation? Effekte der multiplen Inklusion auf die Integration von Migranten / Pluralization or Assimilation? Effects of Multiple Inclusion on the Integration of Immigrants. Zeitschrift für Soziologie, 38(5), 358-378. doi:10.2307/23773476

Fenger, H. J. M. (2007). Welfare regimes in Central and Eastern Europe: Incorporating post-communist countries in a welfare regime typology. Department of Public Administration, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands and Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, The Netherlands.

Heinemann, K. & Horch, H. D. (1981). Soziologie der Sportorganisation. Sportwissenschaft, 11, 123-150.

Ibsen, B. (1992). Frivilligt arbejde i idrætsforeninger [Volunteering in sports clubs]. Copenhagen: DHL/Systime.

Ibsen, B. & Ottesen, L. (2003). Sport and welfare policies in Denmark. In K. Heinemann (ed.). Sport and Wellfare Policies. Six European Case Studies. Series Club of Cologne, Vol. 3 (pp. 31-86). Cologne: Hofmann Verlag.

Kriesi, H. (1995). The Political Opportunity Structure of New Social Movements: Its Impact on Their Mobilization. In J. G. Jenkins and B. Klandermans (eds.), The Politics of Social Protest.

Comparative Perspectives on States and Social Movements. London, UCL Press.

Leibfried, S. 1992. Towards a European welfare state? On integrating poverty regimes into the European Community. In Z. Ferge and J. E. Kolberg (eds.), Social Policy in a Changing Europe. Frankfurt am Main: Campus Verlag.

Micheletti, M. (1994). Det civila samhället och staten. Medborgarsammanslutningarnas roll i svensk politik [Civil society and the state. The role of civil society associations in Swedish politics]. Stockholm: Publica/Fritzes.

Nagel, S. (2007). Akteurtheoretische Analyse der Sportvereinsentwicklung. Sportwissenschaft, 37(2), 186-201. doi:10.1007/bf03176090.

Nagel, S., Schlesinger, T., Wicker, P., Lucassen, J., Hoekman, R., Werff, H.v.d. & Breuer, C. (2015). Theoretical framework. In C. Breuer, R. Hoekman, S. Nagel & Werff, H.v.d. (eds.) Sports clubs in Europe (pp. 7-27). Switzerland: Springer.

Nichols, G. (2009) Inequality and positional consumption: a fresh insight into debates in leisure studies on time pressures on leisure and volunteering, choosing a work/life balance and the nature of the 'leisure' society. Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events, 1(3), 270-275.

Nichols, G., Tacon, R. and Muir, A. (2013) Sports Clubs' Volunteers: Bonding In or Bridging Out? Sociology, 47, 350-367.

Nichols, G., & Veal, A. J. (2013) Income inequality and volunteering: a transnational analysis. Presentation to the Australian and New Zealand Association for Leisure Studies Biennial Conference, Frankston, Vic., December.

Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, R. (1978). The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective. New York: Harper and Row.

Pierson, P. (2004). Politics in time. History, Institutions and Social Analysis. Princeton and Oxford: Princeton University Press.

Pierson, P., & Skocpol, T. (2002). Historical institutionalism in contemporary political science. In I. Katznelson & H. V. Milner (eds.), Political science: State of the discipline (pp. 693–721). New York: W.W. Norton.

Putnam, R.D. (2000). Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Putnam, R. (2015). Our kids: the American Dream in crisis. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Salamon, L. M. & Anheir, H. K. (1998). Social origins of civil societies: Explaining the nonprofit sector cross-nationally. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organisations, 9(3), 249-260.

Salamon, L. M., Sokolowski, W. (eds.) (2004). Global civil society: Dimensions of the non-profit sector. Bloomfield, CT: Kumarian Press.

Sandel, M. (2012). What money can't buy; the moral limits of markets. London: Allen lane

Schofer, E., & Fourcade-Gourinchas, M. (2001). The structural contexts of civic engagement: Voluntary association membership in comparative perspective. American Sociological Review, 66(6), 806-828.

Stinchcombe, A.L. (1965). Social structure and organization. In J. G. March (ed.), Handbook of

organizations. IL: Skokie.

Veal, A. J. (2012). The leisure society II: the era of critique, 1980-2011. World Leisure Journal, 54(2), 99-140.

Veal, A.J. (2016). Leisure, income inequality and the Veblen effect: crossnational analysis of leisure time and sport and cultural activity. Leisure Studies, 35(2), 215-240. doi: 10.1080/02614367.2015.1036104

Wilkinson, R., & Pickett, K. (2009). The Spirit Level: Why More Equal Societies Almost Always do Better. London: Allen Lane.

Wilkinson, R., & Pickett, K. (2010). The Spirit Level: Why Equality is Better for Everyone. London: Penguin.

# Sources and references used in country summaries

# **Belgium (Flanders)**

Bloso (2015). Vlaamse sportfederaties gesubsidieerd voor de facultatieve opdracht prioriteitenbeleid in 2015. [Flemish sports federations subsidized for facultative assignment policy priority in 2015]. Accessed online http://www.bloso.be/Subsidiering/Documents/Sportfederaties/lijst\_subfed15\_FOprioriteitenbeleid.pdf.

De Knop, P., Redig, G., Scheerder, J. & Wittock, H. (2006). Het nieuwe decreet op het lokale sportbeleid. [The new decree on local sports policy]. In: P. De Knop, J. Scheerder & H. Ponnet (Eds.). Sportbeleid in Vlaanderen. Trends, visies, cases en cijfers (Volume 1). [Sports policy in Flanders. Trends, visions, cases and numbers (Volume 1)]. Brussel: BLOSO/Publicatiefonds Vlaamse Trainersschool, 201-202.

De Martelaer, K., Scheerder, J., Lefevre, J., Philippaerts, R. (2011). Het profiel van de Vlaming als vrijwilliger in de sport [The profile of the Fleming as a volunteer in the sport]. In: Philippaerts R. (Eds.), Sport voor Allen. Strategieën voor laagdrempelig bewegen en sporten in Vlaanderen. [Sport for All. Strategies for accessible exercise and sports in Flanders]. Leuven: Acco, 15-32.

Flemish Government (2001). Decreet van 13 juli 2001 houdende de regeling van de erkenning en subsidiëring van de Vlaamse sportfederaties, de koepelorganisatie en de organisaties voor de sportieve vrijetijdsbesteding. [Decree of 13 July 2001 laying down the rules for the recognition and funding of the Flemish sports federations, the Flemish Sports Confederation and the organizations for the sporty leisure]. Belgisch Staatsblad, publicatiedatum 14 september 2001.

Flemish Government (2008a). Decreet van 18 januari 2008 houdende de flankerende en stimulerende maatregelen ter bevordering van de participatie in cultuur, jeugdwerk en sport. [Decree of 18 January 2008 on the incentives to promote participation in culture, youth work and sports]. Belgisch Staatsblad, publicatiedatum 4 april 2008.

Flemish Government (2008b). Decreet van 18 januari 2008 houdende de flankerende en stimulerende maatregelen ter bevordering van de participatie in cultuur, jeugdwerk en sport (Memorie van toelichting). [Decree of 18 January 2008 on the incentives to promote participation in culture, youth work and sports. (Explanatory Memorandum)].

Flemish Government (2012). Decreet van 6 juli 2012 houdende het stimuleren en subsidiëren van een lokaal sportbeleid. [Decree of 6 July 2012 on the promotion and subsidization of local sports].

Belgisch Staatsblad, publicatiedatum 16 augustus 2012.

Flemish Government (2014). Decreet van 20 december 2013 inzake gezond en ethisch sporten. [Decree of December 20, 2013 relating to healthy and ethical sport]. Belgisch Staatsblad, publicatiedatum 31 januari 2014.

GHK (2010). Study on Volunteering in the European Union. Country Report Belgium.

Hatse, I, Tijskens, E., Hambach, E. & Redig, G. (2003). Niet zomaar. Over vrijwilligerswerk in Vlaanderen. [Not just. About volunteering in Flanders]. Koning Boudewijnstichting: Brussel.

Laporte, W., Bollaert, L., De knop, P., Taks, M., Verhoeven, M., Duysters, A., Van Bunder, D. (1997). Het vrijwilligerswerk in een veranderende sportwereld. Een empirische studie inzake de ontwikkeling van professionele deskundigheid [Volunteering in a changing world of sports. An empirical study on the development of professionalism]. Brussel: BLOSO/IOS.

Matthijs, H., Jans, M.T. & De Koker, H. (2005). Bestuurswetenschappen. De overheid: instellingen en beleid. [Governance sciences. The government: institutions and policies]. Antwerpen: Intersentia.

Renson, R. (1976). The Flemisch (sic) archery gilds. From defense mechanisms to sports institution. In: R. Renson, P.-P. De Nayer & M. Ostyn (Eds.). The history, the evolution and diffusion of sports and games in different cultures (Proceedings of the 4th International HISPA Seminar, Leuven, 1975). Brussels: BLOSO, 135-159.

Renson, R. (1999). Physical education in Europe from a cross-national perspective. In: J.-C. Bussard & F. Roth (Eds.). Quelle éducation physique pour quelle école? Welcher Sportunterricht für welche Schule? Which physical education for which school? (Proceedings of the ASEP Congress; Neuchâtel, 20-23 May 1998). Neuchâtel: ASEP, 115-130.

Scheerder, J., Breesch, D., Pabian, S., Vos, S. (2010). Balanceren in een grijze zone. Een verkennende studie van de semi-agorale arbeid in de sport. [Balancing in a gray zone. An exploratory study of the semi-agoral work in sports]. Beleid & Management in Sport (BMS), 5. Leuven: KU Leuven/Afdeling Sociale Kinesiologie & Sportmanagement.

Scheerder, J., Claes, E., Thibaut, E. (2015b). Organisatie en management van sportfederaties in Vlaanderen. Resultaten van het Vlaamse Sportfederatie Panel 2.0 (VSFP2.0). [Organisation and management of sports federations in Flanders. Results of the Flemish Sports Federation Panel 2.0 (VSFP2.0)]. Management en Bestuur in Sport 9 (MBS 9). Gent: Academia Press.

Scheerder, J., Claes, E. & Vanreusel, B. (2014b). Sportief (en) innovatief in een veranderende samenleving. Een verkennende analyse van good practices als inspiratie voor de clubsport van de toekomst. [Sporty (and) innovative in a changing society. An exploratory analysis of good practice as inspiration for the club sport of the future]. (Beleid & Management in Sport 22). Leuven: KU Leuven/Onderzoeksgroep Sport- & Bewegingsbeleid.

Scheerder, J. & Vandermeerschen, H. (2014). Beweging in beleid/beleid in beweging. Het publieke beheer van de sport- en bewegingssector. [Movement in policy / policies in motion. The public governance of the sport and exercise sector]. (Management & Bestuur in Sport 4). Third revised edition. Gent: Academia Press.

Scheerder, J., Vandermeerschen, H., Meganck, J., Seghers, J., Vos, S. (2015c). Club-organised sport in Flanders/Belgium. A status quaestionis. In: Breuer C., Hoekman R., Nagel S., Van der Werff H. (Eds.). Sport clubs in Europe. New York: Springer Science, 57-84.

Scheerder, J. & Vermeersch A. (2007). Sport en beleid in Europees perspectief. Een inleidend kader. [European sports policy. An introduction]. In J. Scheerder, C. Van Tuyckom & A. Vermeersch (Eds.). Europa in beweging. Sport vanuit Europees perspectief. [Europe on the move. Sports from a European perspective]. Ghent: Academia Press, 3-50.

Scheerder, J., Vos, S. (2013). Belgium: Flanders. In: Hallmann K., Petry K. (Eds.). Comparative sport development. Systems, participation and public policy. New York: Springer Science, 7-21.

Scheerder, J. & Vos, S. (2014). De krijtlijnen van het speelveld. Organisatie en planning van sport en sportbeleid in Vlaanderen [The outlines of the playing field. Organization and planning of sport and sport policy in Flanders]. (Management & Bestuur in Sport 7). Second edition. Gent: Academia Press.

Scheerder, J., Vos, S., Pabian, S. & Pauwels, G. (2010). Tewerkstelling in de sport. Ontwikkelingen en kenmerken van de Vlaamse sportarbeidsmarkt. [Employment in the sport. Trends and characteristics of the Flemish labor market in sport]. Praktijkgids Sportmanagement V.3 Cases – Afl. 40/juni: Sch. 1-26.

Scheerder, J., Vos, S., Vandermeerschen, H., van Poppel, M. (2014a). Sportdiensten in beeld. Basisrapportering over het Vlaamse Sportdienst Panel 1.0 (VSDP1.0). [Local sports authorities in the picture. Results of the Flemish Sports Departments Panel 1.0]. Beleid & Management in Sport (BMS), 21. Leuven: KU Leuven/Onderzoeksgroep Sport- & Bewegingsbeleid.

Scheerder, J., Willem, A., Claes, E., Billiet, S. (2015a). Internationale studie naar de organisatie en aansturing van sportfederaties. Van analyse tot good practices (Volume 1). [International study on the organization and management of sports federations. From analysis to good practices (Volume 1)]. Leuven/Gent: KU Leuven – Onderzoeksgroep Sport- & Bewegingsbeleid / Universiteit Gent – Team Sportmanagement.

Scheerder, J., Zintz, T. & Delheye, P. (2011). The organization of sports in Belgium. Between public, economic and social profit. In: C. Sobry (Ed.). Sports governance in the world: a sociohistoric approach. The organization of sport in Europe: a patch-work of institutions, with few shared points. Paris: Le Manuscrit, 84-113.

Smits, W. (2011). Join the club. Een profiel van leden van verenigingen en vrijwilligers Join the club. A profile of members of associations and volunteers]. In J. Lievens & H. Waege. (red.) Participatie in Vlaanderen. Basisgegevens van de Participatiesurvey 2009 [Participation in Flanders. Basic data of the Participation Survey 2009]. Leuven/Gent: Acco-Academic.

SPES (2008). Belgium. In: Volunteering across Europe. Organisations, promotion, participation. Belgium, Lithuania, Slovakia. SPES (Centro di Servizio per il Volontariato del Lazio): Rome, 9-55.

Taks, M., Renson, R. & Vanreusel, B. (1999). Organised sport in transition. Development, structure and trends of sports clubs in Belgium. In: K. Heinemann (Ed.). Sport clubs in various European countries. Cologne: Hofmann & Schattauer, 183-223.

Vanfraechem-Raway, R. & Levarlet-Joye H. (2010). Le sport et le volontariat. Fondation Roi Baudouin, mai 2000.

Van Meerbeek, R. (1993). Sportclubs: toen, nu en straks [Clubs: then, now and in the future]. Vlaams Tijdschrift voor Sportbeheer, 115, 25-37.

van Poppel, M., Scheerder, J. & Vandermeerschen, H. (2016). . Sportdiensten in beeld. Resultaten van het Vlaamse Sportdienst Panel 2.0 (VSDP 2.0). [Local sports authorities in the picture. Re-

sults of the Flemish Panel on Local Sports Authorities 2.0. (Beleid & Management in Sport 22). Leuven: KU Leuven/Onderzoeksgroep Sport- & Bewegingsbeleid.

Vanreusel, B., Renson, R. & Tolleneer, J. (1999). Divided sports in a divided Belgium. In: J. Sugden & A. Bairner (Eds.). Sport in divided societies. Aachen: Meyer & Meyer Sport, 97-111.

Vanreusel, B., Taks, M. & Renson, R. (2002). Belgium – Flanders. Origins, development and trends of Sport for All. In: L.P. DaCosta & A. Miragaya (Eds.). Worldwide experiences and trends in Sport for All. Oxford: Meyer & Meyer Sport, 379-400.

Vos, S. (2012). Triangle relationships in mass sport provision. Analysing similarities, differences and interorganizational relationships across civic, public and market sectors. Ghent: Academia Press.

VRIND (2008). Vlaamse Regionale Indicatoren [Flemish Regional Indicators]. Brussel: Vlaamse Overheid (http://aps.vlaanderen.be/Index-publicaties.htm).

VSF (2010). Promoting and securing volunteering in sport. Focus on management support in sport clubs. Final report. Supported by the European Commission Education and Culture Unit Sport under the framework of the Preparatory Actions in the Field of Sport (2010 EAC - 1324).

VSF (2015). Vrijwilligersbeleid. Wetgeving. [Volunteer Policy. Legislation.] Accessed online http://www.vlaamsesportfederatie.be/thema/vrijwilligersbeleid/wetgeving

#### **Denmark**

Anti Doping Denmark (2015). Information regarding Anti Doping Denmark. Adapted from: http://www.antidoping.dk/.

Eichberg, H. & Loland, S. (2010). Nordic sports: From social movements via emotional to bodily movement – and back again? Sport in Society, 13, 676-690.

Engelhardt, Gunther H. and Heinemann, Klaus (2003). Sport and the Welfare Policy in Germany. In Heinemann, Klaus (ed.). Sport and Welfare Policies. Six European Case Studies. Series Club of Cologne Vol. 3. Verlag Karl Hofmann.

Ibsen, B. (1992). Frivilligt arbejde i idrætsforeninger [voluntary work in sports clubs]. København: DHL.

Ibsen, B. & Eichberg, H. (2012). Dansk idrætspolitik – mellem frivillighed og statslig styring [Danish sports policy – between voluntarism and state control]. In: H. Eichberg (2012). Idrætspolitik i komparativ belysning – national og international. Odense: Syddansk Universitetsforlag.

Ibsen, B. & Habermann, U. (2005). Defining the Nonprofit Sector: Denmark. Working papers of the Johns Hopkins comparative nonprofit sector project. Adapted from: http://ccss.jhu.edu.

Ibsen, B. & Ottesen, L. (2003). Sport and Welfare Policy in Denmark. The Development of Sport between State, Market and Community. In: K. Heinemann (ed.). Sport and Welfare Policies. Six European Case Studies. Hofmann.

Ibsen, B., Østerlund, K. & Laub, T. (2015). Sports clubs in Denmark. In C. Breuer, R. Hoekman, S. Nagel & H. van der Werff (eds.). Sports clubs in Europe. Springer (forthcoming).

Klausen, K. K. & Selle, P. (1995). Frivillig organisering i Norden [voluntary organization in the Nordic countries]. Oslo: TANO og Jurist- og Økonomforbundets Forlag.

Korsgaard, O. (1997). Kampen om kroppen. Dansk idræts historie gennem 200 år [The battle of the body. The history of Danish sport through 200 years]. København: Gyldendal.

Laub, T. B. (2013). Danskernes motions- og sportsvaner 2011 [Sports participation in Denmark 2011]. Copenhagen: Danish Institute for Sports Studies.

Ministry of Culture (2001). Charter for samspillet mellem det frivillige Danmark og det offentlige [charter for the interaction between associations and the public sector]. Adapted from: http://kum.dk/servicemenu/publikationer/2000/charter-for-samspil-mellem-det-frivillige-danmark-og-det-offentlige/.

Ministry of Culture (2014a). Politisk stemmeaftale om idræt [political agreement on sport].

Ministry of Culture (2014b). Udredning af idrættens økonomi og struktur Analyse [white paper on the economy and structure of sport in Denmark].

Ministry of Culture (2015). Information regarding the Ministry of Culture. Adapted from: http://www.kum.dk/.

Nordby, I. (2009). De Danske Skytteforeninger gennem 150 år [the Danish Rifle Shooting Association through 150 years]. Vingsted: De Danske Skytteforeninger.

Pfister, G. (2011). Sports Governance in Denmark. In: S. Cobry (ed.). Sports Governance in the World. A Socio-Historic Approach. Paris: Sport Social Studies, Editions Le Manuscrit.

Weisbrod, B. (1977). The Voluntary Nonprofit Sector. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.

## **England**

Adamson, J. and Spong, S. (2014) Sport Makers Evaluation. CFE Research. https://www.sportengland.org/media/375352/20140225-sport-makers-evalution-final-report-cfe-research-.pdf [accessed 2-6-15]

Allison, M. (2001). Sports Clubs in Scotland, Research Report No. 75. Edinburgh: sportscotland.

Harris, S., Mori, K. and Collins, M. (2009). Great expectations: voluntary sports clubs and their role in delivering national policy for English sport. Voluntas 20, 405–423.

Hoggett, P., and Bishop, J. (1985). The Social Organisation of Leisure. Sports Council, London.

Holt, R. (1990). Sport and the British. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nichols, G. (2013) Voluntary sports clubs and sport development. In K. Hylton. (ed.) Sports Development: Policy, Process and Practice. London: Routledge. 213-230.

Nichols, G., Ferguson, G., Grix, J. and Giffiths, M. (2013a) Sport Makers - Developing good practice in volunteer and sports development.

http://cms2.shef.ac.uk/polopoly\_fs/1.274199.1368460426!/file/ec1gn\_Sport\_Makers\_Report\_4-13.pdf

Nichols, G., Forbes, D., Findlay-King, L. and MacFadyen, G. (2015) Is the Asset Transfer of Public Leisure Facilities in England an Example of Associative Democracy? *Administrative Sciences*. *5*(2), 71-87; doi:10.3390/admsci5020071

Nichols, G., Holmes K., with Baum, T. (2013b). Volunteering as leisure; leisure as volunteering. In T. Blackshaw ed. The Routledge International Handbook of Leisure Studies, London: Rout-

ledge. 456-467.

Nichols, G., Taylor, P., James, M., Garrett, R., Holmes, K., King, L., Gratton, C. and Kokolakakis, T. (2004) Voluntary activity in UK sport. Voluntary Action 6 (2) 31-54.

Schulz, J., Nichols, G. and Auld, C. (2011). Issues in the management of voluntary sports organisations and volunteers. In B. Houlihan and M. Green (Eds.) Handbook of Sports Development. (pp. 432-445). Routledge: London.

Sport and Recreation Alliance. (2013). Survey of Sports Clubs 2013. London: Sport and Recreation Alliance. http://www.sportandrecreation.org.uk/policy/SSC [Accessed 8 January, 2014].

Sport England. (2016). Towards An Active Nation: Strategy 2016-2021. London: Sport England.

Taylor, P., Nichols, G., Holmes, K., James, M., Gratton, C., Garrett, R., Kokolakakis, T., Mulder, C. and King, L. (2003) Sports Volunteering in England London: Sport England.

Schofer, E., & Fourcade-Gourinchas, M. (2001). The structural contexts of civic engagement: Voluntary association membership in comparative perspective. American Sociological Review, 66(6): 806-828.

## Germany

Bergsgard, N.A., Houlihan, B., Mangset, P., Nødland, S.I., & Rommetved, H. (2007), Sport Policy: A comparative analysis of stability and change. Oxford: Elsevier.

BMF (2015). Wer kann Übungsleiterpauschale und Ehrenamtspauschale geltend machen? Ein Überblick. Retrieved 29.06.2015 from http://www.bundesfinanzministerium.de/Content/DE/Standardartikel/Themen/Steuern/Weitere\_Steuerthemen/Buergerschaftliches\_Engagement/2013-05-07-Uebungsleiterpauschale-Ehrenamtspauschale.html

BMI (2015a). State subsidies for national sports federations. Retrieved on 23.06.2015 from http://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Themen/Sport/foerderung-spitzensport-bundessportfachverb%C3%A4nde-2014-PDF.pdf? blob=publicationFile

BMI (2015b). State subsidies for elite sport athletes with disabilities. Retrieved on 23.06.2015 from http://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Themen/Sport/foerderung-leistungssport-behinderung-2014-PDF.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile

BMI (2015c), Federal Sport Policy. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from http://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/Topics/Sport/Federal-Sport-Policy/federal-sport-policy\_node.html

BMI (2015d), Sport funding. Retrieved on 26.06.15 from http://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/Topics/Sport/Sport-Funding/sport-funding node.html

BMI (2014), 13. Sportbericht der Bundesregierung. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from http://dip21.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/18/035/1803523.pdf

BMI (2010). Auszug aus dem Schwerpunktepapier zum Regierungsentwurf (Einzelplan 06 - BMI) des Haushalts. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from http://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Reden/haushalt\_06\_2010.html

Breuer, C., & Feiler, S. (2015). Sport Development Report 2013/2014: Analysis of the situation of sports clubs in Germany. Abbreviated Version. Cologne: Sportverlag Strauß.

Breuer, C., Feiler, S. & Wicker, P. (2015). Germany. In C. Breuer, R. Hoekman, S. Nagel, & H.

van der Werff (Eds.). Sport Clubs in Europe. A Cross-National Comparative Perspective (S. 243-272). New York: Springer.

Carter, P. (2005). Review of National Sport Effort and Resources. London: DCMS. (www.culture. gov.uk/Reference library/Publications/archive 2005/ carter.htm).

Deutscher Bundestag (2015). Sportausschuss. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from https://www.bundestag.de/sport

Engelhardt, G.H., & Heinemann, K. (2003). 'Sport and welfare policy in Germany', in: Heinemann, K. (Ed.), Sport and Welfare Policies. Six European Countries, Series Club of Cologne, Schorndorf: Hoffmann Verlag/Schattauer.

Führungs-Akademie Deutscher Olympischer Sportbund (2015). DOSB Führungsakademie. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from http://www.fuehrungs-akademie.de/

Hansmann, H. (1980). The role of nonprofit enterprise. The Yale Law Journal, 89, 835-902.

Heinemann, K. (1996). 'Sports policy in Germany', in: L. Chalip, A. Johnson and L. Stachura (Eds.), National Sport Policies. An International Handbook. London: Greenwood Press.

Heinemann, K., & Horch, H.-D. (1981). Soziologie der Sportorganisation. Sportwissenschaft. 11, 123-150.

Heinemann, K., & Schubert, M. (1999). Sports clubs in Germany, in: Heinemann, K. (Ed.), Sports Clubs in Various European Countries, Series Club of Cologne, Vol. 1. Schorndorf: Hoffmann Verlag/Schattauer.

Horch, H.-D. (1994). On the socio-economics of voluntary associations. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 5, 219-230.

Krüger, M. (2013). The History of German Sports Clubs: Between Integration and Emigration, The International Journal of the History of Sport, 30, 1586-1603

Petry, K., & Hallmann, K. (2013). Germany. In: Hallmann, K. & Petry, K. (Eds.). Comparative Sport Development. New York: Springer.

Sigloch, J. (2005). Rechnungslegung. In C. Breuer & A. Thiel (Eds.), Handbuch Sportmanagement (pp. 195-215). Schorndorf: Hofmann.

Tokarski, W., Steinbach, D., Petry, K., & Jesse, B. (2004). Two Players - One Goal? Sport in the European Union. Oxford: Meyer & Meyer Sport.

VIBBS (2015). Der Sport als öffentliche Aufgabe: Die Funktion des Sports in der Kommune. Retrieved on 18.06.15 from http://www.vibss.de/vereinsentwicklung/pakt-fuer-den-sport/funktion-des-sports-in-der-kommune/der-sport-als-oeffentliche-aufgabe-die-funktion-des-sports-in-der-kommune/

#### Hungary

Bakonyi, T. (2004). Civil álom és politikus állam. Adalékok a civil sportszervezetek státuszának legújabb-kori politikatörténetéhez Magyarországon. Semmelweis University, Faculty of Physical Education and Sport Sciences: Budapest.

Bardóczi, G. (2012) Látványcsapat sportágak finanszírozásának tapasztalatai, a TAO. MSTT konferencia: Budapest.

MOB (2012). A Magyar Olimpiai Bizottság Sportfejlesztési irányai és területei 2012. Magyar Olimpiai Bizottság: Budapest.

Bodnár I. (2006): Sikeres edzőnők pályaválasztásának és pályakezdésének elemzése. Kalokagathia, 44. 1-2. 106-116.

Bodnár, I. and Perényi, S. (2012). A socio-historical approach to the professionalization of sporting occupations in Hungary during the first decades of the twentieth century: The coach. International Journal of the History of Sport 29(8), 1097-1124.

Dóczi, T. (2012). Gold fever? Sport and National Identity – The Hungarian case. International Review for the Sociology of Sport, 47(2), 165-182.

Falussy B. (2002) Társadalmi-gazdasági trendek a népesség időfelhasználásában. Statisztikai Szemle, 80(9): 847-68.

Földes É. – Kun L. – Kutassi L. (1989). A magyar testnevelés és sport története. Sport, Budapest.

Földesi, S. G. (1996). Sport policy in Hungary. In: L. Chalip, A. Johnson, L. Stachura, (Eds.): National Sports Policies. An International Handbook (187-211). Greenwood Press, Westport, Connecticut – London.

Földesi S. G. and Egressy, J. (2005). 'Post-transformational Trends in Hungarian Sport (1995-2004)', European Journal for Sport and Society, 2(2), 85-96.

Földesi, S. G. and Gál, A. (2008) Válaszút előtt a politika. Magyar Sporttudományi Szemle, 2, 4-10.

Földesi, S. G., Gál, A. and Dóczi, T. (2008): Társadalmi riport a sportról 2008. Ministry of State for Municipal Affairs, State Secretariat of Sport – Hungarian Society of Sport Science, Budapest.

Földesi, S. G., Nagy, J., and Jakabházy, L. (2002). Hungary: The Development of Sport for All in a Sporting Nation. In Worldwide Experiences and Trends in Sport for All (pp. 449-474). Oxford: Meyer and Meyer.

Földesiné Szabó Gyöngyi (1999). Félamatőrök, félprofik, Magyar olimpikonok (1980-1996). Magyar Olmpiai Bizottság: Budapast.

Gáldi G. (2002) Fizikai aktivitás Magyarországon az ezredfordulón. Magyar Sporttudományi Szemle, 3-4: 16-18.

Géczi, G., Gergely, I., Nagy, A. and Bardóczy, G. (2013). Létesítményfejlesztési tendenciák a TAO-s támogatási rendszer tükrében. (in press).

Kele, J. (2012). Hogyan lesz a sportból "stratégiai ágazat"? - kérdések és válaszok a sportfinanszírozás átalakításáról II. Extracted: 2012. január 21., Szombat 10:48http://www.hatharom.com/2012/01/21/hogyan\_lesz\_a\_sportbol\_strategiai\_agazat\_kerdesek\_es\_valaszok\_a\_sportfinanszirozas\_atalakitasarol\_ii\_

Perényi, Sz. (2011): Sportolási szokások: Sportolási esélyek és változástrendek. In.: Bauer B. and Szabó A. (Eds.): Arctalan(?) Nemzedék. Belvedere Meridionale Kiadó, Szeged, 159-184.

Perényi, S. (2013). Alacsonyan stagnáló mozgástrend – Az ifjúság sportolási részvétele 2012. Ifjúság kutatás elemzése. Kutatópont: Budapest. (in press)

Perényi S (2013a). Hungary. In K. Hallmann and K. Petry (eds.): Comparative Sport Development – System, Participation and Public Policy, 87-100. Springer Science+Business Media, New York.

Perényi S. (2013b). Egy hazai kontinentális-bajnokság önkéntes programjának menedzsmentje és értékelése. VI. Országos Sporttudományi Kongresszus, Magyar Sporttudományi Társaság, Nyíregyháza.

Perényi Szilvia, Kozma Gábor, Bács Zoltán, Lenténé Puskás Andrea, Bartha Éva (2015). A sporttal foglalkozó magyar nonprofit szervezetek tevékenységprofil és szervezeti forma szerinti elemzése – területi jellemzők figyelembevételével. Tanulmány: TÁMOP-4.1.2.E-15/1/Konv-2015-0001. Debreceni Egyetem: Debrecen.

Szabó, Á. (2009). A (szabadidő)sport alapfogalmai és kutatott területei. 115 sz. Műhelytanulmány. Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem Vállalatgazdaságtan Intézet. Budapest

Sterbenz T. and Gulyás E. (2012). A klubban. In: Sterbenz and Géczi (eds.) Sportmenedzsment, 147-170. Semmelweis Egyetem Testnevelési és Sporttudományi Kar, Budapest.

Vörös, T. (2011): A szabadidősport által nyújtott társadalmi haszon – a sportoló lakosság arányát befolyásoló tényezők vizsgálata európai országok vonatkozásában. XXX Országos Tudományos Diákköri Konferencia Testnevelés és Sporttudományi Szekció. OTDK dolgozat. Budapesti Műszaki és Gazdaságtudományi Egyetem.

Legal and policy documents:

1996. Act on Sports

2000. Act on Sports (CXLV. törvény a sportról)

2004. Act on Sports (I. törvény a sportról)

2011. Act on sports (CLXXII. Törvény a sportról szóló 2004. évi I. törvény módosításáról)

2011. évi LXXXII. törvény a sport támogatásával összefüggv egyes törvények módosításáról, http://www.complex.hu/kzldat/t1100082.htm/t1100082.htm

2011. évi CLXXV. törvény az egyesülési jogról, a közhasznúsági jogállásról, valamint a civil szervezetek működéséről és támogatásáról.

Eurobarometer 2009 (2009): Sport and Phisical Activity. Letöltve 2010. március 31-én: http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/archives/ebs/ebs\_334\_fact\_hu\_en.pdf http://e-beszamolo.kim.gov.hu HOC Budapest.

Hungarian Olympic Committee (2012). A Magyar Olimpiai Bizottság sportfejlesztési irányai és területei 2012.

Law on Education 2012 97. § (6), 27. § (11) 52. § (3) 1993. LXXIX. Law.

National Sport Strategy (NSS) (2007). Sport XXI Nemzeti Sportstratégia.

#### The Netherlands

Breedveld, K (2014). Sportparticipatie : uitdagingen voor wetenschap en beleid. Nijmegen: Radboud Universiteit Nijmegen.

Collard, D., & Hoekman, R. (2013). Sportdeelname in Nederland: 2006-2012. Factsheet. Utrecht: Mulier Instituut.

Engels, Adriani (1960). 100 jaar sport in Nederland, een historische documentatie over de sport

en het sportleven gedurende een eeuw. Amsterdam: Strengholt.

Heijden, A., & von en Boers, E. (2012). Impuls lokaal bekeken: verbinders in de tweede tranche. Verdiepingsonderzoek naar effecten én processen van de inzet van combinatiefunctionarissen. Utrecht/Nijmegen: Mulier Instituut/Kennispraktijk.

Hoekman, R., & Breedveld, K. (2013). The Netherlands. In: K. Hallmann & K. Petry (Eds.) Comparative Sport Development: Systems, Participation and Public Policy, Sports Economic, Management and Policy 8 (pp. 119-134). New York: Springer Science+Business Media,.

Hoekman, R. en, & Poel, H. van der (2009). Sport: speelbal voor ruimtelijke ontwikkeling. In: A. Maarse & A. Jonkman (Eds.) Rooilijn. (pp. 458-465). Amsterdam: Faculteit der Maatschappij en Gedragswetenschappen. Afdeling Planologie en Internationale Ontwikkelingsstudies. Universiteit van Amsterdam. Jaargang 42, nr.7.

Kalmthout, J. van, & Lucassen, J. (2008). Verenigingsmonitor 2007: de stand van zaken bij sportverenigingen in het perspectief van modernisering. Hertogenbosch: W.J.H. Mulier Instituut

Kalmthout, J., Van der Werff, H., Veerman, H., & Daamen, T. (2013). SportAanbiedersMonitor 2012 : facts & figures. Arnhem: NOC\*NSF/Mulier Instituut.

NOC\*NSF. (2012). Ledental NOC\*NSF over 2012. Papendal: NOC\*NSF.

Romijn, D., Kalmthout, J. van, Breedveld, K., & Lucassen, J. (2013). VSK-monitor 2013: voortgangsrapportage actieplan "naar een veiliger sportklimaat". Utrecht: Mulier Instituut

Stokvis, R. (2010). De sportwereld : een inleiding. Nieuwegein: Arko Sports Media.

TNS Opinion & Social. (2010). Eurobarometer 72.3. Sport and Physical Activity. Brussels: TNS Opinion & Social.

TNS Opinion & Social. (2014). Special Eurobarometer 412. Sport and Physical Activity. Brussels: TNS Opinion & Social.

Vries, B. de (2003). Hoe Jan Salie op stoom kwam: Nederland en de Industriële Revolutie. Amsterdam: Stichting Redactie Spiegel Historiael.

Tiessen-Raaphorst, A. (2010) Sport: een leven lang. Rapportage Sport 2010. Den Haag/Den Bosch: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau/Mulier Institute.

Werff, H. van der (2012). Sport en onderwijs verbonden. Utrecht: Mulier Instituut.

Werff, H. van der en, & Kalmthout, J. van (2012). Minder klappen, meer applaus?: beeldvorming Nederlands publiek rondom voorkomen onwenselijk gedrag in de sport, 2011. Utrecht: Mulier Instituut.

Werff, drs. H. van der en, & Lucassen, J. (2006). Arbeidsmarktmonitor Sport: een meting van sportgerelateerde arbeid in Nederland: nulmeting. Tilburg: IVA Beleidsonderzoek en Advies.

Wilterdink, N. (1984). Vermogensverhoudingen in Nederland. Ontwikkelingen sinds de negentiende eeuw. Amsterdam: De Arbeiderspers.

## **Norway**

Bergsgard, Nils Asle and Hilmar Rommetvedt. 2006. "Sport and Politics. The Case of Norway." International Review for the Sociology of Sport 41(1):7-27.

Bergsgard, Nils Asle and Johan R. Nordberg. 2010. "Sports Policy and Politics – the Scandinavian Way." Sport in Society 13(4):567-82.

Enjolras, Bernard and Ragnhild Holmen Waldahl. 2007. "Policy-Making in Sport. The Norwegian Case." International Review for the Sociology of Sport 42(2):201-16.

Goksøyr, Matti. 1996. Kropp, Kultur Og Tippekamp: Statens Idrettskontor, Stui Og Id-Rettsavdelingen 1946-1996. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Selle, Per. 1995. "Idretten Og Det Offentlege: Ein Familie?" in Frivillig Organisering I Norden, edited by K. K. Klausen and P. Selle. Oslo: Tano.

St. meld., nr. 14. 1999-2000. Idrettslivet I Endring. Om Statens Forhold Til Idrett Og Fysisk Aktivitet.

St. meld., nr 26. 2012. Den Norske Idrettsmodellen. Oslo: Kulturdepartementet.

St. meld., nr 41. 1992. Om Idretten. Folkebevegelse Og Folkeforlystelse. Oslo: Kulturdepartementet.

#### **Poland**

Act of 19 November 2009 on gambling. Journal of Laws 2009 no 201 item 1540. Retrieved 12.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Act of 24 April 2003 on public benefit and volunteer work. Journal of Laws 2003 no. 234 item 1536. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Act of 25 June 2010 on sport. Journal of Laws 2010 no 127 item 857. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Act of 8 March on municipality self-government. Journal of Laws 1990 no. 16 item 95. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Chełmecki, J. & Wilk, S. (2013) Zarys historii sportu /An outline of the history of sport/. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo WSEWS.

Constitution of the Republic of Poland of 2 April 1997. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov. pl

CSO (2013) Kultura fizyczna w Polsce w latach 2011 i 2012 /Physical Culure in Poland in 2011 and 2012/. Warszawa-Reszów: Główny Urząd Statystyczny /Central Statistical Office/. Retrieved 15.06.2014 from stat.gov.pl

Doktór, K. (1996). Dylematy współczesnego sportu /Dilemmas of contemporary sport/. In I Ogólnopolska Konferencja Menedżerów Sportu, Warszawa: Polska Korporacja Menedżerów Sportu, pp. 9–22.

European Commission (2014). Special Eurobarometer 214. Sport and physical activity. Brussels: TNS Opinion & Social.

Gołdys, A. Stec, M. Szymborska, M. Tomkowicz, M. (2014). Animators and Orliks Report, Re-

search Summary.

Krawczyk, Z. (1995). Social presumptions of transformations in physical culture in Central-Eastern European countries/. Paper presented at the International Scientific Conference on "Transformations in physical culture in Central-Eastern European countries". Warsaw.

MCNH (2013). Social Capital Development Strategy 2020. Warsaw: Ministry of Culture and National Heritage. Retrieved 10.06.2015 from ks.mkidn.gov.pl, p. 49.

MH (2014). Tasks of Public entrusted to NGOs by the Ministry of Health in 2014. Warsaw: Ministry of Health. Retrieved 22.06.2015 from mz.gov.pl

MS (2015). Sports development program 2020. Warsaw: Ministry of Sport. Retrieved 10.06.2015 from msport.gov.pl

MST (2013) Multisport Project. Warsaw: Ministry of Sport and Tourism. Retrieved 10.06.2015 from www.msport.gov.pl

MST (2014) Sports of All Children Program. In the development of sport by supporting projects in the scope of promoting the sport of children and youth. Warsaw: Ministry of Sport and Tourism. Retrieved on 12.06.2015 from bip.msit.gov.pl

MST (2015) Sport Development Program by 2020. Warsaw: Ministry of Sport and Tourism. Retrieved 10.06.2015 from msport.gov.pl

Orliks and Animators Report (2013). Summary of Animators Academy project 2013. Retrieved from www.frkf.pl from 12.06.2015

Piątkowska, M. (2015). Sports clubs in Poland. In: Van der Werff, H. et al. (eds.), Sport clubs in Europe. ISBN: 978-3-319-17634-5. Forthcoming.

Piątkowska, M. & Biernat, E. (2015). "La participación deportiva en Polonia". In Llopis-Goig, R. (ed.): Participación deportiva. Culturas, prácticas y políticas deportivas en Europa. ISBN: 978-84-9064-213-9. Barcelona: Editorial UOC.

Regulation of the Minister of Sport and Tourism of 10 October 2014 on detailed conditions of financing realisation of investment tasks and tasks in the field of sport development, procedure of submitting motions and granting resources from the physical culture development fund. Journal of Laws 2014, item 1391. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Regulation of the Minister of Sport and Tourism on financing tasks from the physical culture development fund. Journal of Laws no. 156, item 1051. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm.gov.pl

Regulation of the Minister of Sport and Tourism on financing tasks from the physical education for schools fund. Journal of Laws 2011 no. 217 item 1290. Retrieved 03.06.2015 from isap.sejm. gov.pl

The Council of Ministers of the Republic of Poland (2004) Governmental Program Civic Initiatives Fund. Annex to Resolution No. 193/2004. Retrieved 30.06.2015 from pozytek.gov.pl

The Council of Ministers of the Republic of Poland (2014) Governmental Program ASOS for Social Activity among Senior Citizens in 2014-2020. Retrieved on 30.06.2015 from www.mpips. gov.pl

Żyśko, J. (2013). Poland. In: Hallmann, K., Petry, K. (eds.), Comparative Sport Development: Systems, Participation and Public Policy. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.

## Spain

Burriel, J. C. (1994): Análisis comparativo de las leyes autonómicas del deporte. Jornadas Nacionales de Derecho Deportivo. La Coruña.

Burriel, J. C. and Puig, N. (1999): "Responsabilidades y relaciones entre el sector público y el privado en el sistema deportivo". In J. Subirats (ed.): ¿Existe sociedad civil en España? Responsabilidades colectivas y valores públicos. Madrid: Fundación Encuentro.

Delorme, N. & Raspaud, M. (2011). The organization of sport in Spain: between state and autonomous communities. In Sobry, C., (ed.) Sports Governance in the World. A Socio-Historic Approach. Volume II The Transition in Central and Eastern European Sport. Paris: Sport Social Studies, Editions Le Manuscrit.

Eurostrategies (2011). Study on the funding of grassroots sports in the EU. With a focus on the internal market aspects concerning legislative frameworks and systems of financing. Final report Volume II – Country Reports.

García, M. (1986): "Notas para una historia del deporte en España", Revista de Occidente, 63-63, 35-49.

García-Ferrando, M. & Llopis-Goig, R. (2011): Ideal democrático y bienestar personal. Encuesta sobre los hábitos deportivos en España 2010. Madrid: Consejo Superior de Deportes.

Gobierno de Navarra (2015): Anuario del instututo Navarro de Deporte y Juventud. Pamplona: Subdirección General de Deporte y Juventud.

Guzmán, S. (2006): Estructura, organización y planificación nacional del deporte: el Sistema Deportivo Español. Lecturas de Educación Física y Deportes, nº 92.

Heinemann, K. (1999): Sociología de las organizaciones voluntarias. El ejemplo del club deportivo. Valencia: Editorial Tirant lo Blanch

Lera, F. & Lizalde, E. (2013). Spain. In: K. Hallmann & K. Petry (eds.) Comparative Sport Development: Systems, participation and public policy, pp. 149-153.

Llopis-Goig, R. (2006): Clubes y selecciones nacionales de fútbol: la dimensión etnoterritorial del fútbol español. Revista Internacional de Sociología, LXIV (45), 37-66.

Llopis-Goig, R. (2013): Los clubes de fútbol como organizaciones. Un análisis sociológico referido al origen, evolución y configuración estructural de los principales clubes de fútbol españoles. In A. Fabra and A. Giménez (ed.): El cambiante mundo de las organizaciones. Teoría, metododología e investigación. Castellón de la Plana: Publicaciones de la Universiad Jaume I, 595-614.

Llopis-Goig, R. and Villanova, A. (2015): Sport Clubs in Spain. In Breuer, C., Hoekman, R., Nagel, S., van der Werff, H (ed.): Sport Clubs in Europe - A Cross-National Comparative Perspective, 445-471.

Puig, N., García, O. and Lopez, C. (1999): Sport Clubs in Spain. In K. Heinemann (ed), Sport Clubs in Various European Countries. Schorndorf: Karl Hofmann.

Puig, N. et al. (2003): Sport and Welfare in the process of Spanish democratisation. In Heinemann, K. (ed.): Sport and welfare policies. Schorndorf: Hofmann & Schattauer.

Pujadas, X. and Santacana, C. (2003): "El club deportivo como marco de sociabilidad en España. Una visión histórica (1850-1975)". Hispania, LXIII/2, núm. 214, pp. 505-522.

Rodríguez, A. (2008): El deporte en la construcción del espacio social. Madrid: Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas.

Santacana, C. (2011): "Espejo de un régimen. Transformación de las estructuras deportivas y su uso político y propagandístico, 1936-1961". In X. Pujadas (coord.): Atletas y ciudadanos. Historia Social del Deporte en España 1870-2010. Madrid: Alianza Editorial, 205-232.

Spanish Parliament (1990). Sports Act 10/1990 of 15 October. Accessed online 05-08-2015 via http://www.csd.gob.es/csd/informacion-en/legislacion-basica/ley-del-deporte/.

#### **Switzerland**

Bundesamt für Sport (2015). Konzept des Bundesrates für eine Sportpolitik. http://www.baspo.admin.ch/internet/baspo/de/home/themen/politik/fruehere\_dossiers/spoko.parsys.0004.downloadList.00041.DownloadFile.tmp/spokoberichtumsetzung20032006.pdf

Bundesversammlung der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft (2015). Ausländergesetz (AuG). https://www.admin.ch/opc/de/classified-compilation/20020232/201503010000/142.20.pdf

Bundesversammlung der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft (2013). Behindertengleichstellungsgesetz (BehiG). https://www.admin.ch/opc/de/classified-compilation/20002658/201307010 000/151.3.pdf

Bundesversammlung der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft (2011). Sportförderungsgesetz (SpoFöG). https://www.admin.ch/opc/de/official-compilation/2012/3953.pdf

Chappelet, J.-L. (2010). Switzerland. International Journal of Sport Policy, 2 (1), 99-110.

Lamprecht, M., Fischer, A. & Stamm, H.-P. (2012). Sportvereine in der Schweiz. Strukturen, Leistungen, Herausforderungen. Zürich: Seismo.

Observatorium Sport und Bewegung Schweiz (2015): http://www.sportobs.ch/wirtschaft000. html

Stamm, H., Fischer, A., Nagel, S. & Lamprecht, M.. Sport clubs in Switzerland. In C. Breuer, R. Hoekman, S. Nagel. & H. van der Werff (Eds.), Sport clubs in Europe. A cross-national comparative perspective. New York: Springer.



Institut für Sportökonomie und Sportmanagement Institute of Sport Economics and Sport Management





Vniver§itat ÞÿValència









D UNIVERSITÄT BERN





